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FProfile

Carrier Access was founded in 1992 and since its inception has focused on providing higher
functionality, lower cost access solutions for its customers with industry-leading products, using advanced
technologies in areas such as Voice over IP telephony, wireless infrastructure, routing and switching, secure
satellite communications, and optical networking. In conjunction with its products, Carrier Access provides
a broad range of service offerings, including technical support and installation services. Carrier Access sells
its products and services, both directly through its own sales force and indirectly through a broad channel
of global distributor and communications infrastructure OEM partners, federal agencies, service providers,

and other enferprises.

As a leader in broadband access solutions for communications companies, Carrier Access excels
in its goal to help wireless and wireline communications carriers and cable operators optimize their
existing networks while designing, manufacturing, upgrading and installing the nextgeneration equipment
and software solutions to manage future demands on networks. Our customers use our products to upgrade
access and data capacity and implement the convergence of IP, voice, and dofa services. Carrier Access
is dedicated to providing scalable and upgradeable technology solutions with innovation, experience and
superior customer support and is committed to being flexible enough to address changes in how networks

evolve or how wireline, wireless and cable operators approach their businesses.

Carrier Access has delivered more than 180,000 systems to over 150 customers in 25 countries,
supporting 3.2 million voice and data lines. Our customers include wireless carriers, local exchange

carriers, multicable operators, and international communications providers.

Carrier Access products enable customers to consolidate and upgrade access capacity, and
implement converged IP services while lowering costs and accelerating service revenue. Carrier Access’
technologies help our customers do more with less. As a company, Carrier Access operates on core values
of customer focus and corporate citizenship. We express these values through involvement in educational,

community, and philanthropic efforts.

We invite you fo learn more
about Carrier Access at
WWW. carrieraccess.com
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To Our Shareholders

2004 Performance

At the beginning of 2004 we outlined our plan to increase revenues and

Roger L. Koenig
diversify our revenue base info new and existing markets in Voice over Internet Protocol | Presider;, CEO ard

Chairman of the Board
{VoIP) and Wireless Radio Access Networks. We believe that our 2004 results ‘

clearly demonstrate success in achieving our goals. During a time period when revenue growth was
limited within our industry, we are very pleased with our year-over-year increase in revenue. We posted a

53% year-overyear revenue growth to $95 million in comparison to 2003 revenue of $62 million.

In 2004, we continued our investment in research and development of new products designed
to improve the efficiencies, quality and bandwidth of Wireless Radio Access Networks and converged VolP
access for business services. At the beginning of 2004, we identified our focus on three key growth
markets for Carrier Access in 2004. They were: wireless infrastructure, integrated business access, and
fiber business access. Wireless infrastructure was a clear winner for Carrier Access in 2004. At 60% of
our revenue in 2004, we saw a 119% increase year-overyear from wireless sales. Our Axxius® 800 and
MASTERseries™ products contributed significantly to our top-ine in wireless markets and we anticipate that
our Wireless Radio. Access products will continue their relative contributions to our revenues, along with
the introduction of 2.5G and 3G data convergent software options for these products.

In oddition fo our wireless successes in 2004, integrated business access contributed to our
overall 2004 performance. Both regional and global service providers have embraced VoIP technologies
because they provide the ability for service providers to deliver new voice services to end-users at lower
prices than traditional services, resulting in improved productivity and, most importantly, encbling new
revenue sfreams for our service provider customers. VoIP is rapidly changing the landscape of the
wireline communications industry, as voice becomes an infegrated application on broadband IP access
connections. Carrier Access is focused on implementing this change with service provider customers.
Business access, including Hosted Business VoIP and fiber business access, grew 6% year-over-year, but

we ended the year with well over 50 customers using our products for VolP service offerings.

Although we were challenged during the year with major wireless carrier consolidation that
significantly affected our revenue and profitability in the second half of 2004, we believe we had a
successful year. In 2004 we increased sales and became a leading North American equipment provider
in both Wireless Radio Access and Hosted VoIP Service markets. For 2005, we have articulated three

Lo

- Wireless

age
plg



'

[\ 1]

Voice and Data

longterm financial goals for Carrier Access. First, we will confinue to seek out profitable growth
opportunities within Carrier Access’ current markets. Second, we will focus on increasing our product and
service operating margins to improve our earnings per share. Finally, we must maintain a very healthy and
conservative balance sheet, including strong liquidity, a decrease in our days’ sales outstanding (DSO),

and improvement of our inventory turns.

Our 2005 Focused Markets and Growth Opportunities

Our management is focused on what we believe are the highest available growth markets in
access equipment: convergence for both wireless and IP wireline markets. Our core technologies,
innovations, customer installed base, partner agreements, people, and quality reputation are the assets that

we believe form the foundation of our future growth.

Wireless Radio Access Networks

In 2004, our yearoveryear wireless growth was driven primarily from data management
upgrades and new cell site builds by our existing wireless customers. In 2005, we believe revenue oppor-
tunities will be primarily driven by the implementation and infrastructure investment for new broadband data
wireless initiatives and continued new cell site construction. Our Radio Access Network solutions converge
transport networks from cell sites to mobile switching centers, enabling optimized bandwidth and service
availability for new mobile broadband Internet, e-mail, gaming, pictures, music, directory, security, and
video services. We believe we have accomplished great results in delivering a large installed base of
upgradeable, converged access plotforms for Radio Access Networks, as we ended the year with over

50,000 cell site aggregation devices installed in over 25 countries with leading mobile service providers.

Our research and development efforts continue to be focused on adding advanced new data
networking and multi-service transport functionalities as upgrades fo both installed devices and new
platforms. This allows our customers to leverage their installed infrastructure, while providing new revenue
generating opportunities through hardware and software upgrades. Our recently introduced
FLEXengine™ software-definable wireless access technology is designed fo deliver a progressive set of
circuit, IP, ATM, and radio protocol processing functions. Wireless operators will be able to load software
libraries in our FLEXengine products to implement the access technologies needed to evolve their radio
networks as bandwidth and service demands increase. FLEXengine is available as an upgrade to both

existing and new Carrier Access product platforms.
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We believe that the main business drivers for Carrier Access in the wireless market in 2005 are:

¢ The expansion of 2.5G and 3G services in North America.

* Bandwidth upgrades for EVDO services.

* Continued investment in new cell sites to improve subscriber coverage and capacity.
* Investment in new technology to reduce operating expenses for transport.

* The implementation of remote 1P management and data connectivity to cell sites.

IP Business Access

In late 2004, Carrier Access announced and began shipments of our new Adit® 3000 series of
customer premises products - designed to economically enable carrier-grade quality with security for the
delivery of new IP services to business users. We have a positive outlook on the growth of the new and
emerging carrier Hosted VolIP service offerings and our ability to supply new products and software for these
services during 2005. We continued to expand both our service provider customer and partnership base
in IP business access during this past year. We are encouraged by the number of new customer deploy-
ments for our Adit series of converged IP access products.

Carrier Access has focused our Adit series product and support offerings to connect end-users to
new converged [P services. We believe that these emerging Hosted IP services from incumbent, competitive,
ISP, and cable providers offer more value at lower costs that can be passed to end-users. Our access prod-

ucts are designed for their successful, wide-scale, deployment.
We believe that the main business drivers for Carrier Access in the IP Business Access market are:

* End-user customers desire to reduce monthly usage expenses by replacing telephone lines with
VolP access on broadband connections. Our equipment delivers the voice quality functionality
and service availability to enable telephone line replacement by business users, while
preserving existing customer capital investments,

* End-user customers can achieve more communication values at lower costs by using Hosted
VolP services rather than investing in and mainfaining VolP PBX private networks and
equipment. Our equipment is designed to integrate the functions needed to access these Hosted
VoIP services with scalable capacities, low costs, and high quality.

o
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* User adoption of webbased multi-media IP access to deliver pictures, music, video,
messaging, commerce and collaboration continues to push the demand for more bandwidth in
businesses while increasing the need for security and privacy. Our equipment is designed fo
provide the increased access speeds needed for multimedia IP, while integrating the security

and privacy capabilities that users demand.

Hosted VolP services require partnership, collaboration, and feature integration between access
equipment and service application software. Carrier Access has developed an extensive set of industry-
leading partnerships and interoperability relationships to provide carrierquality delivery of VoIP in today’s

multi-vendor networks.

We are excited by several announcements of mainstream deployment of Hosted VoIP by both
existing and new service providers. We believe we can take advantage of this fundamental market shift in
voice communications services by delivering the carriergrade access products needed to connect business

and government users to these services.

Partnefsﬁi}g

Successful parinerships are key components of Carrier Access's overall growth strategy, in !
conjunction with internal development and acquisitions. With the help of our partners and OEMs, we can
enter info new markets quickly and efficiently, develop new solutions for our traditional markets, and
deliver the highest-quality solutions fo our customers. Over the last year, we strengthened our alliances
and entered into new key relationships that we believe will help both Carrier Access and these companies
! succeed in the marketplace in 2005 and beyond.

Once again, we are pleased with the progress we made in key markets during 2004. Looking
forward to 2005, our management team and employees are enthusiastic about the opportunities that lie f
ahead of us. Our optimism is due to the growing end-user adoption of converged access services, and the

need for new equipment and software fo satisfy this demand in both wireless and wireline applications.

On behalf of the Carrier Access Board of Directors, we would like to thank our employees,

customers, partners, and shareholders for your continued support.

Sincerely,
~
=

Roger L. Koenig
President, CEO and Chairman of the Board

Partnerships
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INTRODUCTORY NOTE

We are amending our Annual Report on Form 10-K (the "Form 10-K/ A") for the year ended December 31, 2004, to
amend and restate our consolidated financial statements and related financial information for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2004. This Form 10-K/ A also includes restated quarterly information for the fiscal quarters of 2003 and 2004, as
disclosed in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. This Form 10-K/ A is also amended to include
management's assessment of internal control over financial reporting in Item 9A. In addition, we have amended Items 10, 11,
12, 13 and 14 of Part III to include information that we previously anticipated would be incorporated by reference from our
definitive proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This Form 10-K/A generally does not reflect events
occurring after the March 22, 2005 filing of our Form 10-K, except to reflect the effects of the restatement and related
matters and to disclose recent litigation and management changes.

Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements

On May 2, 2005, we announced certain issues had been identified relating to the proper timing of revenue recognized
from certain customer transactions. Additionally, we announced that in response to the issues identified we were performing
a detailed review of our customer relationships including the timing of certain revenue.

During the course of our detailed review of customer relationships, we determined that the accounting with respect to
certain prior period transactions required adjustment. As a result, on May 20, 2005 we announced that, althcugh we were still
in the process of performing a detailed review of all significant customer relationships, we had determined that we would
restate previously issued financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 and certain interim periods in each of the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004. We subsequently identified additional adjustments which resulted in our decision
to restate the previously issued financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003. This Form 10-K/A includes
restated financial statements and related financial information for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and restated
quarterly information for all the fiscal quarters of 2003 and 2004. The restated financial statements include a number of
adjustments that impact previously reported revenue, cost of sales, accounts receivable and inventory reserves. The restated
financial statements also include related adjustments to deferred revenue, sales and marketing expense and income taxes and
a reallocation of the valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets between the current and non current portions. See the
following paragraphs and refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed discussions of the
restatement.

Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 have been identified and
reported to our audit committee. Please see "ltem 9A. Controls and Procedures” below for a description of these matters, and
of certain of the measures that we have implemented during 2005 to date, as well as additional steps we plan to take to
strengthen our internal control over financial reporting.

Other than our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, we do not anticipate amending our previously filed
annual reports on Form 10-K or our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for any prior periods. As such, the consolidated financial
statements and related consolidated financial information contained in previously filed reports for the years ended December
31,2003 and 2004 and for the quarterly reports during 2003 and 2004 should no longer be relied upon.

The net effects of all of the restatement adjustments on the statements of operations and balance sheet accounts are
described and presented below as of the dates and for the periods indicated in the tables that follow. The amounts as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 are derived from our audited financial statements, as restated, which are
contained herein. We have amended each item of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004 that has been affected by the restatement.

The following is a summary of issues involved with the restatement:
Passage of Title

In the course of preparing our condensed financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, a transaction was
identified whereby the underlying contract indicated that title passage occurred upon delivery to the customer whereas we
had historically recognized revenues from this customer and all other customers based on our sales order acknowledgement
which stated title passage and risk of loss occurred upon shipment from our facility. We then initiated a detailed review of all
significant customer relationships to evaluate whether, historically, there was sufficient evidence to conclude that title and
risk of loss had passed to each customer upon shipment. In connection with these detailed reviews, we determined that, for
certain customers, the sales order acknowledgements were not sufficient to conclude that title and risk of loss had passed
upon shipment. Accordingly, we decided revenue and cost of sales for products shipped to these customers should have been
recognized upon delivery in our previously reported financial results. We have restated our previously reported financial
results for 2003 and 2004 and for interim periods therein to correct for this issue. In our restated financial statements, revenue
recognition for shipments which occurred at the end of calendar quarters has now been delayed until the following quarter.




Probability of Collection

During our detailed review of customer relationships we determined that we should not have recognized revenue for
transactions with certain distributors where it appeared that the customer may not have been sufficiently capitalized and their
ability to pay is contingent upon their resale of our product. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., if
realization of revenue is contingent upon setl-through it is not appropriate to recognize revenue until sell-through occurs or
upon receipt of cash. As we did not have sufficient visibility into these distributors’ sales activities, we concluded that all
sales to these distributors should have been recorded as revenue upon the receipt of cash. We have restated our previously
reported financial results for 2003 and 2004 and for interim periods therein to correct for this issue. We expect that the $4.5
million reduction in 2004 revenue related to this adjustment will be recognized as revenue when we receive cash from the
distributors.

Undelivered Elements

During our detailed review of customer relationships we determined that certain arrangements contained obligations to
provide training, support and other deliverables that had not previously been accounted for as separate elements of the
arrangement. Generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. require accounting for each separate element and that a
portion of the arrangement fee be allocated to each of those separable elements using an appropriately methodology. We had
not previously allocated any arrangement fee to these other deliverables. We have restated our previously reported financial
results for 2003 and 2004 and for interim periods therein to correct for this issue.

Inventory Valuation

In the course of assembling the information for the restatement of our consolidated financial statements, it was discovered
that we had reduced inventory reserves in situations that we had determined that the products were saleable. Generally
accepted accounting principles in the U.S. provide that once inventory has been written down below cost as the close of a
fiscal accounting period, it should not be written back up. As a result, we completed a detailed analysis of our reserves
activity for each component in inventory. We have restated our previously reported financial results for 2003 and 2004 and
for interim periods therein to correct for this issue.

Restatement Summary

The following tables are reconciliations of the statements of operations and balance sheets as previously reported to
amounts as restated for the periods indicated, in thousands:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004

Revenues, as previously reported $ 62,556 $ 101,375
Restatement adjustments:

Passage of title (84) (1,154)

Probability of collection - (4,514)

Undelivered elements - (214)

Total restatement adjustments 84) (5,882)

"Revenues, as restated $ 62,472 $ 95,493

[ttt —

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004

Net income, as previously reported $ 2,458 $ 899
Restatement adjustments:

Passage of title (34) (459)

Probability of collection - (2,170)

Undelivered elements - (230)

Inventory valuation (912) 181

Total restatement adjustments $  (946) $ (2,678)

Net income (loss), as restated $ 1,512 $ (1,779

e ————— | ete————————



Total assets, as previously reported
Restatement adjustments:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Inventory valuation
Deferred income taxes

Total adjustments

Total assets, as restated

Total liabilities, as previously reported
Restatement adjustments:
Deferred revenue
Accrued liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Total adjustments
Total liabilities, as restated

Total stockholders’ equity, as restated

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity, as restated

Year ended
December 31,
2003

$ 107,542

(84)
50
(912)
830

ey

(116)

e e

$ 107,426

 Sv——————

§ 18,148

830

R ey

830

ey

§ 18978

$ 88,448

$ 107,426

—

Year ended
December 31,
2004

§ 187,166

(5,752)
3,089
(731)

363

ey

(3,031)

$ 184,135

et ——————

$ 15,401

214
16
363

593

e

$ 15994

$ 168,141

e )

$ 184,135
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PARTI
NOTICE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K/A contains "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities
laws. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as "may," "will,” "expects,”
“intends,”" "plans," "anticipates," "estimates," "potential,” or "continue", or the negative thereof or other comparable
terminology. These statements are based on current expectations and projections about our industry and assumptions made
by management and are not guarantees of future performance. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
Jorward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, these expectations or any of the forward-looking statements
could prove to be incorrect, and actual resuits could differ materially from those projected or assumed in the forward-
looking statements. Qur future financial condition, as well as any forward-looking statements, are subject to risks and
uncertainties, including but not limited to the factors set forth under the heading "Risk Factors" in ltem 1 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K/A. All forward looking statements and reasons why results may differ included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K/4 are made as of the date hereof, and, unless required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any
Jorward-looking statements or reasons why actual results may differ in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Carrier Access designs, manufactures and sells converged access equipment to wireline and wireless carriers. Qur
products are used to upgrade capacity and provide enhanced services to wireline and wireless communications networks. Our
products also enable our customers to offer enhanced voice and data services, delivered over multiple technologies, which
historically have been offered onto separate networks, on a single converged network. We design our products to enable our
customers to deploy new revenue-generating voice and data services, while lowering their capital expenditures and ongoing
operating costs.

We sell our products directly to wireline and wireless carriers and indirectly through a broad channel of global
distributors and original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs that provide voice, data and converged communications
mnfrastructure products. Our wireline and wireless customers include local and long distance carriers, wireless mobility
carriers, cable operators, Internet carriers, and international communications providers.

Our principal executive offices are located at 5395 Pearl Parkway, Boulder, CO 80301. Our telephone number at that
location is 303-442-5455. Our website is www.carrieraccess.com; however, the information in, or that can be accessed
through, our web site is not part of this report. Qur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to such reports are available, free of charge, on our web site as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file or furnish such materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We were
incorporated in Colorado in September 1992 and were reincorporated in Delaware in June 1998.

Industry Overview

The pervasive use of the Internet, the introduction of new bandwidth-intensive applications, and widespread adoption of
numerous mobile communications devices capable of connecting to the Internet have fueled demand for media-rich Internet
services, such as picture mail, music downloads, games, enhanced text messages, wireless web, and real-time video.
Similarly, businesses are demanding new services customized to meet their personal communications needs, such as web
conferencing, virtual private networks, or VPNs, which allow companies to extend their secure networks using the Internet,
and voice over Internet protocol, ("VoIP"), which is the transmission of voice aver the Internet. Broadband wireline and
wireless Internet access is experiencing rapid growth as it becomes the primary means by which these services are enabled.

The rapid increase in broadband subscriber growth, coupled with widespread adoption of new media-rich Internet
services, is driving carrier investment in new broadband access technologies. Carriers continue to make significant
investments to increase capacity at both the wireline portion of the network that links carriers and their end-user customers,
which we refer to as the access portion of the network, and the wireless portion of the network that links cellular sites to the
wired network, which we refer to as the wireless backhaul. In addition, carriers continue to focus capital expenditures on
upgrading to I[P-based technologies and delivering broader geographic coverage. With constrained capital expenditure
budgets, communications carriers are implementing scalable and cost-efficient networking technologies that are designed to
leverage their existing networks.

The growth of Internet-enabled mobile communications devices and applications are driving a rapid expansion of the
global wireless communications infrastructure. In response to continued subscriber growth and increasing demand for media-
rich wireless services, we believe broadband carriers will need to cost-effectively upgrade their networks to support these
new service offerings to remain competitive. In addition, this expansion is being accelerated by federal regulation, such as
FCC mandated Enhanced 911, or E911 rules which require public safety agencies to implement improved location detection
of the wireless user.
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Disparate networks that comprise the Internet, including corporate intranets, cable systems, and broadband and wireless
networks, and voice and video networks, will increasingly converge into a unified network. The industry is seeing evidence
of this in several areas such as the offering of telephone service by Internet providers and television service by phone
carriers.

Our Approach

We provide a broad platform of communications equipment, software, and services that enable wireless and wireline
carriers to cost-effectively upgrade access capacity and implement converged IP voice and data services.

Our wireless products allow wireless carriers to deliver greater bandwidth effectiveness on backhaul portions of the
network, which is the portion that links cell sites to the wired switching center. Our products increase wireless network
capacity at our customers' cell sites and provide integrated management to operating expenses. The addition of new wireless
data services has increased the need for more bandwidth expansion and data networking technologies to link cell sites to
switching centers.

Our wireline products are primarily used to deliver converged IP voice and data services over broadband access
connections, such as Tl or Ethernet connections, to business or multiple dwelling units, such as apartments and
condominiums. The embedded VoIP software in our products works in conjunction with certain network application software
providers to deliver IP-based voice and data applications, including virtual private networks, or VPNs, that fully integrate
voice and data, customized web-controlled voicemail, call screening and forwarding, and other personalized IP
communications services.

Our products provide the following benefits to our customers:

Revenue From Existing and Next-generation Data Services. Our equipment and software support multiple services. As a
result, carriers using our products can offer a variety of revenue-generating services as customer needs evolve, without
deploying dedicated equipment for each service. For example, our Adit products support the efficient delivery of data traffic
with VoIP services, while supporting or converting existing customer telephone and data equipment. This is accomplished by
deploying service cards that support multiple communications services and technologies within the Adit chassis, thus
protecting both the carriers' investment in access equipment and the end-user investment in enterprise communications
equipment.

Cost Effectiveness and Scalability. Our products are designed to enable our customers to cost-effectively add additional
voice and data capacity as the demand for bandwidth and new services increases. Our products reduce unused bandwidth and
lower carriers' equipment upgrade and operating costs by allowing the easy installation of additional cards into an already
installed product. These line cards are designed to provide a variety of new communications services without sacrificing
existing infrastructure investments. In addition, our products are capable of performing a variety of communications
networking functions in a single chassis. For example, our Axxius products integrate multiple services such as transport,
routing, and service protection at the access point of wireless networks.

Manageability and Flexibility. As voice and data network complexity increases, we believe carriers will require software
and systems that provide end-to-end management of the communications services they offer to their customers. We develop
and integrate software-based network management capabilities with our products that enable communications equipment
carriers to more easily manage voice and data traffic and services within their networks. Our NetworkValet and newly
introduced OMC Companion software can remotely manage and provision our products in addition to providing valuable
reporting for specific analysis. This remote management and reporting capability reduces the overall cost of ownership by
decreasing the need for on-site configuration, maintenance, and diagnostics.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to become a leading provider of converged access products for wireless and wire line markets by
providing next generation products that economically converge voice and data services delivery, while delivering carrier-
grade service quality.

These products enable our customers to cost-effectively deploy next-generation services while leveraging their existing
infrastructure investments. Key elements of our strategy to achieve this objective include:

Pursue High Growth Market Opportunities. We will continue to apply our diverse product portfolio and research and
development expertise to engineer, manufacture, and support innovative products for strategic, high growth markets, such as
wireless radio access networks and VoIP service offerings. At the beginning of 2001, we derived minimal revenue from our
wireless products. At that time, we began dedicating separate significant resources to designing products serving the wireless
market. We have successfully gained a position in this market, as evidenced by products deployed in the wireless market
accounting for 57% of our total net revenue in 2004.



Continue to Pursue and Leverage Global Strategic Relationships. We intend to maintain and expand our existing
relationships and pursue new strategic relationship opportunities with leading global communications equipment vendors.
We currently have OEM and strategic relationships with companies such as Alcatel, Nortel, and Ericsson. Several of these
customers integrate our products with their own product offerings to provide a comprehensive offering to their carrier,
residential, enterprise, or commercial customers. These relationships are important to us because they allow us to combine
product synergies for a more complete product portfolio. In addition, these relationships allow us to leverage our sales force
with the domestic and international sales and marketing personnel of our strategic partners and provide complete product
offerings to our joint customers.

Leverage our Technology and Customer Base to Expand our Product Portfolio. The demand for media-rich voice and
data services is a key driver of our carrier customers' growth. We intend to assure that our product portfolio and architectures
continue to offer the performance and flexibility needed for the economical introduction of new services. Our expertise in a
broad range of technologies, such as VoIP, data transport and routing, and management software provides us with a
technology platform from which we can develop or enhance our products to address new markets and applications. For
example, we leveraged our relationship with one supplier to introduce new service cards for the Adit and Axxius platforms
that provided access cost savings in both wireless and wireline applications within their networks.

Pursue Acquisitions. In addition to our internal research and development efforts, we continually evaluate acquisitions of
companies and technologies that could extend our product offerings, technology expertise, industry knowledge, and giobal
customer base. Since 1998, we have completed three acquisitions, including our acquisition of Paragon Networks
International in November of 2003. These acquisitions have and will extend our ability to provide additional and enhanced
products that enable us to gain market share in wireless markets and other markets and provide the delivery of converged
voice and data services. We intend to pursue additional acquisitions in the future.

The ability to achieve our objective to become a leading provider of converged access products is subject to many
challenges and uncertainties. In particular, our industry is highly competitive and there are many companies providing
competitive products in the same market in which we sell our products. See "Business -- Competition.”

Principal Products

Since our founding in 1992, we have continually broadened our product line, through internal development and
acquisitions, to serve the needs of customers in high-growth communications markets. Currently, our products support
traditional telecommunications technologies as well as emerging technologies such as VoIP and fiber-based access, which is
referred to as a passive optical network, or PON. Our current product portfolio features eight platforms that reside in a variety
of locations, including the carriers' central office, cell site and wireless hub locations, and the end-users' business premises.
Our products meet the highest appropriate quality standards, and all our products comply with ISO 9001:2000, which is a set
of comprehensive standards that provide quality assurance requirements and quality management guidance. These standards
act as a model for quality assurance for companies involved with the design, testing, manufacture, delivery and service of
products.

Wireless and Converged Business
Platform Satellite Equipment Access Equipment
i °
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Wireless and Satellite Products. We provide equipment to wireless carriers for use in transporting and managing voice
and data traffic between cell sites and their regional switching offices. This is sometimes termed the backhaul portion of the
network. In addition, wireless infrastructure equipment providers have integrated our Adit, Axxius, MASTERseries and
. BROADway products as an important component to their system solution. Our products are used to terminate the wireline
service at both the cell site location and at the wireless carrier's switching center. Our scalable products enable wireless
carriers to cost-effectively offer new revenue-generating voice and data services, optimize wireless backhaul capacity, and
lower network operating costs. We also provide equipment that is used by wireless carriers in their provisioning of FCC
mandated E911 services. Our Broadmore product is used by the Department of Defense and other government agencies to
improve their optical communications with security features such as encryption and secure management and identification.

Converged Business Access. We provide products that integrate multiple voice and data access services that are both
easy to install and easy to manage, while delivering the quality of service that end-users demand. Our products support the
connection of customer voice and data equipment such as telephones, enterprise telephone networks, local area networks,
video conferencing equipment, and installed data equipment to wide area network services. We also provide products that
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transmit voice communications over the Internet. Our VoIP products can be used to connect customers to a single network
infrastructure for the transmission of data, voice, and video traffic as part of an IP communications service that fully
integrates voice and data. These converged IP communications services provide new multimedia communications
capabilities to end-users, while offering lower capital and operating costs for carriers. Our Exxtenz product enables service
providers to utilize PON technology to deliver new or enhanced services such as wire-speed Ethernet, voice, T1, and video
services to businesses. Our Fiber Access products deliver these services in a cost-efficient manner by supporting up to 32
customer-building connections from a single strand of fiber.

Product Details
Adit 3000 Platform -- integrated delivery terminal for voice and data services

The Adit 3000 product line consists of high-bandwidth multi-service routers and VoIP business gateways used in hosted
business VoIP services offered by carriers. The Adit 3104 IP Business Gateway incorporates VoIP capabilities with a high-
performance router. It supports a single T1 or Fast Ethernet WAN port, four-port Ethernet switch, firewalls, intrusion
detection, [PSec VPN with encryption and terminates up to 24 lines of analog voice lines of VolP. The Adit 3104 creates a
secure partition between external public network access, while enabling remote users to securely connect to their businesses.

The Adit 3402 High-bandwidth, Multi-service Router offers full Fast Ethernet throughput with security, firewalls,
intrusion detection, NAT, one to four T1 for WAN interfaces and supports up to 24 lines of voice service delivery. The
scalability of the Adit 3402 makes it an ideal device for Small-to Medium-sized Business (SMB) locations with expanding
throughput needs.

Adit 600 Platform -- integrated delivery terminal for voice and data services

The Adit 600 Multi-service Delivery Terminal helps wireline and wireless carriers to offer revenue-generating voice and
data services. It provides converged voice, data, and Internet access in a scalable, modular platform. The Adit 600 delivers
carrier-quality broadband voice and data services for a wide range of applications, while allowing carriers to lower their
infrastructure hardware costs by replacing and consolidating traditional network access equipment.

Adit 600 Customer Media Gateway -- VoIP media gateway service card

The Customer Media Gateway, or CMG, service card expands the Adit 600 platform's capabilities beyond traditional
communications applications to enable the transmission of media-rich applications over the Internet. The Adit 600 CMG
enables gradual and seamless migration of voice and data services from traditional communication services to delivery over
the Internet, while preserving existing equipment investments. The platform offers carriers and small- to medium-sized
businesses a carrier-quality, cost-effective product that enables the integration of IP and traditional TDM voice services. In
addition, the Adit 600 CMG is interoperable with all leading soft switch vendors, maintaining superior flexibility in the
emerging VoIP market.

Access Navigator -- voice traffic concentration application sold in combination with Adit products

The Access Navigator comes in three configurations that allow carriers to utilize existing resources more efficiently and
enables the provisioning of services to a greater number of customers with minimal incremental infrastructure investments.
With its small footprint and low power requirements, the Access Navigator is used in applications where traditional larger
and more expensive communications infrastructure would be impractical. Combined with the Adit, the two devices provide
an end-to-end offering for the delivery of enterprise or residential voice and Internet IP access.

Exxtenz Platform -- PON optical network termination

The Exxtenz platform enables service providers to deliver enhanced services such as integrated high-speed data,
Ethernet, voice and video services to businesses and multiple dwelling units. By utilizing PON technology, the Exxtenz
platform has the ability to deliver these services at significantly lower capital costs. Our PON technology supports up to 32
Exxtenz devices from a single strand of fiber.

Wide Bank 28 Platform -- M13 multiplexer

The Wide Bank platform was engineered to significantly reduce size and power requirements for terminating
communications circuits. Its design can handle multiple levels of electronics redundancy to assure service availability and
management. The Wide Bank is used by both wireless and wireline service providers for a variety of DS3 high bandwidth
communications applications.



MASTERseries -- access integration platform for wireless aggregation and consolidation.

The MASTERseries, which is typically located at a cell site, optimizes wireless backhaul traffic for analog and digital
base stations, E911 location devices and data devices in a single, highly reliable platform. The MASTERseries provides
bandwidth capacities from four to 32 T1/E! circuits.

BROADway — access integration platform for wireless aggregation and consolidation

The BROADway product allows wireless carriers to connect their cell sites and mobile switch centers. The BROADway
is used primarily at wireless hub locations to optimize backhaul, provide remote access and management of equipment,
monitor T1 line performance, and enable carriers to add bandwidth and new revenue-generating services. The BROADway
provides bandwidth capacities from T-1/E-1 to OC-3 circuits.

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

Our sales model consists of indirect sales to distributors and OEMs and direct sales to end-users who are wireline and
wireless carriers. Our sales force works with distributors and OEMs to identify potential customers and provide pre- and
post-sales support to our carrier customers and other end-users. For the year ended December 31, 2004, sales to distributors
and OEMs accounted for 47% of our net revenue and direct sales to end-users accounted for 53% of our net revenue. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, direct sales to one of our customers, T-Mobile, accounted for approximately 10% of our
revenue and direct sales to Ericsson accounted for approximately 20% of our revenue. For the year ended December 31,
2003, sales to distributors and OEMs accounted for 41% of our net revenue and direct sales to end-users accounted for 59%
of our net revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2003, direct sales to four customers each accounted for over 10% of our
revenue: T-Mobile accounted for 17%, XO Communications accounted for 12%, Walker and Associates accounted for 11%,
and Nortel accounted for 11%. Please note that these percentages have changed from when we originally filed our Annual
Report on Form 10-K as a result of the restatement. For more information, see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. We typically ship products soon after receipt of the customers' orders and, accordingly, our backlog has typically
not been significant.

Sales to Distributors and OEMs. Our distributors and OEMs are responsible for fulfilling product orders, warehousing
product, and integrating products into their product offering. We establish relationships with distributors and OEMs through
written agreements that provide prices, discounts and other material terms and conditions under which the distributor or
OEM is eligible to purchase our products for resale. Such agreements generally do not grant exclusivity to the distributors or
OEMs, do not prevent the distributors or OEMs from carrying competing product lines, and do not require the distributors to
sell any particular dollar amount of our products. We typically sell to our distributors and OEMs on credit.

Sales Directly to End-Users. A significant portion of the sales of our products is made through direct sales to end-users.
As a result, our continued success depends on building and maintaining good relations with our direct customers. We
typically sell to these customers on credit.

Sales Force. Our sales force covers primarily the continental U.S., Latin America and Asia. It includes sales and sales
engineering and is responsible for product configuration, evaluation, installation and telephone presales and installation
support activities. Our sales engineering strategy focuses on assisting carriers and end-users in rapidly integrating our
products into their networks. The sales engineering support group identifies carriers and end-user leads and based on initial
presentations, provides evaluation units for trial in wireless and wireline carrier and end-user networks. After successful trial
and approval, the carrier or end-user is provided with product installation and maintenance training. Initially, our sales
engineering support group is involved in educating carriers and end-users about the functionality and benefits that may be
derived from using our products. Subsequently, members of both our sales engineering and research and development
organizations are involved in providing the carrier or end-user with the required training and technical support to integrate
our products into a new application or service.

Marketing. Our marketing organization develops strategies for products and, along with the sales force, develops key
account strategies and defines product and service functions and features. Our marketing group is responsible for sales
support, handling requests for information, requests for quotes and requests for proposals, preparing in-depth product
presentations, interfacing with operations, setting price levels, developing new services and business opportunities and
writing proposals in response to customer requests for information or quotations. We engage in a number of marketing
activities that include exhibiting products and customer applications at industry trade shows, advertising in selected
publications aimed at targeted markets, taking part in public relations activities with trade and business press and distributing
sales literature, technical specifications and documentation in order to create awareness, market demand and sales
opportunities for our products.

Customer Service and Support. Based on customer support calls, ongoing customer support is critical to maintaining and
enhancing relationships with carriers, end-users and distributors. The carrier and end-user support group has five functions:
new product development that provides for product ideas and enhancements based on customer requirements through the pre-
and post-sales support effort; inbound technical support which focuses on pre-and post-sales calls made to us by our
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customers; outbound application support and response to proposed quotation requests; training, including installation and
application development training for customers, sales engineers, and employees; and reporting and analysis based on the
automated trouble ticket and returned material systems.

Competition

There is intense competition in the telecommunications equipment market with a large number of suppliers providing a
variety of products to diverse market segments. The principal competitive factors for products in our markets include:

* lower initial and lifetime costs;

*  performance and reliability;

+ flexibility, scalability and ease-of-use;
*  service and support;

*  breadth of features and benefits; and

*  end-to-end management systems.

Our products compete favorably with respect to each of these factors.

Our principal competitors for our products include Adtran, Inc., Audiocodes, Telco Systems, Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc.,
Eastern Research, Inc., Lucent Technologies, Inc., Natural Microsystems, Tellabs, Inc., Verilink Corporation, Zhone
Technologies, Inc. and other private and public companies. Most of these companies offer products competitive with one or
more of our product lines. We expect that our competitors that currently offer products competitive with only one of our
product lines will eventually offer products competitive with all of our products. Due to the rapidly evolving markets in
which we compete, additional competitors with significant market presence and financial resources, including large
telecommunications equipment manufacturers and computer hardware and software companies, may enter these markets
through acquisitions, thereby intensifying competition.

Our competitive position is enhanced by our ability to adapt quickly to changes in the market, the capability to modify
existing products to decrease their size and expense while maintaining functionality in order to meet customers' demands,
and our close connections with multiple markets through our customer base. Our competitive position may be negatively
affected, however, by our relatively small size, which could inhibit our ability to fund research and development activities as
aggressively as our competitors. This factor could in turn affect our ability to attract new customers that may choose to
purchase from one of our competitors with a larger market share and product offering.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing operations consist of materials planning and procurement, final assembly, product assurance testing,
quality control, and packaging and shipping. We currently use several independent manufacturers to provide certain printed
circuit boards, chassis and subassemblies. We have developed a manufacturing process that enables our products to be
configured to different customer hardware and software applications at the final assembly stage. This flexibility is designed
to reduce both our manufacturing cycle time and our need to maintain a large inventory of finished goods.

We spend significant engineering resources producing customized software and hardware to assure consistent high
product quality. We test every product both during and after the assembly process using internally developed automated
product assurance testing procedures. These procedures consist of automated board and automated system testing as well as
environmental testing. Although we generally use standard parts and components for our products, many key components are
purchased from sole or single source vendors for which alternative sources are not currently available. In the past we have
experienced supply problems and we may experience supply problems in the future from any of our contract manufacturers
or vendors.

Research and Product Development

We focus our development efforts on providing enhanced functionality to our existing products, including total network
offerings and performance and the development of additional software-based features and functionality. We obtain extensive
product development input from our customers and our monitoring of end-user needs and changes in the marketplace. Our
current product development focus has been on developing next-generation wireline and wireless broadband access products
and completing new products. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to develop and introduce in a timely fashion
new products and enhancements to our existing products. We have in the past made, and intend to continue making,
significant investments in product and technological development. Our engineering, research and development expenditures
totaled approximately $23.7 million in 2002, $11.0 million in 2003 and $18.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
We perform our research and product development activities at our offices in Boulder, Colorado, Tulsa, Oklahoma, Roanoke,
Virginia and Brookfield, Connecticut. Our inability to develop new products or enhancements to existing products on a
timely basis, or the failure of these new products or enhancements to achieve market acceptance, could have a material
adverse effect on our business.
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Intellectual Property

As of December 31, 2004, we held a total of 16 issued U.S. patents and had approximately 8 pending U.S. patent
applications. We have 1 U.S. trademark application pending and have 15 registered trademarks. A large number of patents
and frequent litigation based on allegations of patent infringement exist within the telecommunications industry. From time
to time, third parties may assert patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual property rights to technologies that are
important to us. If any such claims asserting that our products infringe on proprietary rights of third parties were determined
adversely to us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

* We rely upon a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws both common and statutory as well as
confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our proprietary rights. We have also entered
into employee protection and confidentiality agreements with our employees and consultants, and we enter into non-
disclosure agreements with our customers, partners, suppliers and distributors so as to limit access to and disclosure of our
proprietary information. However, such measures may not be adequate to deter and prevent misappropriation of our
technologies or independent third-party development of similar technologies. The laws of certain foreign countries in which
our products are or may be developed, manufactured or sold may not protect our products or inteliectual property rights to
the same extent as do the laws of the U.S. and thus make the possibility of misappropriation of our technology and products
more likely. Based on the effort and cost associated with enforcing foreign intellectual property protections as compared with
the comparative value of such protections, we suspended our activities related to obtaining international trademark and patent
registrations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 261 full-time employees. No employees are covered by any collective
bargaining agreements and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe that our relationships with our
employees are good.

Many of our employees are highly skilled, and our continued success depends in part upon our ability to attract and
retain such employees. In an effort to attract and retain such employees, we continue to offer employee benefit programs that
we believe are at least equivalent to those offered by our competitors. Despite these programs, in the past we have
experienced difficulties in hiring certain skilled personnel. In critical areas, we have utilized consultants and contract
personnel to fill these needs until full time employees could be recruited.
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RISK FACTORS

Any investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the following
information about these risks, together with the other information contained and incorporated in this Annual Report on Form
10-K/4, before you decide to invest in our common stock. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial
condition and rvesults of operations would likely suffer. In these circumstances, the market price of our common stock could
decline and you may lose all or part of your invesiment,

If we are not current in our SEC filings, we will face several adverse consequences.

NASDAQ has notified us that we must file all periodic reports with the SEC and NASDAQ for all reporting periods
ending on or before March 31, 2005, Until we file our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, or if we are unable
to remain current in our financial filings, we will not be able to issue securities or have a registration statement under the
Securities Act of 1933, covering a public offering of securities, declared effective by the SEC, and we will not be able to
make offerings pursuant to existing registration statements (including registration statements on Form S-8 covering employee
stock plans). In addition, our affiliates and other individuals holding restricted stock will not be able to sell our securities
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act until we become current in our SEC filings. Finally, we will not be eligible to
use a "short form" registration statement on Form S-3 until we have timely filed all SEC reports required to be filed for a
twelve-month period. These restrictions may impair our ability to raise funds in the public markets, should we desire to do
s0, and to attract and retain key employees.

Our common stock may be delisted from the NASDAQ National Market and transferred to the Over-the-Counter
("OTC") Bulletin Board, which may, among other things, reduce the price of our common stock and the levels of
liquidity available to our stockholders.

If we fail to keep current in our SEC filings, our common stock may be delisted from the NASDAQ National Market and
subsequently would trade on the OTC Bulletin Board. The OTC Bulletin Board is generally considered less efficient than the
NASDAQ National Market. If our common stock is traded on the OTC Bulletin Board, our stockholders could find it more
difficult to dispose of our common stock or to obtain accurate quotations as to the price of our commeon stock. The trading of
our common stock on the OTC Bulletin Board could also increase the level of volatility in our stock price, could result in a
decrease in the price of our common stock and could reduce the level of liquidity available to our stockholders. In addition,
the trading of our common stock on the OTC Bulletin Board will materially adversely affect our access to the capital
markets, and the limited liquidity and reduced price of our common stock could materially adversely affect our ability to
raise capital through alternative financing sources on terms acceptable to us or at all. A company trading on the OTC Bulletin
Board cannot avail itself of federal preemption of state securities or "blue sky" laws, which adds substantial compliance costs
to securities issuances, including pursuant to employee option plans, stock purchase plans and private or public offerings of
securities. Our delisting from the NASDAQ National Market and transfer to the OTC Bulletin Board may also result in other
negative implications, including the potential loss of confidence by suppliers, customers and employees, the loss of
institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities.

We have been unable to predict accurately the costs associated with evaluating our internal control over financial
reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and may continue to be unable to do so in the future.

We have been unable to accurately predict the costs, including the costs of both internal assessments and external auditor
assessments, associated with complying with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and in
evaluating our internal control over financial reporting. Costs of compliance were significantly larger than originally
anticipated in 2004, and costs of compliance in future periods may continue to be unpredictable, which could have an adverse
effect on our financial results.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately
report our financial results. As a result, our business could be harmed and current and potential stockholders could
lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could negatively impact the trading price of our stock.

Maintaining an effective system of internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable
financial reports. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports, our business and operating results could be harmed. We
have in the past discovered, and may in the future discover, areas of our internal control over financial reporting that need
improvement including control deficiencies that may constitute material weaknesses. As more fully described in Item 9A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, as of December 31, 2004, our management concluded that we did not maintain
effective controls over certain aspects of our review of our statements of cash flow and certain revenue recognition policies.
These control deficiencies resulted in a restatement of our previously issued financial statements for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for each of the quarters therein.

A failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, including a failure to implement
corrective actions to address the control deficiencies identified above, could result in a material misstatement of our financial
statements or otherwise cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting obligations. This, in turn, could result in a loss of
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investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could have an adverse effect on our
stock price.

We experienced large net losses and decreases in net revenue in 2001 and 2002, which caused a significant decline in
the market price of our common stock, and we could experience similar declines in net revenue in the future, which
could negatively impact the market price of our common stock.

Our quarterly and annual operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past and may continue to vary
significantly in the future. For example, although we were profitable on an annual basis from 1997 to 2000, we experienced
net losses of $14.9 million and $52.7 million in 2001 and 2002, respectively. In addition, our net revenue decreased from
$148.1 million in 2000 to $100.7 million and $50.2 million in 2001 and 2002, respectively.

Although our revenues increased from $62.5 million in 2003 to $95.4 million in 2004, our quarterly revenues decreased
in the third and fourth quarters of 2004, resulting in a decrease in net revenue from $58.1 million in the first six months to
$37.4 million in the last six months of 2004. We cannot be certain that our annual and quarterly revenue will not fluctuate in
the future.

We face a number of risks that could cause our future net revenue and operating results to experience similar fluctuations,
including the following:

¢ The loss of, or significant reduction in purchases by, any of our large customers, two of whom were each
responsible for more than 10% of our net revenue in the year ended December 31, 2004;

*  Overall movement toward industry consolidation among both our competitors and our customers, both wireless and
wireline;

*  Reductions in capital spending for equipment by the telecommunications industry, a factor that resulted in a large
decline in our product sales starting in 2000;

*  Costs related to acquisitions of technologies or businesses;

*  Fluctuations in demand for our products and services, especially with respect to Internet businesses and
telecommunications carriers, in part due to the changing global economic and regulatory environment;

* Changes in sales and implementation cycles for our products and reduced visibility into our customers' spending
plans and associated revenue;

¢ Price and product competition in the communications and networking industries, which can change rapidly due to
technological innovation;

*  The timing, size, and mix of orders from customers;

*  The introduction and market acceptance of new technologies and products and our success in new markets;

*  Variations in sales channels, product costs, or mix of products sold;

*  The ability of our customers, channel partners, and suppliers to obtain financing or to fund capital expenditures;

¢ Qur ability to achieve targeted cost reductions and to execute on our strategy and operating plans; and

¢ Potential difficulties in completing projects associated with in-process research and development.

The unpredictability of our quarterly results may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

Our revenues and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, many of
which are outside of our control and any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate. Generally, purchases by service
providers of telecommunications equipment from manufacturers have been unpredictable and clustered, rather than steady, as
the providers build out their networks. The primary factors that may affect our revenues and results include the following:

*  Fluctuation in demand for our voice infrastructure products and the timing and size of customer orders;

*  The cancellation or deferral of existing customer orders or the renegotiation of existing contractual commitments;

*  The failure of certain of our customers to successfully and timely reorganize their operations, including emerging
from bankruptcy;

*  The length and variability of the sales cycle for our products; and

*  The timing of revenue recognition and amount of deferred revenues.

Deterioration of the wireless infrastructure industry could lead to reductions in capital spending budgets by wireless
operators and original equipment manufacturers, which could adversely affect our revenues, gross margins and
income.

Our revenues and gross margins will depend significantly on the overall demand for wireless infrastructure subsystems
products. A reduction in capital spending budgets by wireless operators and OEMs caused by an economic downturn,
consolidation within the industry such as the mergers of Cingular and AT&T Wireless, and the recently announced mergers
of Sprint and Nextel, or otherwise could lead to a softening in demand or delay procurement of our products and services.
Such factors resulted in a decrease in revenues and earnings in the third and fourth quarter of 2004 and could result in
decreases in revenues and earnings in future periods.
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We rely on a limited number of distributors and OEMs, the loss of any of which could cause a decline in our net
revenue and have an adverse effect on our results of operations and the price of our common stock.

A significant portion of the sales of our products are through distributors and OEMs, which generally are responsible for
warehousing products, fulfilling product orders, servicing end-users and, in some cases, customizing and integrating our
products at end-users' sites. We rely on a limited number of distributors and OEMs to sell our products. For example, one
distributor, Walker & Associates, Inc., accounted for 16%, 11% and 7% of our net revenue in 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively. In addition, one OEM customer accounted for over 10% of our net revenue in the year ended December 31,
2004. We expect that, in the future, a significant portion of our products will continue to be sold to a small number of
distributors and OEMs. Accordingly, if we lose any of our significant distributors and OEMs or experience reduced sales to
such distributors and OEMs, our net revenue would decline, which would have an adverse effect on our operating results and
could cause a decline in the price of our common stock.

If our distributors are not successful both in terms of operating their own businesses and in selling our products to
their customers, we could experience a decline in net revenue, an increase in inventory and bad debt, and
deterioration in our operating results.

In the past, some of our distributors have experienced problems with their financial and other resources that have
impaired their ability to pay us. For example, in 2002 we incurred bad debt of approximately $1.1 million from one of our
distributors when it declared bankruptcy. Although we continually monitor and adjust our reserves for bad debts, we cannot
assure you that any future bad debts that we incur will not exceed our reserves. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that the
financial instability of one or more of our distributors will not result in decreased net revenue for us and deterioration in our
operating results. Distributors have, in the past, reduced planned purchases of our products due to overstocking and such
reductions may occur again in the future. Moreover, distributors who have overstocked our products have, in the past,
reduced their inventories of our products by selling such products at significantly reduced prices. This may occur again in the
future. Any reduction in planned purchases or sales at reduced prices by distributors in the future could harm our business by,
among other things, reducing the demand for our products and creating conflicts with other distributors and our direct sales
efforts.

Some of our distributors and OEMs have stock rotation, limited return, on time delivery and price protection rights
which could cause a material decrease in the average selling prices and gross margins of our products, either of which
would have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

We generally provide our distributors and OEMs with limited stock rotation, on time delivery, return rights and price
protection rights. Three times a year, some of these customers can return up to 15% of our unsold products to us in return for
an equal dollar amount of new products. The returned products must have been held in stock by sach distributor or OEM and
have been purchased within the four-month period prior to the return date. We cannot be certain that we will not experience
significant returns of our products, or ensure that our shipment in the future will be on time, or that we will make adequate
allowances to offset these returns and late deliveries.

We also provide certain distributors and OEMs with price protection rights in which we provide some of these customers
with 60-days notice of price increases. Orders we receive from distributors or OEMs within the 60-day period are filled at the
lower product price. In the event of a price decrease, we may be required to credit distributors and OEMs the difference in
price for any stock they have in their inventory. In addition, we grant certain of our distributors and OEMs "most favored
customer" terms, pursuant to which we have agreed not to knowingly grant another distributor or OEM the right to resell the
same products on terms more favorable than those granted to the existing distributor or OEM, without offering the more
favorable terms to the existing distributor or OEM. It is possible that these price protection and "most favored customer”
clauses could cause a material decrease in the average selling prices and gross margins of our products, which could in turn
have a material adverse effect on distributor or OEM inventories, our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We do not have exclusive agreements with our distributors, who sell other broadband communications equipment
that competes with our products. As a result, our distributors may not recommend or continue to use and offer our
products or devote sufficient resources to market and support our products, which could result in a reduction in sales
of our products.

Our agreements with our distributors generally do not grant exclusivity, prevent the distributor from carrying competing
products or require the distributor to purchase any minimum dollar amount of our products. Additionally, our distribution
agreements do not attempt to allocate certain territories for our products among our distributors. To the extent that different
distributors target the same end-users of our products, distributors may come into conflict with one another, which could
damage our relationship with, and sales to, such distributors.

Most of our existing distributors also distribute the products of our competitors. Our distributors may not recommend or

continue to use and offer our products, or our distributors may recommend competitive products in place of our products and
not devote sufficient resources to market and provide the necessary customer support for our products. In addition, it is
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possible that our distributors will give a higher priority to the marketing and customer support of competitive products or
alternative solutions.

Our distributors do not have any obligation to purchase additional products, and accordingly, they may terminate their
purchasing arrangements with us, or significantly reduce or delay the amount of our products that they order, without
penalty. Any such termination, change, reduction, or delay in orders would harm our business.

We continue to rely on a limited number of direct customers, the loss of any of which could result in a decline in net
revenue and the price of our common stock.

A significant portion of our net revenue has been derived from a limited number of large direct customers, and we believe
that this trend will continue in the future. For example, for the year ended December 31, 2004, we sold directly to T-Mobile
who accounted for approximately 10% of our net revenue. The majority of our direct customers do not have any obligation to
purchase additional products, and, accordingly, they may terminate their purchasing arrangements with us or significantly
reduce or delay the amount of our products that they order or forecast without penalty. We have experienced cancellations
and delays of orders in the past and significant reductions in product forecasts, and we expect to continue to experience order
cancellations and delays from time to time in the future. Any such termination, change, reduction or delay in orders would
harm our business. The timing of customer orders and accuracy of customer forecasts and our ability to fulfill these forecasts
and orders can cause material fluctuations in our operating results, and we anticipate that such fluctuations will continue in
the future.

If our direct customers do not successfully operate their own businesses, their capital expenditures could be limited,
which could result in a delay in payment for, or a decline in the purchase of, our products, which could result in a
decrease in our net revenue and a deterioration of our operating results.

In the past, some of our direct customers have experienced problems with their financial and other resources that have
impaired their ability to pay us. For example, in 2002, one of our direct customers filed for bankruptcy protection, and, as a
result, we incurred approximately $1.1 million in bad debt. Another direct customer, which accounted for 13.5% of our net
revenues in 2002, has experienced financial difficulty and restructured its operations, and it may not be in a position in the
future to continue its historic purchase levels. We cannot be certain that any bad debts that we incur in connection with direct
sales will not exceed our reserves or that the financial instability of one or more of our direct customers will not continue to
adversely affect future sales of our products or our ability to collect on accounts receivable for current sales of our products.

In addition, we sell a moderate volume of products to competitive carriers. The competitive carrier market is
experiencing consolidation. Many of our competitive carrier customers do not have a strong financial position and have
limited ability to access the public financial markets for additional funding for growth and operations. Currently, one of our
large customers must rely on funding from its parent to fund operating losses and meet its working capital, capital
expenditure, debt service and other obligations.

Neither equity nor debt financing may be available to these companies on favorable terms, if at all. To the extent that
these companies are unable to obtain the financing they need, our ability to make future sales to these customers and realize
revenue from any such sales could be harmed. In addition, if one or more of these competitive carriers fail, we could face a
loss in revenue and an increased bad debt expense, due to their inability to pay outstanding invoices, as well as a
corresponding decrease in customer base and future revenue. Furthermore, a significant portion of our sales to competitive
carriers is made through independent distributors. The failure of one or more competitive carriers could cause a distributor to
experience business failure and/or default on payments to us.

We grant certain of our direct customers ""'most favored customer" terms, which could cause a material decrease in
the average selling prices and gross margins of our products, which would have an adverse effect on our operating
results and financial condition.

In agreements with direct customers that contain "most favored customer" terms, we have agreed to not knowingly
provide another direct customer with similar terms and conditions or a better price than those provided to the existing direct
customer without offering the more favorable terms, conditions or prices to the existing direct customer. It is possible that
these "most favored customer” clauses could cause a material decrease in the average selling prices and gross margins of our
products, which could, in turn, have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

A longer than expected sales cycle could cause our revenues and operating results to vary significantly from quarter
to quarter.

Our sales cycle averages approximately four to 24 months but can take longer in the case of incumbent local exchange

carriers, or ILECs, and other end-users. This process is often subject to delays because of factors over which we have little or
no control, including:
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* adistributor's, OEM's or carrier's budgetary constraints including the timing of expenditures;

*  consolidation and merger discussions between wireless and wireline carriers;

*  outsourcing of inventory management by a distributor or OEM customer;

* adistributor's, OEM's or carrier's internal acceptance reviews;

* adistributor's, OEM's or carriers staffing levels and availability of lab time for product testing;
¢ the success and continued internal support and development of a carrier's product offerings;

* the possibility of cancellation or delay of projects by distributors, OEMs or carriers; and

* the possibility of a regulatory investigation of our distributors, OEMs or carriers.

In addition, as carriers have matured and grown larger both through internal growth and acquisitions, their purchase
processes have typically become more institutionalized, requiring more of our time and effort to gain the initial acceptance
and final adoption of our products by these customers. Although we attempt to develop our products with the goal of
facilitating the time to market of our customer's products, the timing of the commercialization of a new distributor or carrier
applications or services based on our products is primarily dependent on the success and timing of a customer's own internal
deployment program. Delays in purchases of our products can also be caused by late deliveries by other vendors, changes in
implementation priorities and slower than anticipated growth in demand for our products. A delay in, or a cancellation of, the
sale of our products could cause our results of operations to vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

In the industry in which we compete, a supplier must first obtain product approval from an ILEC or other carrier to sell
its products to them. This process can last from four to 18 months or longer depending on the technology, the service
provider, and the demand for the product from the service provider's subscribers. Consequently, we are involved in a constant
process of submitting for approval succeeding generations of products, as well as products that deploy new technology or
respond to new technology demand from certain carriers or other end-users. We have been successful in the past in obtaining
such approvals. However, we cannot be certain that we will obtain such approvals in the future or that sales of such products
will continue to occur. Furthermore, the delay in sales until the completion of the approval process, the length of which is
difficult to predict, could result in fluctuations of revenue and uneven operating results from quarter to quarter or year to
year.

Communications carriers face capital constraints which have restricted and may continue to restrict their ability to
buy our products, thereby resulting in longer sales cycles, deferral or delay of purchase commitments for our
products, and increased price competition.

Our customers consist primarily of communications carriers, including wireless carriers, local exchange carriers, multi-
service cable operators, and competitive local and international communications providers. These carriers require substantial
capital for the development, construction, and expansion of their networks and the introduction of their services. Although
the economy has slightly improved, there is still oversupply of communications bandwidth that has resulted in a constraint on
the availability of capital for these carriers and has had a material adverse effect on many of our customers with numerous
customers substantially reducing their capital spending. If our current or potential customers cannot successfully raise
necessary funds or if they experience any other adverse effects with respect to their operating results or profitability, their
capital spending programs could continue to be adversely impacted. These conditions adversely impacted the sale of our
products and our operating results most severely in the fourth quarter of 2000, and they continued to have an adverse impact
throughout 2001, 2002, and 2003. These conditions may continue to result in longer sales cycles, deferral or delay of
purchase commitments for our products, and increased price competition. In addition, to the extent we choose to provide
financing to these prospective customers, we will be subject to additional financial risk that could increase our expenses.

If we are unable to develop new or enhanced products that achieve market acceptance, we could experience a
reduction in our future product sales, which would cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

The communications industry is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, changes in
end-user requirements, and frequent new product introductions and enhancements, each of which may render our existing
products obsolete or unmarketable. Our success depends on our ability to enhance our existing products and to timely and
cost-effectively develop new products with features that meet changing end-user requirements and emerging industry
standards. The development of new, technologically advanced products is an expensive, complex and uncertain process
requiring high levels of innovation, as well as the accurate anticipation of technological and market trends. We may not be
successful in identifying, developing, manufacturing, and marketing product enhancements or new products that will respond
to technological change or evolving industry standards. In the recent past, we have experienced delays in the development
and shipment of new products and enhancements, which has resulted in distributor and end-user frustration and delay or loss
of net revenue. It is possible that we will experience similar or other difficulties in the future that could delay or prevent the
successful development, production, or shipment of such new products or enhancements, or that our new products and
enhancements will not adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance. Announcements
of currently planned or other new product offerings by our competitors or us have in the past caused, and may in the future
cause, distributors or end-users to defer or cancel the purchase of our existing products. Our inability to develop new
products or enhancements to existing products on a timely basis, or the failure of such new products or enhancements to
achieve market acceptance, could result in a decline in our future product sales and the price of our common stock.
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The introduction of new or enhanced products could cause disruptions in our distribution channels and the
management of our operations, which could cause us to record lower net revenue or adversely affect our gross
margins.

Our introduction of new or enhanced products will require us to manage the transition from older products in order to
minimize disruption in customer ordering patterns, avoid excessive levels of older product inventories, and ensure that
adequate supplies of new products can be delivered to meet customer demand. We have historically reworked certain of our
products in order to add new features that were included in subsequent releases of the products, which generally resulted in
reduced gross margins for those products until such time as production volumes of these new products increase. We can give
no assurance that these historical practices will not occur in the future and cause us to record lower net revenue or negatively
affect our gross margins.

We rely on the introduction of new or enhanced products to offset the declining sales prices and gross margins of our
older products, and the failure of our new or enhanced products to achieve market acceptance could result in a
decline in our net revenue and operating results,

We believe that average selling prices and gross margins for our products will decline as such products mature and as
competition intensifies. For example, the average selling price for our Wide Bank products and Adit products has decreased
substantially in the past two years. These decreases were due to general economic conditions and the introduction of
competitive products with lowers prices. To offset declining selling prices, we believe that, in addition to reducing the costs
of production of our existing products, we must introduce and sell new and enhanced products on a timely basis at a low cost
or incorporate features in these products that enable them to be sold at higher average selling prices. To the extent that we are
unable to reduce costs sufficiently to offset any declining average selling prices or that we are unable to introduce enhanced
products with higher selling prices, our gross margins would decline and such decline could adversely affect our operating
results and the price of our common stock.

To develop new products or enhancements to our existing products, we will need to continue to invest in research and
development, which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results, especially if we need to
increase the amount ¢f our investment to successfully respond to developing industry standards.

As standards and technologies evolve, we will be required to modify our products or develop and support new versions
of our products. Our research and development expenses increased 65% to $18.2 million in 2004 from $11.0 million in 2003.
As a result, we may experience periods of limited profitability due to the resources needed to develop new and enhanced
products to remain competitive. The failure of our products to comply, or delays in achieving compliance, with the various
existing and evolving technological changes and industry standards could harm sales of our current products or delay
introduction of our future products.

Our industry is highly competitive; if we fail to compete successfully against our competitors, our market share and
product sales could be adversely affected, resulting in a decline in our net revenue and deterioration of our operating
results.

The market for our products is intensely competitive, with a large number of equipment suppliers providing a variety of
products to diverse market segments within the telecommunications industry. Our existing and potential competitors include
many large domestic and international companies, including companies that have longer operating histories, greater name
recognition, larger customer bases and substantially greater financial, manufacturing, technological, sales and marketing,
distribution, and other resources. Our principal competitors include Adtran, Inc., Audiocodes, Cisco Systems, Inc., Eastern
Research, Inc., Lucent Technologies, Inc., Natural Microsystems, Telco Systems, Inc., Tellabs, Inc., Verilink Corporation,
Zhone Technologies, Inc. and other small independent systems integrators and private and public companies. Most of these
companies offer products competitive with one or more of our product lines. We expect that our competitors that currently
offer products competitive with only one of our products will eventually offer products competitive with all of our products.
Due to the rapidly evolving markets in which we compete, additional competitors with significant market presence and
financial resources, including large telecommunications equipment manufacturers and computer hardware and software
companies, may enter these markets through acquisition, thereby further intensifying competition.

Many of our current and potential competitors are substantially larger than we are and have significantly greater
financial, sales and marketing, technical, manufacturing, and other resources and more established channels of distribution.
As a result, such competitors may be able to respond more rapidly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer
requirements, or to devote greater resources than we can devote to the development, promotion, and sale of their products. In
addition, such competitors may enter our existing or future markets with solutions, either developed internally or through
acquisition, that may be less costly, provide higher performance or additional features, or be introduced earlier than our
solutions. Successful new product introductions or enhancements by our competitors could cause a significant decline in
sales or loss of market acceptance of our products. Competitive products may also cause continued intense price competition
or render our products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.
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To be competitive, we must continue to invest significant resources in research and development and sales and
marketing. We may not have sufficient resources to make such investments or be able to make the technological advances
necessary to be competitive. In addition, our current and potential competitors have established or may establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties to increase the ability of their products to address the needs of our
prospective customers. Accordingly, it is possible that new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and
rapidly acquire significant market share. Increased competition is likely to result in price reductions, reduced gross margins,
and loss of market share, any of which could cause a decline in the price of our common stock.

Our customers are subject to heavy government regulation in the telecommunications industry, and regulatory
changes could adversely affect our customers’ capital expenditure budgets and result in reduced sales of our products
and significant fluctuations in the price of our common stock.

Competitive local exchange carriers, or CLECs, are allowed to compete with ILECs in the provisioning of local
exchange services primarily as a result of the adoption of regulations under the Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the 1996
Act, that imposed new duties on ILECs to open their local telephone markets to competition. Although the FCC and federal
district courts in various rulings in 2004 rejected efforts of several state regulators to subject certain VoIP services to
intrastate telecommunications regulation, there are still uncertainties regarding other regulatory, economic, and political
factors. Any changes to the 1996 Act or the regulations adopted thereunder, the adoption or repeal of new regulations by
federal or state regulatory authorities apart from or under the 1996 Act, including the E911 FCC mandate or any legal
challenges to the 1996 Act could have a material adverse impact upon the market for our products.

We are aware of certain litigation challenging the validity of the 1996 Act and local telephone competition rules adopted
by the FCC for the purpose of implementing the 1996 Act. Furthermore, Congress has indicated that it may hold hearings to
gauge the competitive impact of the 1996 Act, and it is possible that Congress will propose changes to the 1996 Act. This
litigation and potential regulatory change may delay further implementation of the 1996 Act, which could negatively impact
demand for our products. Our distributors or carrier customers may require that we modify our products to address actual or
anticipated changes in the regulatory environment, or we may voluntarily decide to make such modifications. In addition, the
increasing demand for wireless communications has exerted pressure on regulatory bodies worldwide to adopt new standards
for such products, generally following extensive investigation and deliberation over competing technologies. In the past, the
delays inherent in this governmental approval process have caused, and may in the future cause, the cancellation or
postponement of the deployment of new technologies. These delays could have a material adverse effect on our revenues,
gross margins and income.

Our inability to modify our products in a timely manner or address such regulatory changes could cause a reduction in
demand for our products, a loss of existing customers or the failure to attract new customers, which would result in lower
than expected net revenue and a decline in the price of our common stock.

Telecommunication industry carriers are currently experiencing a period of consolidation that may impact the timing
of future capital expenditures, which could adversely affect the demand for our products.

We are experiencing rapid consolidation in our customer base. During the past 12 months a number of large mergers in
the telecommunications industry have been announced, including the following: Cingular Wireless and AT&T wireless,
Sprint and Nextel, SBC and AT&T, Alltel and Western Wireless, and Verizon. The integration of the operations of the
entities involved in these acquisitions may take a long time, and this could cause delays in new capital expenditures until the
merged entities budget for additions for their asset base. The effects of a consolidation involving any of our customers could
result in postponed orders, decreased orders, or canceled orders. For instance, in the third and fourth quarters of 2004, market
consolidation in the wireless industry relating to the merger of Cingular and AT&T Wireless and T-Mobile's purchase of
spectrum from Cingular resulted in reduced sales to our wireless customers and OEMs. In addition, industry consolidation
may result in sole-source vendors by our customers, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results, and financial condition. In particular, consolidation in the telecommunication industry carriers will lead to
fewer customers in that market and the loss of a major customer could have a material impact on results not anticipated in a
customer marketplace composed of a larger number of participants.

We have limited supply sources for some key parts and components of our products, and our operations could be
harmed by supply interruptions, component defects or unavailability of these parts and components.

Many key parts and components are purchased from sole source suppliers for which alternative sources are not currently
available. We currently purchase 1,183 key components from suppliers for which there are currently no substitutes. Lead
times for materials and components vary significantly and depend on many factors, some of which are beyond our control,
such as specific supplier performance, contract terms and general market demand for components. 1f product orders vary
significantly from forecasts, we may not have enough inventories of certain materials and components to fill orders. In
addition, many companies utilize the same materials and supplies as we do in the production of their products. Companies
with more resources than our own may have a competitive advantage in obtaining materials and supplies due to greater
buying power. These factors can result in reduced supply, higher prices of certain materials, and delays in the receipt of
certain of our key components, which in turn may generate increased costs, lower margins, and delays in product delivery.
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We attempt to manage these risks through developing alternative sources, through engineering efforts designed to obviate the
necessity of certain components, and by building long-term relationships and maintaining close personal contact with each of
our suppliers. However, we have experienced delays in or failures of deliveries of key components in the past, either to us or
to our contract manufacturers, and consequent delays in product deliveries, may occur in the future.

We currently do not have long-term supply contracts for many of our key components. Our suppliers may enter into
exclusive arrangements with our competitors, be acquired by our competitors, stop selling their products or components to us
at commercially reasonable prices, refuse to sell their products or components to us at any price, or be unable to obtain or
have difficulty obtaining components for their products from their suppliers.

Our distributors, OEMs and direct customers frequently require rapid delivery after placing an order. Our inability to
obtain sufficient quantities of the components needed to fulfill such orders has in the past resulted in, and may in the future
result in, delays or reductions in product shipments, which could have an adverse effect on sales and customer relationships,
our business, financial condition, or results of operations. In the event of a reduction or interruption of supply, it could take
up to nine months or more for us to begin receiving adequate supplies from alternative suppliers. Furthermore, we may not be
able to engage an alternative supplier who could be in a position to satisfy our production requirements on a timely basis, if
at all. Delays in shipments by one of our suppliers have led to lost or delayed sales and sales opportunities in the past and
may do so again in the future. For example, in the third quarter of 2004, we were not able to fulfill all of our open purchase
orders of our Adit and BROADway products due to unforecasted demand and a lack of availability of parts.

In addition, the manufacturing process for certain single or sole source components is extremely complex. Our reliance
on suppliers for these components, especially for newly designed components, exposes us to potential production difficulties
and quality variations that the suppliers experience. In the past, this reliance on outside suppliers for these components has
negatively impacted cost and the timely delivery of our products to our customers.

Our dependence on third-party manufacturers could result in product delivery delays, which would adversely affect
our ability to successfully sell and market our products and could result in a decline in our net revenue and operating
results.

We currently use several third-party manufacturers to provide certain components, printed circuit boards, chassis, and
subassemblies. Our reliance on third-party manufacturers involves a number of risks, including the potential for inadequate
capacity, the unavailability of, or interruptions in, access to certain process technologies, transportation interruptions, and
reduced control over procurement of critical components, product quality delivery schedules, manufacturing yields, and
costs. Some of our manufacturers are undercapitalized and may be unable in the future to continue to provide manufacturing
services to us. If these manufacturers are unable to manufacture our components in required volumes, we will have to
identify and qualify acceptable additional or alternative manufacturers, which could take in excess of twelve months. We
cannot assure you that any such source would become available to us or that any such source would be in a position to satisfy
our production requirements on a timely basis. Any significant interruption in our supply of these components would result in
delays, the payment of damages for such delays, or reallocation of products to customers, all of which could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to successfully sell and market our products and could result in a decline in our net revenue and
operating results. Moreover, since a significant portion of our final assembly and test operations are performed in one
location, any fire or other disaster at our assembly facility could also have an adverse effect on our net revenue and operating
results,

Our executive officers and certain key personnel are critical to our business, and any failure to retain these employees
could adversely affect our ability to manage our operations and develop new products or enhancements to current
products.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our Chief Executive Officer and key
management, sales, engineering, finance, customer support, and product development personnel, many of whom would be
difficult to replace. In particular, the loss of Roger L. Koenig, President and Chief Executive Officer and our co-founder,
could adversely affect our ability to manage our operations. We believe that our future success will depend in large part upon
our ability to attract and retain highly skilled managerial, sales, customer support and product development personnel. We do
not have employment contracts with any of our key personnel. The loss of the services of any such persons, the inability to
attract or retain qualified personnel in the future, or delays in hiring required personnel, particularly engineering personnel
and qualified sales personnel, could adversely affect our ability to manage our operations and develop new products or
enhancements to current products.

Our customers are subject to numerous and changing regulations, interoperability requirements and industry
standards. If the products they purchase from us do not meet these regulations or are not compatible with these
standards or interoperate with the equipment solution selected by our customers, our ability to continue to sell our
products could be seriously harmed.

Our products must comply with a significant number of voice and data regulations and standards, which vary between
U.S. and international markets, and may also vary within specific foreign markets. We also need to ensure that our products
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are easily integrated with various telecommunications systems. Standards for new services continue to evolve, requiring us to
continuously modify our products or develop new versions to meet new standards. Testing to ensure compliance and
interoperability requires significant investments of time and money. Our VoIP products currently interoperate with
approximately 11 different product solutions and we are required to continually update our products based on our partners'
new releases of software for these products. If our systems fail to timely comply with evolving standards in U.S. and
international markets, if we fail to obtain compliance on new features or if we fail to maintain interoperability with
equipment from other companies, our ability to sell our products would be significantly impaired. We could thereby
experience, among other things, customer contract penalties, delayed or lost customer orders and decreased revenues.

We have maintained compliance with ISO 9001:2000 since we were first certified in May 2000, with Telcordia
OSMINE when we were first certified in the fourth quarter of 2001 and with Network Equipment Building Standards Level 3
since we were first certified in April 1998. ISO 9001:2000 is a set of comprehensive standards that provide quality assurance
requirements and quality management guidance. These standards act as a model for quality assurance for companies involved
with the design, testing, manufacture, delivery and service of products. Telecordia, formerly known as Bellcore, developed
the Osmine program, which is a process designed to ensure that all of the network equipment used by Regional Bell
Operating Companies, or RBOCs, can be managed by the same software programs. NEBS, or Network Equipment Building
Standards, are a set of performance, quality and safety requirements -- which were developed internally at Bell Labs and later
at Telcordia -- for network switches. RBOCs and local exchange carriers rely on NEBS-compliant hardware for their central
office telephone switching. We cannot assure that we will maintain these certifications. The failure to maintain any of these
certifications may adversely impair the competitiveness of our products.

Our products may suffer from defects or errors that may subject us to product returns and product liability claims,
which could adversely affect our reputation and seriously harm our results of operations.

Our products have contained in the past, and may contain in the future, undetected or unresolved errors when first
introduced or when new versions are released. Despite our extensive testing, errors, defects, or failures are possible in our
current or future products or enhancements. If such defects occur, we may be subject to:

* delays in or losses of market acceptance and sales;

* penalties for network outages in our installed network base;

*  product returns;

* diversion of development resources resulting in new product development delay;
*  injury to our reputation; or

* increased service and warranty costs.

Delays in meeting deadlines for announced product introductions, or enhancements or performance problems with such
products, could undermine customer confidence in our products, which would harm our customer relationships.

Our agreements with our distributors, OEMs and direct customers typically contain provisions designed to limit our
exposure to potential product liability claims. However, it is possible that the limitation of liability provisions contained in
our agreements may not be effective or adequate under the laws of certain jurisdictions. It is also possible that our errors and
omissions insurance may be inadequate to cover any potential product liability claim. Although we have not experienced any
product liability claims to date, the sale and support of cur products entails the risk of such claims, and it is possible that we
will be subject to such claims in the future. Product liability claims brought against us could harm our business.

Difficulties in integrating past or future acquisitions could adversely affect our operating results and result in a
decline in the price of our common stock.

We have spent and may continue to spend significant resources identifying businesses to be acquired by us. The efficient
and effective integration of any businesses we acquire into our organization is critical to our growth. Acquisitions involve
numerous risks including difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies and products of the acquired companies, the
diversion of our management's attention from other business concerns and the potential loss of key employees of the acquired
companies. Failure to achieve the anticipated benefits of these and any future acquisitions or to successfully integrate the
operations of the companies we acquire could also harm our business, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, we
cannot assure you that we will not incur material charges in future quarters to reflect additional costs associated with our
future acquisitions.

If we have insufficient proprietary rights or if we fail to protect those rights we have, third parties could develop and
market products that are equivalent to our own, which would harm our sales efforts and could result in a decrease in
our net revenue and the price of our common stock.

We rely primarily on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality
procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights. As of December 31, 2004, we held a
total of 16 issued U.S. patents and had approximately 8 pending U.S. patent applications. We have one U.S. trademark
application pending and have 15 registered trademarks. We cannot assure you that our pending patent or trademark
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applications will be granted or, if granted, will be sufficient to protect our rights. We have entered into confidentiality
agreements with our employees and consultants, and non-disclosure agreements with our suppliers, customers, and
distributors in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. However, such measures may not be
adequate to deter and prevent misappropriation of our technologies or independent third-party development of similar
technologies. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy our products or
obtain and use trade secrets or other information that we regard as proprietary. Furthermore, we may be subject to additional
risks as we enter into transactions in foreign countries where intellectual property laws do not protect our proprietary rights
as fully as the laws of the U.S. Based on the effort and cost associated with enforcing foreign intellectual property protections
as compared with the comparative value of such protections, we suspended our activities related to obtaining international
trademark and patent registrations in the first quarter of 2003. We cannot assure that our competitors will not independently
develop similar or superior technologies or duplicate any technology that we have. Any such events could harm our ability to
sell and market our products, which could result in a decrease in net revenue and the price of our common stock.

We may face intellectual property infringement claims that could result in significant expense to us, divert the efforts
of our technical and management personnel, or cause product shipment delays.

The telecommunications industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent litigation
based on allegations of patent infringement. As the number of entrants in our markets increases and the functionality of our
products is enhanced and overlaps with the products of other companies, we may become subject to claims of infringement
or misappropriation of the intellectual property rights of others. From time to time, third parties may assert patent, copyright,
trademark, and other intellectual property rights to technologies that are important to us. Any future third-party claims,
whether or not such claims are determined adversely to us, could result in significant expense, divert the efforts of our
technical and management personnel, or cause product shipment delays. In the event of an adverse ruling in any litigation, we
might be required to discontinue the use and sale of infringing products, expend significant resources to develop non-
infringing technology, or obtain licenses from third parties. In addition, any public announcements related to litigation or
interference proceedings initiated or threatened against us, even if such claims are without merit, could cause our stock price
to decline.

In our customer agreements, we agree to indemnify our customers for any expenses or liabilities resulting from claimed
infringements of our product patents, trademarks, or copyrights of third parties. In certain limited instances, the amount of
such indemnities may be greater than the net revenue we may have received from our customer.

Increased sales volume in international markets could result in increased costs or loss of revenue due to factors
inherent in these markets.

We are in the process of expanding into international markets, and we anticipate increased sales from these markets. A
number of factors inherent to these markets expose us to significantly more risk than domestic business, including:

¢ local economic and market conditions;

*  exposure to unknown customs and practices;

* legal regulations and requirements in foreign countries;

*  potential political unrest;

» foreign exchange exposure;

* unexpected changes in or impositions of legislative or regulatory requirements;

* less regulation of patents or other safeguards of intellectual property; and

» difficulties in collecting receivables and inability to rely on local government aid to enforce standard business
practices.

Any of these factors, or others, of which we are not currently aware, could result in increased operating costs or loss of
net revenue.

A small number of shareholders can exert significant influence on the outcome of matters requiring the approval of a
majority of the outstanding shares of our commeon stock.

As of March 14, 2005, our directors and executive officers, together with members of their families and entities that may
be deemed affiliates of, or related to, such persons or entities, beneficially owned approximately 39% of our outstanding
shares of common stock. In particular, Mr. Koenig, a director and our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Ms. Pierce,
a director and our Secretary, former CFO and Corporate Development Officer, are married. As of March 14, 2005, Mr.
Koenig and Ms. Pierce together beneficially owned approximately 38% of our outstanding shares of common stock.
Accordingly, these two stockholders can exert significant influence over the election of members of our Board of Directors
and the outcome of all corporate actions requiring stockholder approval of a majority of the voting power held by our
stockholders, such as mergers and acquisitions. This level of ownership by such persons and entities may delay, defer, or
prevent a change in control and may harm the voting and other rights of other holders of our commaon stock.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own our principal administrative, sales and marketing, research and development, and support facilities consisting of
approximately 64,000 square feet of office space in Boulder, Colorado.

We lease two other facilities in Boulder, Colorado. We lease approximately 39,000 square feet of manufacturing and
warehouse space in a facility located outside of Boulder under a lease that was to expire on November 30, 2005. We have a
lease for a warehouse of approximately 57,000 square feet in Boulder, Colorado, which expires on November 22, 2005. We
vacated this space in February 2003 as part of our 2002 restructuring plan.

In addition, we lease facilities in three other states: Connecticut, Oklahoma and Virginia. Leases that we acquired from
Paragon of approximately 12,800 square feet in Brookfield, Connecticut, and approximately 10,100 square feet in Bethel,
Connecticut, expired December 31, 2004. We signed a one-year extension on the Brookfield lease. Our lease for space in
Tulsa, Oklahoma, is used for research and development and consists of approximately 16,000 square feet of space and was to
expire on April 30, 2005. In March of 2005, we extended the lease to April 30, 2006, but reduced our occupancy from 16,000
square feet to 8,617 square feet. We are currently leasing 17,000 square feet of space in Roanoke, Virginia, with an
expiration date of November 30, 2007. We are currently occupying approximately 7,000 square feet of this space and are
seeking to sublease the remaining approximate 10,000 square feet. We were also occupying approximately a 2,000 square
foot sales office in Ottawa, Canada. This lease expired on June 30, 2005.

In October 2002, we closed a research and development facility in Camarillo, California. The Camarillo lease consisted
of approximately 14,500 square feet and expires on August 31, 2005.

All leased and owned space is considered adequate for the operation of our business, and no difficulties are foreseen in
meeting any future space requirements.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Action

Beginning on June 3, 2005, three purported shareholder class action lawsuits were filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Colorado against Carrier Access Corporation and certain of our officers and directors. The cases,
captioned Croker v. Carrier Access Corporation, et al., Case No. 05-cv-1011-LTB; Chisman v. Carrier Access Corporation,
et al.,, Case No. 05-cv-1078-REB, and Sved v. Carrier Access Corporation, et al, Case No. 05-cv-1280-EWN, have been
consolidated and are purportedly brought on behalf of those who purchased our publicly traded securities between October
21, 2003 and May 20, 2005. Plaintiffs allege that defendants made false and misleading statements, purport to assert claims
for violations of the federal securities laws, and seek unspecified compensatory damages and other relief. The complaints are
based upon allegations of wrongdoing in connection with our announcement of our intention to restate previously issued
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 and certain interim periods in each of the years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003.

Beginning on June 13, 2005, three purported shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Colorado, against various of our officers and directors and naming Carrier Access as a nominal
defendant. The cases are captioned Kenney v. Koenig, et al., Case No. 05-cv-1074-PSF, Chairman v. Koenig, et al., Case No.
05-cv-1095-LTB and West Coast Management and Capital, LLC v. Koenig {sic}, et al. Case No. 05-cv-1134-RPM. These
actions are expected to be consolidated in August 2005. The complaints include claims for breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of
control, waste of corporate assets, mismanagement and unjust enrichment; seek compensatory damages, disgorgement, and
other relief; and are based on essentially the same allegations as the class actions described in the preceding paragraph.

Management believes that the claims in the class action are without merit. Because these lawsuits are at a very
preliminary stage, management cannot at this time determine the probability or reasonably estimate a range of loss, if any.

Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, it could have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial position and
results of operations for the period in which such outcome occurred

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names, ages and positions of all our executive officers as of March 14, 2005 are listed below, followed by a brief
summary of their business experience. Executive officers are normally appointed annually by the Board of Directors at a
meeting of the directors immediately following the Annual Meeting of Stockholders and serve until their successors are
appointed. There are no arrangements or understandings between any officer and any other person pursuant to which an
officer was selected. Mr. Koenig and Ms. Pierce are married.

Name Age Position

Roger L. KOBMIE .c.vvevererrenerei v 51 President and Chief Executive Officer

Nancy Pierce .....ooevvvocireennneecereren e 47 Corporate Development Officer and Secretary

Gary Gatchell* ..o 48 Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

* Note: Mr. Gatchell was appointed as an executive officer in June of 2005

Roger L. Koenig. Mr. Koenig has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board since our
formation in September 1992. Prior to co-founding Carrier Access, Mr. Koenig served as President of Koenig
Communications Inc., an equipment systems integration and consulting firm in San Jose, California, from 1987 to 1992.
Prior to founding Koenig Communications, Mr. Koenig held a number of positions with IBM/ROLM Europe, a
telecommunications equipment manufacturer, including Engineering Section Manager for Europe. Mr. Koenig received a
B.S. in Electrical Engineering from Michigan State University and an M.S. in Engineering Management from Stanford
University.

Nancy Pierce. Ms. Pierce has served as our Corporate Development Officer since April 2000 and has been a Director
and Secretary since our incorporation in September 1992. From November 2004 to June 2005, Ms. Pierce also served as our
interim Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Pierce previously served as our Corporate Controller, Chief Financial Officer, Vice
President of Finance and Administration and Treasurer from September 1992 through April of 2000. Prior to co-founding
Carrier Access, Ms. Pierce served as the Controller of Koenig Communications, Inc., a systems integration and consulting
firm and held positions at IBM Corporation and ROLM Corporation. Ms. Pierce earned a B.S. degree from Colorado State
University and an MB.A. from California State University, Chico. In addition, Ms. Pierce holds an honorary doctorate
degree in Commercial Science from St. Thomas Aquinas University.

Gary Gatchell. Mr. Gatchell has served as our Chief Financial Officer since June 2005. From January 2004 to June
2005, Mr. Gatchell provided professional financial and consulting services, including Sarbanes-Oxley compliance work.
Previously, Mr. Gatchell was the CFO of Voyant Technologies, Inc., a leading provider of audio conferencing equipment,
from August 1999 to January 2004. Prior to becoming CFO at Voyant, Mr. Gatchell was CFO at Intertech Plastics and was
an audit manager at KPMG. Mr. Gatchell is an actively registered Certified Public Accountant and has a Master of
Accountancy degree from The University of Denver.
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PARTII
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Price Range of Common Stock.
Our initial public offering was held on July 30, 1998 at a price of $12.00 per share. Our common stock is listed on the

NASDAQ National Market under the symbol "CACS." The table below sets forth the high and the low closing sales prices
per share as reported on the NASDAQ National Market for the periods indicated.

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2003:
FREST QUATTET 1.vvivev et cteeteie st ceete e eseesssaese et s ebe b b s es e e s ae s e s st sa e sk e s aba s esabe st e et e s e ae st et oo s et e b s ab e st et r b s e tasabesens $ 1.100 $ 0470
Second Quarter... 2210 0.950
Third Quarter...... 5.040 2,170
FOuIth QUAITET ..o ettt e bt bbb ekt raees 15.680 4.550
Year Ended December 31, 2004:
FIISE QUATTET ...ttt et ettt e ea b ettt e b ettt ne e $ 16.780 $ 9.710
Second Quarter... 13.790 8.930
Third Quarter...... 14.380 5.830
FOUITN QUATTET ..ueeeiient ettt e e et s se b st h e e eae e e s s R be s e esesaan b ee shes e e atasa st abenerensbassannss 10.760 7.620

Holders of Common Stock

On March 14, 2005, the last reported sale price of our commen stock as reported on the NASDAQ National Market was
$6.75 per share. As of March 14, 2005, there were approximately 223 holders of record of our common stock. Because many
of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate
the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividends

We have never declared cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any earnings in our business
and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified by reference to,
the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K/ A. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the data in the
table below reflects the restatement of results for those years (see below and Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K/ A).

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004
2000 2001 2002 (As restated) (As restated)
(Dollars thousands)

Revenues, net $ 148,050 $ 100,706 $ 50,247 $ 62,472 3 95,493
Gross Profit $ 81,281 $ 46,616 $ 17,102 § 26,386 $ 40,112
Operating income (loss) $ 23,269 $ (27,051) $ (52,267 $ 1,070 § (4,578)
Net income (loss) $ 18,550 $ (14,855) $ (52,655) $ 1,512 $  (1,779)
Income (loss) per share:

Basic $ 0.76 $ (0.60) $ (2.13) $ 0.06 $ (0.05)

Diluted $ 074 $  (0.60) S (2.13) S 006 S (0.05)
Working Capital $ 99,851 $ 91,597 $ 56324 $ 67,454 § 142,047
Total Assets $ 154,999 $ 133,017 $ 76,437 $ 107,426 $ 184,135
Stockholders’ equity $ 132,797 $ 118,593 $ 66,114 $ 88,448 $ 168,141
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

NOTICE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Management's Discussion and Analysis contains "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal
securities laws, including forward-looking statements regarding future sales of our products to our customers, expectations
regarding, customer revenue mix, sources of revenue, gross margins, our tax liability, capital expenditures and operating
costs and expenses. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as "may,"
"will," "expects,” "intends,” "plans," "anticipates,” "estimates,"” "potential,” or "continue, "or the negative thereof or other
comparable terminology. These statements are based on current expectations and projections about our industry and
assumptions made by the management and are not guarantees of future performance. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, these expectations or any of the
Jorward-looking statements could prove to be incorrect, and actual results could differ materially from those projected or
assumed in the forward-looking statements. Our future financial condition, as well as any forward-looking statements, are
subject to risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the factors set forth under the heading "Risk Factors" in Item 1
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K/ A. All forward looking statements and reasons why results may differ included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K/ A are made as of the date hereof, and, unless required by law, we undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements or reasons why actual results may differ in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/ A.

Restatement of Consclidated Financial Statements

On May 2, 2005, we announced certain issues had been identified relating to the proper timing of revenue recognized
from certain customer transactions. Additionally, we announced that in response to the issues identified we were performing
a detailed review of our customer relationships including the timing of certain revenue.

During the course of our detailed review of customer relationships, we determined that the accounting with respect to
certain prior period transactions required adjustment. As a result, on May 20, 2005 we announced that, although we were still
in the process of performing a detailed review of all significant customer relationships, we had determined that we would
restate previously issued financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 and certain interim periods in each of the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004. We subsequently identified additional adjustments which resulted in our decision
to restate the previously issued financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003. This Form 10-K/A includes
restated financial statements and related financial information for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and restated
quarterly information for all the fiscal quarters of 2003 and 2004. The restated financial statements include a number of
adjustments that impact previously reported revenue, cost of sales, accounts receivable and inventory reserves. The restated
financial statements also include related adjustments to deferred revenue, sales and marketing expense and income taxes and
a reallocation of the valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets between the current and non current portions. See the
following paragraphs and refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed discussions of the
restatement.

Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 have been identified and
reported to our audit committee. Please see "Item 9A. Controls and Procedures" below for a description of these matters, and
of certain of the measures that we have implemented during 2005 to date, as well as additional steps we plan to take to
strengthen our internal control over financial reporting.

Other than our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, we do not anticipate amending our previously filed
annual reports on Form 10-K or our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for any prior periods. As such, the consolidated financial
statements and related consolidated financial information contained in previously filed reports for the years ended December
31, 2003 and 2004 and for the quarterly reports during 2003 and 2004 should no longer be relied upon.

The net effects of all of the restatement adjustments on the statements of operations and balance sheet accounts are
described and presented below as of the dates and for the periods indicated in the tables that follow. The amounts as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 are derived from our audited financial statements, as restated, which are
contained herein. We have amended each item of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004 that has been affected by the restatement.

The following is a summary of issues involved with the restatement:
Passage of Title

In the course of preparing our condensed financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, a transaction was
identified whereby the underlying contract indicated that title passage occurred upon delivery to the customer whereas we
had historically recognized revenues from this customer and all other customers based on our sales order acknowledgement
which stated title passage and risk of loss occurred upon shipment from our facility. We then initiated a detailed review of all
significant customer relationships to evaluate whether, historically, there was sufficient evidence to conclude that title and
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risk of loss had passed to each customer upon shipment. In connection with these detailed reviews, we determined that, for
certain customers, the sales order acknowledgements were not sufficient to conclude that title and risk of loss had passed
upon shipment. Accordingly, we decided revenue and cost of sales for products shipped to these customers should have been
recognized upon delivery in our previously reported financial results. We have restated our previously reported financial
results for 2003 and 2004 and for interim periods therein to correct for this issue. In our restated financial statements, revenue
recognition for shipments which occurred at the end of calendar quarters has now been delayed until the following quarter.

Probability of Collection

During our detailed review of customer relationships we determined that we should not have recognized revenue for
transactions with certain distributors where it appeared that the customer may not have been sufficiently capitalized and their
ability to pay is contingent upon their resale of our product. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S,, if
realization of revenue is contingent upon sell-through it is not appropriate to recognize revenue until sell-through occurs or
upon receipt of cash. As we did not have sufficient visibility into these distributors' sales activities, we concluded that all
sales to these distributors should have been recorded as revenue upon the receipt of cash. We have restated our previously
reported financial results for 2003 and 2004 and for interim periods therein to correct for this issue. We expect that the $4.5
million reduction in 2004 revenue related to this adjustment will be recognized as revenue when we receive cash from the
distributors.

Undelivered Elements

During our detailed review of customer relationships we determined that certain arrangements contained obligations to
provide training, support and other deliverables that had not previously been accounted for as separate elements of the
arrangement. Generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. require accounting for each separate element and that a
portion of the arrangement fee be allocated to each of those separable elements using an appropriately methodology. We had
not previously allocated any arrangement fee to these other deliverables. We have restated our previously reported financial
results for 2003 and 2004 and for interim periods therein to correct for this issue.

Inventory Valuation

In the course of assembling the information for the restatement of our consolidated financial statements, it was discovered
that we had reduced inventory reserves in situations that we had determined that the products were saleable. Generally
accepted accounting principles in the U.S. provide that once inventory has been written down below cost as the close of a
fiscal accounting period, it should not be written back up. As a result, we completed a detailed analysis of our reserves
activity for each component in inventory. We have restated our previously reported financial results for 2003 and 2004 and
for interim periods therein to correct for this issue.

Restatement Summary

The following tables are a reconciliation of the statements of operations and balance sheets as previously reported to
amounts as restated for the periods indicated, in thousands:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004

Revenues, as previously reported $ 62,556 $ 101,375
Restatement adjustments:

Passage of'title (84) (1,154)

Probability of collection - (4,514)

Undelivered elements - 214)

Total restatement adjustments (84) (5,882)

Revenues, as restated $ 62,472 $ 95493

e —————— | S ———————|
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004
Net income, as previously reported $ 2,458 $ 899
Restatement adjustments:
Passage of title (34) (459)
Probability of collection - (2,170)
Undelivered elements - (230)
Inventory valuation 912) 181
Total restatement adjustments § (946) $ (2,678)
Net income (loss), as restated $ 1,512 $ (1,779)
| im— s a—————
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004
Total assets, as previously reported § 107,542 § 187,166
Restatement adjustments:
Accounts receivable (84) (5,752)
Inventory 50 3,089
Inventory valuation (912) (731)
Deferred income taxes 830 363
Total adjustments (116) (3,031)
Total assets, as restated $ 107,426 $ 184,135
| S—————— e — 3
Total liabilities, as previously reported $ 18,148 $ 15,401
Restatement adjustments:
Deferred revenue - 214
Accrued liabilities - 16
Deferred income taxes 830 363
Total adjustments 830 593
Total liabilities, as restated $ 18,978 $ 15,994
Total stockholders’ equity, as restated $ 88,448 $ 168,141
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity, as restated $ 107,426 $ 184,135
| ————————— | S ——

The effects of the restatement adjustments have been included in the following discussion and analysis of financial condition

and results of operations.

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell next-generation broadband access communications equipment to wireline and wireless
communications carriers. We were incorporated in September 1992 as a successor company to Koenig Communications,
Inc., equipment systems integration and consulting company that had been in operation since 1986. In the summer of 1995,
we ceased our systems integration and consulting business and commenced our main product sales with the commercial
deployment of our first network access products, which was followed by the introduction of our Wide Bank products in
November 1997, Access Navigator products in January 1999, Adit products in December 1999, the Broadmore products in
October 2000, which we acquired from Litton Network Access Systems, Inc., or LNAS, and the Axxius products in June
2002. In November 2003 we acquired the MASTER Series and BROADway product lines through our acquisition of
Paragon Networks International, Inc.
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During the late 1990s, a substantial number of carriers, including CLECs, invested heavily in network infrastructure and
service delivery projects, which accelerated growth in the telecommunications equipment market. By 2000, when our annual
net revenues reached $148.1 million, we relied on a limited number of CLECs for a significant portion of our net revenue.
However, starting in late 2000, many of these CLECs encountered sharp declines in the amount of capital they had available
to fund network infrastructure and service delivery projects. As a result, there was a significant decline in the demand for
telecommunications equipment, including demand for our products.

We have since broadened our product portfolio into new markets, including wireless carriers and incumbent wireline
carriers. For example, in 2000, 62% of our net revenue was derived from CLECs, 13% from ILECs, and 5% from wireless
carriers compared to 13%, 13% and 57%, respectively, in 2004. Currently, the wireless and ILEC markets are dominated by a
small number of large companies, and we continue to rely upon a small number of customers in these markets for a
significant portion of our revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2004, direct sales to two customers each accounted for
over 10% of our revenue: Ericsson accounted for approximately 20% and T-Mobile accounted for approximately 10%.

When the downturn in the telecommunications industry adversely affected our net revenue and operating results in late
2000, we reduced our operating expenses in an effort to better position our business for the long term. In December 2002, we
completed a restructuring plan designed to reduce our expenses and align our workforce and operations to be more in line
with anticipated net revenues. As a result of the restructuring plan, we recorded a $2.0 million restructuring charge in the
fourth quarter of 2002. This charge was comprised of $1.4 million for future rent payments related to facility closures and
downsizing and $600,000 for salary-related expenses due to reductions in our workforce. Qur objective has been to focus on
cost controls while continuing to invest in the development of new and enhanced products, which we believe will position us
to take advantage of sales opportunities as economic conditions improve and demand recovers, a trend that we started to see
in 2003 and the first half of 2004. However, we believe current economic conditions and industry consolidation may continue
to cause our customers and potential customers to defer and reduce capital spending.

Historically, most of the sales of our products have been through a limited number of distributors. Walker & Associates
accounted for 16% in 2002, 11% in 2003 and 7% in 2004. Recently, however, an increasing proportion of our products sales
have been made directly to telecommunications carriers and OEMs. For the year ended December 31, 2004, Ericsson, an
OEM, accounted for 20% of net revenue, and we sold directly to a carrier, T-Mobile, who accounted for approximately 10%
of our net revenue. We expect that the sale of our products will continue to be made to a small number of distributors, OEMs,
and direct customers. As a result, the loss of, or reduction of sales to, any of these customers would have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Qur net revenue continues to be affected by the timing and number of orders for our products, which continue to vary
from quarter to quarter due to factors such as demand for our products, economic conditions, and the financial stability and
ordering patterns of our direct customers, distributors, and OEMs. In addition, a significant portion of our net revenue has
been derived from a limited number of large orders, and we believe that this trend will continue in the future, especially if the
percentage of OEM and direct sales to customers continues to increase since such customers typically place larger orders
than our distributors. The timing of such orders and our ability to fulfill them has caused material fluctuations in our
operating results, and we anticipate that such fluctuations will continue in the future.

Presentation

The results for 2004 and 2003 presented below are "As Restated.” Please refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Form 10-K/A. The analysis is organized in a way that provides the information required, while
highlighting the information that we believe will be instructive for understanding the relevant trends going forward. In
addition to the discussion of the historical information that reviews the current reporting presentation of our consolidated
financial statements, an overview of the operational results is provided below. Unless otherwise indicated, all information is
presented in accordance with GAAP.

Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004

2002 to 2003 2002 to 2003 2003 to 2004 2003 to 2004
2002 2003 2004 Varjance in $’s Variance in % Variance in $’s Variance in %
(In thousands, except percentages)
As restated  As restated As restated As restated As restated As restated
Net Revenue ............... $ 50247 § 62472 § 95493 $ 12,225 24% $ 33,021 53%
Cost of Goods Sold ... $ 33,145 § 36,086 $ 55,381 $ 2941 9% $ 19,295 53%

The increase in net revenue in 2004 was primarily due to increases in the number of units sold into the wireless market.
We believe that the increase was due to the deployment of our Axxius, Adit, BROADway and MASTERseries products to
comply with FCC mandated E911 location services and to expand cell site bandwidth capacity for new data service offerings
by wireless mobility carriers. Our net revenue also improved due to the continued economic recovery and lessening of capital
market constraints in the telecommunications sector in 2004 compared to 2003.
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The increase in net revenue in 2003 was due to increases in the number of units sold into the wireless market. We believe
that the increase in units sold in 2003 was partially due to the deployment by some wireless carriers of our Axxius, Adit and
MASTERseries products to comply with FCC mandated E911 location services and expand cell site bandwidth capacity. The
acquisition of Paragon in November 2003 contributed to the increase in wireless market revenue, primarily because of our
MASTERseries product. Our net revenue also improved due to a slight economic recovery and the lessening of capital
market constraints in the telecommunications sector in 2003.

A significant portion of our net revenue has been derived from a limited number of large orders, and we believe that this
trend will continue in the future, especially if the percentage of direct sales to end-users increases. In 2002, 2003 and 2004,
23% of our net revenue was derived from 14, 16, and 24 orders, respectively. We have experienced a substantial decrease in
the number of orders from some of these customers as a result of decreases in their capital spending budgets and the impact
of adverse economic conditions both in general and in the telecommunications equipment industry in particular, which has
resulted in decreased demand for telecommunications equipment during this period. In order to maintain or grow our net
revenue, as well as offset the loss of anticipated net revenue from some of our prior customers, we will need to sell more
products to both our remaining customers and new customers, and we can provide no assurance that we will be able to make
such sales. Our net revenue was and continues to be affected by the timing and quantities of orders for our products which
may vary from quarter to quarter in the future, as they have in the past, due to factors such as demand for our products,
economic conditions, bankruptcies of our customers and distributors, and ordering patterns of distributors, OEMs and other
direct customers. We believe that this trend could continue in the future, especially if the percentage of direct sales to end-
users increases. The timing of customer orders and our ability to fulfill them can cause material fluctuations in our operating
results, and we anticipate that such fluctuations will occur in the future.

2002 to 2003 2002 to 2003 2003 to 2004 2003 to 2004
2002 2003 2004 Variance in $’s Variance in % Variancein $’s Variance in %
(In thousands, except percentages)
As restated As restated As restated As restated As restated As restated
Gross Profit............. § 17,102 § 26,386 $ 40,112 $ 9,284 54% $ 13,726 52%
Gross Margin .......... 34% 42% 42% 8% 0%

Gross margin decreases in 2004 were attributable to changes in product mix, as gross margins vary among products, as
well as decreases in our selling prices. In addition, we finalized our integration with Paragon, which resulted in disposing of
inventory carried at $960,000 that reduced margins by 1%.

Our 2003 gross margin increases were also attributable to changes in product mix, as gross margins vary among
products, product cost reductions and higher production volumes, and were partially offset by decreases in selling prices.

We believe that the average selling prices and the related gross margins will decline for mature products as volume price
discounts in distributor contracts and direct sales relationships take effect due to competition. We have seen the average
selling price for the Wide Bank products, Adit products, and MASTERseries products decrease during 2004. In addition, new
product introductions could harm gross margins until production volume increases.

2002 to 2003 2002 to 2003 2003 te 2004 2003 to 2004
2002 2003 2004 Variance in §’s Variance in % Variance in $’s Variance in %

(In thousands, except percentages)

Research and Development............... $ 23728 $ 11,001 $ 18,194 $ (12,727) 54% $ 7,193 65%

The increases in research and development expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 were primarily related to an increase in
personne! expense of $3.9 million and approximately $1.3 million of prototype expenses to support the development and
release of our converged IP voice data network, and compression solutions. Related to these programs, we increased our
spending by $826,000 for software consultants, $457,000 for pilots, and $227,000 for compliance program testing.

Research and development expenses for 2003 decreased from 2002 mostly due to a $7.9 million decrease in personnel
expense due to reductions in work force. There were also decreases of $1.7 million for depreciation expense, $1.4 million in
expense for technical certification programs and §1.1 million decrease in prototyping expenses. Depreciation decreased as we
took assets out of service in late 2002 and Telcordia certification decreased due to a one-time expense in 2002 related to our
Wide Bank product platforms.
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2002 to 2003 2002 to 2003 2003 to 2004 2003 to 2004

2002 2003 2004 Variance in $’s _Variance in % Variance in $’s _Variance in %
(In thousands, except percentages)

As restated  As restated As restated As restated As restated As restated

Sales and Marketing.......... .. $ 18259 § 11,776 $ 15,963 § (6,483) (36)% $ 4,187 36%

General and Administrative........ 9,323 5,362 7,198 (4,461) (45)% 1,836 34%
Goodwill and intangible

asset amortization ..., 216 262 1,268 46 21% 1,006 384%

Asset impairment charges........... 9,795 — — (9,79%) (100)% — N/A

ReSIUCtUTING ovcverrieevcvinis 1,981 — 218 (1,981) (100)% 218 N/A

Settlement eXpenses....oveerevrren — — 2,138 — — 2,138 N/A

Bad debt expense (recovery)...... 5,567 (3,085) (289) (8,652) (155)% 2,796 91%

Sales and marketing expenses for 2004 increased as a result of a $3.3 million increase in personnel expense, and a
$481,000 increase in travel and related expenses in response to new products obtained from the integration of Paragon
operations and efforts to focus on the enterprise market. In addition, we recorded approximately $80,000 of interest and
penalties incurred on payroll taxes during 2004 for a preacquisition contingency related to our acquisition of Paragon in
2003, This amount was related to certain foreign sales and marketing activities. In addition, approximately $66,000 was
reclassified from income tax expense to operating expense. Given the timing of the resolution, the amount recorded for
interest and penalties, was not reflected in our earnings release issued on January 25, 2005 for the quarter ended December
31, 2004, however the non-cash adjustment did not impact our earnings per share calculation.

General and administrative expense for 2004 increased primarily due to a $585,000 increase in personnel expense and
approximately $850,000 related to Sarbanes Oxley Section 404 compliance efforts. These expenses were offset by
approximately $200,000 due to the net cost savings obtained from purchasing the 5395 Pearl Parkway headquarters in
Boulder Colorado at the beginning of the fourth quarter.

Settlement expenses increased in 2004 as a result of the settlement amount and legal expenses of $1.2 million associated
with the SMTC Jawsuit.

Bad debt expense recoveries in 2004 were $289,000 and $3.1 million in 2003. In 2004 and 2003, we were able to
recover substantially all of the delinquent receivables and part of the accounts receivable related to bankruptcy of our
customers.

Selling, general and administrative expense for 2003 decreased from 2002. Sales and marketing expense for 2003
decreased primarily as a result of a $4.0 million decrease in personnel expense, a $618,000 decrease in travel and
entertainment expense, a $449,000 decrease in expenses for demonstration equipment and a $315,000 decrease in
communication expense. Most of the decreases in sales and marketing expenses were the result of the reduction in sales and
marketing personnel that occurred in the early part of 2003 and the expenses related to their sales and marketing activities.
Generzal and administrative expense decreased in 2003 from 2002. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $2.2 million
expense for legal and settlement costs incurred in 2002 as well as a $1.7 million decrease in personnel cost and a $233,000
decrease in professional fees. Bad debt expense went from a $5.6 million expense in 2002 to a $3.1 million recovery in 2003.
In 2002, a number of our customers filed for bankruptcy and one of our distributors was experiencing financial difficulties
which caused a significant amount of accounts receivables to become delinquent. In 2003, we were able to recover some of
the delinquent receivables and part of the accounts receivable related to the bankruptcy. We also incurred an asset
impairment charge related to goodwill of $9.8 million and a restructuring charge of $2.0 million in 2002.

2002 to 2003 2002 to 2003 2003 to 2004 2003 to 2004

2002 2003 2004 Variance in$’s  Variancein %  Variancein$’s  Variancein %
(In thousands, except percentages)
As restated As restated As restated As restated As restated As restated
Interest and other
income, net......... . 3 714 $ 353 $ 2,787 $ (36l 51% $ 2434 690%
Income taxes (benefit) ......... S 1,102 S (89 $  (12) $ (1,191) (108)% $ 77 87%

Interest and other income, net for 2004 increased due to $1.1 million of interest earned on increased cash and cash
equivalent balances from our public stock offering that we completed in February 2004, which resulted in net proceeds of
$78.4 million. We also were released from an accrued liability as part of a bankruptcy settlement agreement that resulted in a
net gain of $1.0 million. In addition, we recognized a gain of $143,000 related to the sale of our assets.

Interest and other income, net for 2003 decreased to $353,000 from $714,000 in 2002. The decrease was due to lower
interest income earned due to lower interest rates.

For 2004, cur effective combined federal and state income tax rate was a negative 1.4% compared to an income tax rate
of negative 3.8% and 2.1% for 2003 and 2002, respectively. In the second quarter of 2002, we determined that, based on our
taxable losses, projections of future taxable income and the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, realization of our deferred tax
assets was not sufficiently assured. As a result, we recorded a valuation allowance of $12.8 million reducing the carrying
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amount of our deferred tax assets to zero. We recorded an additional valuation allowance of $4.3 million in the second half of
2002 to reduce the additional deferred tax assets generated during that period. In 2003, we recorded an additional valuation
allowance of approximately $6.3 million, related primarily to deferred tax assets recorded in connection with our acquisition
of Paragon. In 2004, we recorded an additional valuation allowance of approximately $1.4 million related to additional
deferred tax assets generated during the year. Despite some profitable periods in 2003 and 2004, as of December 31, 2004,
we cannot conclude the realization of our deferred tax assets is more likely than not given losses in recent quarters, history of
volatility in our earnings, and insufficient certainty of forecasted earnings. Although we may be profitable in 2005, we do not
believe that we will experience any income tax expense in 2005. Our net operating loss carryforwards may be used to offset
up to $43 million of future taxable income for federal tax purposes. The December 31, 2004 valuation allowance contains
components relating to the Paragon acquisition, stock option compensation and net operating loss carryforwards. As these net
operating loss carryforwards are utilized, we will reduce the related valuation allowance. Reductions in the valuation
allowance, if any, will be recognized against goodwill for the portion related to the acquisition, against additional paid in
capital for the portion relating to stock options and in our statements of operations as an income tax benefit, and may offset
any current income tax expense. In addition, should we demonstrate a history of sustained profitability, we may reverse all or
a significant portion of the remaining valuation allowance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

2003 to 2004 2003 to 2004
2003 2004 Variance in $’s YVariance in %
(In thousands, except percentages)
As restated As restated As restated As restated
WOrking Capital......cccocvieriirniirinee ettt $ 67,454 $ 142,047 $ 74,593 111%
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable seCUTIties.........c.courmecriniincvinennicneniieines 3 36,542 $ 108,683 $ 72,141 197%
TOLAL ASSELS L.vvvieieriveieeerirert e reteeieeseseriabsesere et ter e e eee ke e b eassste st nberarannen e snrabesesssnnen S 107,426 § 184,135 $§ 76,709 71%

2002 to 2003 2002 to 2003 2003 to 2604 2003 to 2004
2002 2003 200 Variance in §’s Variance in % Variance in $’s Variance in %

{In thousands, except percentages)

Net cash provided (used) by:

Operating activities.....cco.voevcercrennnn S (9,211) $ 9638 § (59) $ 18,849 205% $ (9,697) (101)Y%
Investing activities.. o $ 0 (644) 5 (8,932) S (27.810) $ (8,288) (1,287)% $ (18,878) 21)%
Financing activities...c..c.oceoveennnns $ 14 § 1,601 § 81,590 $ 1,587 11,336% $ 79,989 4,996%

At December 31, 2004, our principal sources of liquidity included cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities
available for sale of approximately $108.7 million. At December 31, 2004, our working capital was approximately $142.0
million. In February of 2004, we completed a stock offering, which generated additional cash of approximately $78.4
million.

Cash used by operations was $59,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 contrasted to $9.6 million provided by
operations in 2003. The change was primarily due to a decrease in net income of $3.3 million and the receipt of our income
tax refund of $7 million in 2003. Our lower net income in 2004 was impacted in part by increased non-cash charges for
depreciation and decreases in recoveries of doubtful accounts. Inventory and accounts payable were the primary uses of cash
in 2004.

Cash used by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $27.8 million compared to $8.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we had net purchases of $18.5 million of
marketable securities compared to purchases of $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Our capital expenditures
for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $9.3 million compared to $770,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003.
During the year, we purchased our facility located at 5395 Pearl Parkway for approximately $7.1 million. We believe our
current facilities are sufficient to meet our current operating requirements. Capital expenditures in 2005 are not expected to
exceed those of 2004,

Net cash from financing activities provided $81.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, which was the result of
cash received from our stock offering of $78.4 million and $3.2 million received from the exercise of options, compared to
$1.6 million from the exercise of options for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Our net inventory levels increased approximately $6.7 million to $32.0 million at December 31, 2004 from $25.3 million
at December 31, 2003. The increase was primarily the result of product buildup in anticipation of the 53% increase in product
sales.

We believe that our existing cash and investment balances are adequate to fund our projected working capital and capital
expenditure requirements for a period greater than 12 months. Although operating activities may provide cash in certain
periods, to the extent we experience growth in the future, we anticipate that our operating and investing activities may use
cash. We may consider using our capital to make strategic investments, acquisitions of companies, or to acquire or license
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technology or products. However, we cannot assure you that additional funds or capital will be available to us in adequate
amounts and with reasonably acceptable terms.

Contractual Obligations

The impact that our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004 are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow
in future periods is as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less More
than Than
Total 1Year 1-3Years 4-5Years 5 Years
OPEIALING LEASES . ....vvvriercererniririareniaransosresassasastesctsesetscsesssasssssassssasssessssestesessesessnsessnsrsnsassssssonse $ 1,685 1,269 416 — —
Purchase OBLIZATIONS ........ceriviiiirriniiti et ettt et s et e sena et san s $ 11,657 11,657 —_ — —
TIOMAL ottt ettt b bt e b ettt b oo b bRt b b s bt n e § 13,342 12,926 416 — —

Carrier Access leases office space under various noncancelable-operating leases that expire through 2009. Carrier Access
records rent expense under noncancelable operating leases using the straight-line method after consideration of increases in
rental payments over the lease term, and records the difference between actual payments and rent expense as deferred rent
concessions.

Carrier Access has placed non-cancelable purchase orders for $11.7 million of inventory from certain of its vendors for
delivery in 2005. Purchase orders are generally placed up to 4 months in advance based on the lead-time of the inventory.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 totaled $1.9 million, $1.6 million, and $1.7
million, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements other than the operating leases discussed above.
Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue and product returns, inventory valuations, allowance for doubtful
accounts, intangible assets, deferred income taxes and warranty reserves. We use historical experience and various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances as a basis for making estimates about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities and other items that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We consider the following accounting areas to have the most
significant impact on the reported financial results and financial position of our company.

Revenue Recognrition. We recognize revenue from product sales using guidance from SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
101 "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” as amended by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104. Our revenue from
sales of products is recognized upon shipment or delivery based upon shipping terms, provided there is evidence of an
arrangement, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Certain customers have the right to
return products for a limited time after shipment as part of a stock rotation program. Revenue is reduced by estimated stock
rotation returns based upon historical return rates. If future returns exceed estimates, revenue would be further reduced.

When collectibility is not reasonably assured, revenue is not recorded until such time as collection becomes reasonably
assured, which is generally upon the receipt of cash. We assess reasonable assurance of collectibility based on a number of
factors, including past transaction history and the creditworthiness of the customer. We generally recognize revenue upon
shipment to resellers and distributors unless they are thinly capitalized and their ability to pay is, in substance, contingent
upon their resale of the Company's product. If reliable reporting from the reseller or distributor exists, revenue is recognized
when the reseller or distributor sells the product to an end-user ("sell through"). For multiple element arrangements, the fair
value of the individual elements is determined primarily based on sales prices when the products and services are sold
separately. Revenue from installation and training services are deferred and recognized when the services are performed.
Revenue from maintenance services is deferred and recognized over the term of the maintenance agreement.

For all sales, a binding contract, purchase order or another form of documented agreement is used as evidence of an
arrangement with the customer. Sales to distributors may be evidenced by a master agreement governing the relationship,
together with binding purchase orders on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Delivery is considered to occur upon shipment
the product, so long as title and risk of loss have passed to the customer. At the time of the transaction the company assesses
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whether the sale amount is fixed or determinable based upon the terms of the documented agreement. If it is determined the
fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized when the fee becomes fixed and determinable.

For arrangements with customers that include acceptance provisions, revenue is recognized upon the customer's
acceptance of the product, which occurs upon the earlier of receipt of a written customer acceptance or expiration of the
acceptance period.

Inventory Reserves. We value our inventory at the lower of the actual cost to purchase and/or manufacture or the current
estimated net realizable value of inventory. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and record a provision for
excess and obsolete inventory based primarily on our estimated forecast of product demand and production requirements. We
write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of
inventory and the estimated net realizable value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If
actual future demand or market conditions are less favorable than our estimates, then additional inventory write-downs may
be required.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust open account
status based upon payment history and the customer's current creditworthiness, as determined by our review of current credit
information. We continuously monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain a provision for estimated
credit losses based upon the age of outstanding invoices and any specific customer collection issues that we have identified.
While such credit losses have usually been within our expectations and the provisions established, we did recover a
significant portion of aged receivables in 2003 and 2004 that we had previously provided for. This recovery amounted to
approximately $3.1 million. We cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we have
in the past. Because our sales are concentrated in a relatively few number of customers, a significant change in the liquidity
or financial position of any one of these customers could have a material impact on our ability to collect our accounts
receivable and, accordingly, on our future operating results.

Valuation of Intangible Assets. We regularly evaluate the potential impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. In
assessing whether the value of our goodwill and other intangibles has been impaired, we must make assumptions regarding
estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of these assets. If these estimates or their related
assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional impairment charges. At the time of an acquisition
we estimate the fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired and amortize the cost over the estimated useful life.

Deferred Income Taxes. Current income tax expense (benefit) represents actual or estimated amounts payable or
receivable on tax return filings each year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the estimated future tax effects
of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the accompanying balance
sheets, and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the period
determines the deferred tax provision or benefit for the period. Effects of changes in enacted tax laws on deferred tax assets
and liabilities are reflected as adjustments to the tax provision or benefit in the period of enactment. A valuation allowance is
required to reduce the carrying amount of deferred tax assets if management cannot conclude that realization of such assets is
more likely than not at the balance sheet date. Based upon our recent history of losses and an analysis of projected net taxable
income for future operating periods, we determined that realization of our tax net operating loss carryforwards, tax credit
carryforwards and other deferred tax assets is not sufficiently assured. Based upon this analysis, a valuation allowance has
been recorded as of December 31, 2004, to reduce the carrying amount of our $24.8 million of net deferred tax assets to zero.

Warranty Reserves. We offer warranties of various lengths to our customers depending on the specific product and the
terms of our customer purchase agreements. Our standard warranties require us to repair or replace defective product
returned to us during the warranty period at no cost to the customer. We record an estimate for warranty related costs based
on our actual historical return rates and repair costs at the time of sale. On an on-going basis, management reviews these
estimates against actual expenses and makes adjustments when necessary. While our warranty costs have historically been
within our expectations and the provisions established, we could not guarantee that we will continue to experience the same
warranty return rates or repair costs that we have in the past. A significant increase in product return rates or the costs to
repair our products could have a material adverse impact on our operating results.

Loss Contingencies. We are subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course of
business. We consider the likelihood of a loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a liability, as well as our ability
to reasonably estimate the amount of loss in determining loss contingencies. An estimated loss contingency is accrued when
it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated. We regularly evaluate current information available to us to determine whether such accruals should be adjusted
and whether new accruals are required.

Leases. We currently lease some of our facilities, the terms of which contain provisions for rent increases. We record the
effects of those scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee Stock Options. As further explained in Note 1(n) and Note 9 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
stock options are granted to employees, consultants and directors. Upon vesting, an option becomes exercisable; that is, the

34




option holder can purchase a share of our common stock at a price that is equal to the share price on the day of grant. SFAS
No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” permits companies either to continue accounting for stock options
under Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," or to adopt a fair-
value-based method to measure compensation cost. We cutrently account for our stock-based compensation plans under the
"intrinsic value" recognition and measurement principles of APB No. 25 and provide supplemental information in Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements as if we used the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123. Under SFAS No.
123, an option is valued on grant day, and then expensed evenly over its vesting period. We use the Black-Scholes option
valuation model to estimate the option's fair value. The option valuation model requires a number of assumptions, including
future stock price volatility and expected option life (the amount of time until the options are exercised or expire). Expected
option life is based on actual exercise activity from previous option grants. Volatility is calculated based upon stock price
movements over the most recent period equal to the expected option life. Additionally our share price on grant day influences
the option value. The higher the share price, the more the option is worth. Changes in the option value after grant day are not
reflected in expense.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows due to
adverse changes in financial and commodity market prices and interest rates. Historically, and as of December 31, 2004, we
have had little or no exposure to market risk in the area of changes in foreign currency or exchange rates. Historically, and as
of December 31, 2004, we have not used derivative instruments or engaged in hedging activities.

We have fixed income securities that are subject to interest rate risk. The portfolio is diversified and structured to
minimize the risk. Securities held in our equity and other investments portfolio are subject to price risk. At any time a sharp
change in interest rates could have a material impact on interest earnings for our investment portfolio.

Given the current balance of $108.7 million of investments classified as "cash and cash equivalents" and "marketable

securities available for sale," a theoretical 1% change in interest rates and security prices would impact our net income
positively or negatively by approximately $1 million.
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ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (As restated):

Report of Independent Registered Public AcCOunting Filmil «.....covevviriicincoeniniinneine e cereeeeneconae
Consolidated Balance Sheets December 31, 2003 and 2004 ........oooiiiii i cetee ettt e ccteesste s etr e s esieeseaessrresessee e
Consolidated Statements of Operations Years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 .........c.ccoveveverieccrrneccecnenn,
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) Years ended December 31,

2002, 2003, @10 2004 .....cvie ettt et et ettt st e s r b st e b sta e sr e e et s e bbb ta st eats ek aeaResar e o by et aear s bt b ant et brenrain
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 ..o eieievvevienesiecneen
Notes to Consolidated FINancial STAteMENTS ........o.corueiiiiiiirecie ittt ccreee s e s eeesaeereasbesbesseseresrseenrassesssnaraeerseersean
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Carrier Access Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Carrier Access Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive
income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Carrier Access Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in note 3, the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 have
been restated to reflect adjustments related to revenue recognition and inventory valuation allowances.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria
established in Internal Control -- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated August 1, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management's
assessment of, and an adverse opinion on the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Boulder, Colorado
March 21, 2005, except as to notes 3 and 12, which are as of August 1, 2005
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CARRIER ACCESS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2003

2004

(In thousands)
As restated

As restated

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS ..ottt et ettt bttt na e, $ 17,207  $ 70,928
Marketable securities available fOr SALE......ccciievivicriciriie et et sn b e e ta s 19,335 37,755
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns of $871 and $359 in 2003
and 2004, rESPECLIVELY .....i.iimiiiciciei et 18,249 11,949
TNCOMME tAX TECEIVADLIE ...eveiicvi ettt ettt st ee et ettt a e e bttt s st e et ses b b e tansese et et enseressebaesasarenens 83 161
Deferred income taxes 830 363
IIVENTOTY, T8ttt sttt ettt s 1ot saeas ot sastsea e sasinsaeneraassasasarassscases 25,273 32,009
Prepaid exXpenses ad Other ..ottt ettt 4.625 4,513
TOUAE CUTTEIT ASSELS 1..vi.veviuevereiereriiseereeresseresstesaesaanase st saseseststaseesestssesansnsessaessesensssesssesassssesensansasessssasannresesn 85,602 157,678
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $15,538 and $18,585 in
2003 and 2004, 1ESPECHVELY .. verieriie ettt e rsn et b ke sttt er bbb d ek a b r e saebeaens e 7,012 12,239
GOOTWIIL coeeier ittt ettt b et e e b e s ese e be s ee e abese b et e et esaseeEese st et s s e s e bese b es e s eneaesbeses et sanaanesseserersasnansna, 6,748 7,588
Intangibles, net of amortization of $262 and $1,580 in 2003 and 2004, respectively .......cccoovireeirererirennnn, 7,692 6,412
OURET @SSELS...vtvvieereeierisicteeteeee ettt eeeteste e b e et et et e e teeebe st et s etsetaese st ensensetastests s essesetensesbesennes 372 218
Total assets.... . . . . . § 107426 §_ 184135
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNLES PAYADLE w..vivriicsrieeeie ettt ettt bbb ettt b et s b et bt atmerenoses $ 12,862 § 11,246
Accrued compensation payable... 2,905 2,917
ACCTUSA TESLIUCTUIIIE oottt e es e e er e b ket b et 536 260
Deferred rent..........cococeene. 912 189
Other accrued liabilities 933 1,019
TO1A] CUITENT JHADIHTI@S cu. ittt sttt ettt ettt et s sttt eb et s ebe st seebaseses st eseersaseretesseratsnen, 18,148 15631
Deferred income taxes 830 363
Total liabilities 18.978 15,994
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000 shares authorized and no shares issued or outstanding at
December 31, 2003 and 2004 .......ccooviiiirieiriecs et e s s s ta sttt s ket a e e b s b s reraaet et ra s ataareans — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 60,000 authorized, 26,588 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2003, 34,479 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 ........ccooovvvinriciinnns 27 34
Additional paid-In CAPILAL ...ttt 106,571 188,147
Deferred stock compensation ... (12) —
Accumulated deficit.................. (18,131) (19,910)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) .. D (130)
Total StOCKNOIAETS” CQUILY ..eeeiieieic ittt bbbttt st 88.448 168.141
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Total liabilities and StocKhOIAEIS” BQUILY ..ot ettt et bbb st eraerearess $ 107426 § 184,135

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRIER ACCESS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2002

2003

2004

(In thousands, except per share data)
As restated

As restated

Revenue, net of allowances for SA1ES TEUITIS ..ot seees e sre s $§ 50247 § 62472 % 95,493
Cost of sales 33,145 36.086 55,381
Gross profit 17,102 26.386 40,112
Operating expenses:
Sales and MATKELING . ....cceeveieeer et ettt ss e s v b s sseseea enaens 18,259 11,776 15,963
Research and development. . ..o e 23,728 11,001 18,194
General and administrative ......occoovereieene, 9,823 5,362 7,198
Goodwill and intangible asset amortization 216 262 1,268
Asset impairment charges ........coevvcevececnnnns 9,795 — —
ReStructuring ChAZE. ..ottt e 1,981 —_ 218
SEtLIEIMENT EXPENSES. ettt ettt s b bttt b et eebenae — — 2,138
Bad debt eXPense (TECOVEIY) ...oiiiiiiiiriirce et s saere s sas s eesa v esss e esenas 5.567 (3.085) (289)
Total OPErating @XPENSES ...c.vvvviirieeiirt ettt 69.369 25316 44,690
Income (1055) fTOM OPETALIONS ...cvviieiieriiiicnii ettt et nesans (52,267 1,070 (4,578)
ITEEIESE INCOIMIE . teuerieiereeiseeet et rtes et aar et s s ebeve bt et se s et s se st ebas e s et ese s ebesa st s et saseresensss sranes 715 353 1,652
Other INCOME (EXPEISE), ML ..cueuvririeieirrerieiieteert et nas et esaese bt st eb s esss e sacsesas et cse s €8] — 1,135
Income (loss) before income taxes. (51,553) 1,423 (1,791
INCOME taXES (DENETILY c1vivevivierii e sea et anaeae b es s 1,102 _(89) (12)
NEUINCOME (JOSS) curerirrsirireretiietitiastem et seas et st st et s bbb e e es et sss s s s aetes b ebean s b s sar e $_(52655) § 1512 § (1,779
Income (loss) per share:
BASTC vttt ettt sttt s et et e b bRt ea e b bt 8 2.13) $ 006 § (0.03)
DIHILEA 1ottt ettt et st s b s be b s At eb bbb e ae bbb n ket $ 213 3% 006 % (0.05)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
BASIC 1.tttk b b e r e h st ae bbb 24,754 24,815 32,546
DAIUEEA .ottt ettt e s et en ettt e 24,754 26,545 32,546

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRIER ACCESS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004

Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Total
Common Stock Paid-In Deferred Stock  (Accumulated) Comprehensive  Stockholders’
Shares Amount  Capital ~ Compensation (Deficit) Income (Loss) Equity
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31,

200700t 24,740 $ 25 $ 85,973 $  (466) $ 33,012 $ 49 $ 118,593
Exercise of stock options ....c..cccccovenneae. 31 — 14 — — — 14
Amortization of deferred stock

COMPENSATION .vrveveecveriremereierieeeeinenenas — — — 199 —_ — 199
Forfeitures of stock options .......c.cocvewe — — (202) 202 — — —
Comprehensive loss:

Net change in unrealized gain

(loss) on investments, net of tax........ — — — — — (37 (37)

NEt IOSS. oo ecrsecrcennesrenias (52,655) 52,655

Total comprehensive [0S ...c..cccc.e.e. (52,692)
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31,

2002, 24,771 25 85,785 (65) (19,643) 12 66,114
Exercise of stock options ......c.coeeesrornne 482 1 1,600 — — — 1,601
Shares issued in connection with

ACGUISTHION. ccecrvaveeceenmrervencreceereecreenens 1,335 1 19,162 — —_ — 19,163
Amortization of deferred stock

COMPENSAION ...cecreerinrimecrerecrcarenrerenees — — — 53 — — 53
Stock options issued for services........... — — 24 — — — 24
Comprehensive Income: _

Net change in unrealized gain

(foss) on investments, net of tax........ — — — — — 19 19)

Net income (as restated) ......ccovvorerennes 1,512 1,512

Total comprehensive income (as
FESEAEd) .vvviirieiiimc 1,493
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31,

2003 (As restated).......c.cooocerinecrniennn 26,588 27 106,571 12) (18,131) 7N 88,448
Exercise of stock options 1,066 — 3,211 — — — 3,211
Sale of common stock in public

offering, net of offering costs of

6,825 7 78,372 — — — 78,379
Amortization of deferred stock

COMPENSAIOIL..cevveicrcrerrirecris e — — — 5 — — 5
Forfeitures of stock options .........cc.c..... — — (@) 7 — — —
Comprehensive Income:

Net change in unrealized gain

(loss) on investments, net of tax........ — — — — (123) (123)

Net loss (as restated) .....occooovvvveeriincnee (1,779) 1,779)

Total comprehensive loss (as
TESTALEA) ovvrrvererierirccrsnsnserereaens (12)
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31,
2004 (As restated).......cc.cococeivirnnnnn. 34479 § 34 $ 188,147 § — $.(19910) $ _(130) $ 168,141

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRIER ACCESS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year end December 31,

2002

Cash flows from operating activities:

(In thousands)
As restated

2003

2004

As restated

NELINCOME {JOSS) cvovieuemirerieieieimri ettt ettt sttt aaeb e et be e s et $ (52,655) § 1,512 § (1,779
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating
activities:
Depreciation and aMOrHZAtON EXPENSE ...ovrrvecrvirirericoreinnmrienieianmaresesssietsseresersesessesensrosescss 5,759 4,062 4,547
Provisions for (recoveries of) doubtful accounts...... . 5,567 (3,085) (289)
Provisions for (recoveries of) inventory obsolescence ... . 3,619 1,112 1,152
AsSet IMPAITMENt CHATZES ....ciiciiii et e sb s 9,795 — —
Stock-based COMPENSALON ....c.couiviiiieicieirie it ettt 199 77 5
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) .. . 7,319 — —
GaIN 0N SAIE OF BSSEL..cvvii et e ettt bbbttt (143)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE. ..ot ettt b et eb et st et e s er et eresressesens 3,643 (4,681) 6,589
Income tax receivable 1,479 6,906 78)
INVENLOTY cevvivreericrererrrraenes 8,747 1,500 (7,888)
Prepaid expenses and OthET ...ttt cesecnsn e s snens 1,418 (3,370) 228
ACCOUNLS PAYADIC ....c.iiiiiirteeireiee skt sa e ese st cansr st eae s resenenansenrreeneenns (3,427) 5,540 (1,772)
Accrued compensation payable. (2,024) 777 (672)
Accrued restructuring ........... 1,586 (1,050) (276)
Other Habilities cooviveieirenieee oo (236) 338 317
Net cash provided (used) by Operating aCtivities........ccoereereeerenee e erevceeerens (9.211) 9.638 (59
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment and real PrOPEITY .....covirivrernmiicirierenric e eeseecesassseereesneesnssieines (1,651) (770) (9,285)
Proceeds from the sale of property ....... — — 368
Purchase of marketable securities............c.c.cc.ce... « (11,359) (18,617) (53,318)
Sales of marketable securities available for Sale ........ccoveiieiiceice e 12,366 10,091 34,775
Net cash acquired (paid) in the purchase of Paragon ... — 364 (350)
Net cash used by InVesting ACHVILIES .......c.ccovvrireirirerie e ecre e e ieeenes (644) (8,932) (27.810)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of StOCK OPLIONS ......cvviviiiriiiciiic e 14 1,601 3,211
Proceeds from StOCK OfFEIINE . .covvii ettt e — — 83,606
STOCK ISSUANCE COSES.1urrirrmireieiirirmerrerietetintarbesesertennre et et nbesarescseenesresssaseansstsensetesemnontecssessasennsnes — — {5.227)
Net cash provided by financing activities 14 1,601 81,590
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiVaAlENts ........o.cocoveiriiiinicriin e (9,841) 2,307 53,721
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... 24741 14.900 17.207
Cash and cash equivalents at end Of YEar......ccoovieiiiiriccir s § 14900 § 17207 § 70928
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information and investing and financing )
activities:
Common stock issued for ACQUISTHION......c.cuiuereierirerei e et seeseb e erens $ — $§ 19163 § —
Accounts receivable in exchange for notes receivable ... e, $ 775 § — § —
Cash paid (received) fOr NCOME LAXES ...c.oovvireirieinriiree e eeeena et st eere e eeeba b esscsennns $ (7180) §_ (6995) § 50

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRIER ACCESS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004

Restatement

The 2003 and 2004 consolidated financial statements and related financial information included herein have been restated
to correct for certain accounting errors. For further details on the nature of the errors and the related effects on our previously
issued consolidated financial statements see Note 3 -- Restatement of Results. Where appropriate, restated balances have
been identified with the notation "as restated". Throughout these notes, the term "previously reported" will be used to refer to
balances from 2003 and 2004 consolidated financial statements as reported prior to correction for the errors.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a. Business and Basis of Presentation. Carrier Access Corporation (the "Company") designs, manufactures and sells
broadband access equipment to wireline and wireless carriers. The products are used to upgrade capacity and provide
enhanced services to wireline and wireless communications networks. The products also enable our customers to offer
enhanced voice and data services, delivered over multiple technologies, which historically have been offered onto separate
networks, on a single converged network. The Company designs products to enable our customers to deploy new revenue-
generating voice and data services, while lowering their capital expenditures and ongoing operating costs. The Company
operates in one business segment and substantially all of its sales and operations are domestic.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting standards generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include accounts receivable and
inventory reserve calculations, the estimated useful lives of depreciable and amortizable assets, as well as methods used to
estimate contingencies and assumptions regarding fair value. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

b. Cash and Cash Eguivalents and Marketable Securities Available for Sale. Cash and cash equivalents include
investments in highly liquid debt securities with maturities or interest reset dates of three months or less at the time of
purchase.

Marketable securities "available-for-sale" represent U.S. Government agency and corporate bonds with maturities of
greater than three months and are recorded at fair value. Marketable securities "available for sale”, all of which mature within
one year, consisted of the following as of December 31 (in thousands, except percentages):

Market Value
2003 2004 Interest Rates
MUNICIPAL BONAS vttt ettt sea st sa e eeeas $ 4048 $ — 2.75%t0 5.875%
Municipal Short Term Notes 15,265 37,755 1.1%t0 3.76%
Other .o, 22 — 1.2% t0 2.125%
TOUAL oottt ettt a ettt a et bbb re b b et bt eannere et e $ 19,335 § 37,955

Increases and temporary decreases in the fair value of investments classified as available-for-sale are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of the related tax effect, if any. Other than temporary declines are
recognized currently in the statement of operations. Subsequent recoveries in the fair value, if any, are not recognized in the
statement of operations, but as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), as indicated above.

¢. Accounts receivable. In general the Company extends credit to customers, after completing an evaluation of the
customer's credit worthiness. The Company records a provision for uncollectible accounts receivables based on
management's review of the aging of the receivable balances, evaluation of the customers' current ability to pay, and current
market conditions.

d. Other receivables. Other receivables of $2.2 million, which are included in "prepaid expenses and other" in the
accompanying balance sheet, primarily consist of amounts owed from third party manufacturers for components delivered
from the Company for their manufacture into finished products,

¢. Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other
accrued liabilities are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of these

instruments.



f. Inventory. Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value using standard costs that approximate the
average purchase costs. Costs include certain warchousing costs and other allocable overhead. The carrying amount of
inventory is marked down when 1) the cost of the inventory exceeds the estimated net realizable value determined by
analyzing assumptions about future demand and market conditions or 2) the technology associated with a product is
considered obsolete and the inventory cannot be used in the manufacture of other products.

g. Property and Equipment. Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and are depreciated
using the straight-line method over useful lives ranging from three to thirty years, or the lease term. Depreciation expense for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 totaled $2.1 million, $3.8 million, and $3.2 million, respectively.

h. Goodwill and Other Intangibles. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangibles. Intangible assets that are acquired individually or with a group
of other assets (but not those acquired in a business combination) are initially recorded and measured at their fair value. Costs
of internally developing, maintaining, or restoring intangible assets that are not specifically identifiable, that have
indeterminate lives, or that are inherent in a continuing business and related to an entity as a whole, are expensed as incurred.
Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over such useful lives, which range from five to seventeen years,
and are subject to tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may exist.
Acquired goodwill and certain other intangible assets with indefinite lives, if any, are not amortized. Instead goodwill and
other indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to periodic (at least annual) tests for impairment. For the periods presented
the Company does not have any indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than goodwill. Impairment testing is performed in
two steps: (i) The Company assesses goodwill for a potential impairment loss by comparing the fair value of its reporting unit
with its carrying value, and (ii) if an impairment is indicated because the reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying
amount, the Company measures the amount of impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill with the
carrying amount of that goodwill. The Company has determined that it has one reporting unit and therefore, the Company's
annual impairment tests for goodwill are performed at the consolidated level. As a result of its assessment in 2002, the
Company recorded impairments of goodwill and other intangibles of $9.0 million in 2002. There were no impairments
recorded in 2004.

i. Long-Lived Assets. The Company monitors assets to be held and used for indications of impairment. If indicated, the
Company evaluates the carrying value of the asset and records impairment if and when the carrying amount of a long-lived
asset is not recoverable from future estimated cash flows and exceeds its fair value. An asset that is classified as held-for-sale
is recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

In connection with the restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an $800,000 impairment for
certain capitalized assets that were either abandoned or are no longer in use and held for sale. No impairments of long-lived
assets were recorded in 2003 or 2004.

j. Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized from product sales using guidance from SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101 "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” as amended by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104. Revenue from
sales of products is recognized upon shipment or delivery based upon shipping terms, provided there is evidence of an
arrangement, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Certain customers have the right to
return products for a limited time after shipment as part of a stock rotation program. Revenue is reduced by estimated stock
rotation returns based upon historical return rates. If future returns exceed estimates, revenue would be further reduced.

When collectibility is not reasonably assured, revenue is not recorded until such time as collection becomes reasonably
assured, which is generally upon the receipt of cash. Reasonable assurance of collectibility is based on a number of factors,
including past transaction history and the creditworthiness of the customer. Revenue is generally recognized upon shipment
to resellers and distributors unless they are thinly capitalized and their ability to pay is contingent upon their resale of the
Company's product. If reliable reporting from the reseller or distributor exists, revenue is recognized when the reseller or
distributor sells the product to an end-user ("sell through"). For multiple element arrangements, the fair value of the
individual elements is determined primarily on sales prices when the products and services are sold separately. Revenue from
installation and training services are deferred and recognized when the services are performed. Revenue from maintenance
services is deferred and recognized over the term of the maintenance agreement.

For all sales, a binding contract, purchase order or another form of documented agreement is used as evidence of an
arrangement with the customer. Sales to distributors may be evidenced by a master agreement governing the relationship,
together with binding purchase orders on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Delivery is considered to occur when upon
shipment of the product, so long as title and risk of loss have passed to the customer. At the time of a transaction the
Company assesses whether the sale amount is fixed or determinable based upon the terms of the documented agreement. If it
is determined the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized when the fee becomes fixed and determinable.

For arrangements with customers that include acceptance provisions, revenue is recognized upon the customer's
acceptance of the product, which occurs upon the earlier of receipt of a written customer acceptance or expiration of the
acceptance period. During January and February of 2001, Carrier Access provided approximately $1.3 million of sales
credits to its customer WinStar for products that WinStar had purchased, paid for, and returned through stock rotation. In
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April of 2001, WinStar voluntarily filed for Chapter 7 federal bankruptcy. On December 1, 2004, under the terms of the
settlement agreement, the Company was required by the Bankruptcy Court order to pay the Chapter 7 Trustee for WinStar
$135,000 and received an unconditional release of all claims, actions, liabilities, and debts. In accordance with guidance
provided by SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,
because the Company was "judicially" released by the Bankruptcy Court, the liability was derecognized. The Company
recorded the resulting $1.0 million gain as "other income".

k. Research and Development Costs. Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred, and consist
primarily of internal personnel and facility costs.

1. Income Taxes. Current income tax expense (benefit) represents actual or estimated amounts payable or receivable on
tax return filings each year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the estimated future tax effects of temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the accompanying balance sheets, and for
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the period measures the
deferred tax provision or benefit for the period. Effects of changes in enacted tax laws on deferred tax asseis and liabilities
are reflected as adjustments to the tax provision or benefit in the period of enactment. A valuation allowance is required to
reduce deferred tax assets if management cannot conclude that realization of such assets is more likely than not, as defined
by SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. In determining the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers
its historical taxable income, the expected reversal of temporary differences and projections of future taxable income.

m. Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing income or loss by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects basic EPS adjusted for the potential
dilution, computed using the treasury stock method that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock
were exercised or converted and resulted in the issuance of common stock. A reconciliation of net income (loss) and
weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share amounts is presented below.

2002 2003 2004
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)

Basic earnings (loss) per share computation As Restated  As Restated
NEtINCOME (10SS).c.uuviiriieiiicirierei s rre ettt st ettt et bbbt $ (52655 § 1512 0§ (1,779)
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic .. 24,754 24,815 32,546

Basic earnings (I088) Per Share .....c...ocveeiieiireirieieees st $ @213 § 006 $ (0.05)
Diluted eamings (loss) per share computation
NEL INCOME (JOSS5) ...t euirciririreieiei ettt st eie sttt et cheae bbb an et sn e § (52,655 % 1,512 & {.779)
Weighted-average shares
Average shares outStanding-DASIC ...v.c.ovvreierrrie e e 24,754 24,815 32,546
Net shares assumed issued through exercises of Stock OpPHONS ...vveverrevrviicrireiirieennas — 1.730 —
Average shares outstanding-diluted ........ccooi i _ 24,754 26,545 32,546
Diluted earnings (1088} PEI ShATE ....ccoevvvrviiiiiiieriirc ettt 3 Q13 $_ 006 § (0.05)

As a result of the Company's net losses for the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2004, all potentially
dilutive securities were anti-dilutive and therefore have been excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share. The
number of shares excluded from computation of diluted net loss per share because their effect is anti-dilutive totaled
3,589,395 for 2002, and 655,244 for 2004.

n. Stock-Based Compensation. The Company currently accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under the
"Intrinsic value" recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation -- Transition and Disclosure -- an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. This Statement
provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. In addition, this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results.

The following table summarizes relevant information as to reported results under our intrinsic value method of
accounting for stock awards, with supplemental information as if the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock Based Compensation had been applied to each of the years in the three-year period ended December
31, 2004 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
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Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004
As Restated  As Restated
(In thousands)

INEE INCOME (JOSS) cvvritriincieieri ettt e bbbt s st sess et sebe bbb $ (52,655) % 1,512 8 (1,779)
Add back: Stock-based employee compensation expense, as reported.............ccoccerrrivercnnnn. 199 53 5
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense, determined under fair value

MEthod FOT All AWALAS ......cviiccri et ettt (1.644) (1.259) (4.169)

Net income (1088).....vveverenns et o 8 (54,100 § 306 $ (5,943
Income (loss) per share — basic, as reported .... . 8 2.13) % 006 % (0.05)
Income (loss) per share — diluted, as reported ......coooevereiriennerennes - 5 213) % 006 $ (0.05)
Income (loss) per share — basic and diluted, as adjusted..........cccooeeviiceiinicicnnce, $ 2.19) % 001 § (0.18)

The weighted average fair values of options granted during 2002, 2003, and 2004 were $1.54, $3.61, and $8.19 per share,
respectively, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: no expected dividends, 316%
volatility in 2002, 111% volatility in 2003, and 110% volatility in 2004, expected life of the options of five years in 2002,
2003 and 2004 and a risk-free interest rate of 3.0% for 2002, 3.1% for 2003, and 3.6% for 2004.

The 2002 and 2003 pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense and the weighted average fair values of
options granted in 2002 and 2003 have been revised.

Beginning January 1, 2006, the Company will account for its stock-based compensation plans in accordance with SFAS
Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation (revised)." See note 2.

0. Warranty Costs. The Company provides warranties of various lengths to customers depending on the specific product
and the terms of the customer purchase agreements. The Company has accrued for its warranty obligations based on
historical experience and management's estimate of future warranty costs to be incurred. Charges and accruals to the
warranty liability are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004
(In thousands)

Warranty Liability

Product warranty liability beginning balance ..o § 599 % 244 $ 410
Add: CUITENT YEAT BCCTUALS ... .eeeevivrieeerieivceeerieieieee s saetets s e e rebesesersaseabesssesetssasnresesssasaseseseressesesataressbasasesane 535 995 1,361
Deduct: Current year charges (890) (829) _ (1,137
Product warranty liability ending balance........cccooiiniicr s 3 244 § 410 § 634

p. Comprehensive Income (Loss). Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss), adjusted for the change in
net unrealized holding gains or losses on "available for sale" securities. The Company had no other sources of comprehensive
income for the years ended 2002, 2003, and 2004.

q. Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made in the 2002 and 2003 financial statements to conform to
the 2004 presentation.

r. Exit and Disposal Activities. In June 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 supercedes EITF 94-3. Under EITF 94-3, a liability for an exit cost, as defined, was
recognized at the date of an entity's commitment to an exit plan. SFAS No. 146 eliminates the definition and requirements for
recognition of exit costs in EITF 94-3, and concludes that an entity's commitment to a plan, by itself, does not create a
present obligation to others that meets the definition of a liability. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated
with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 also establishes that fair value is
the objective for initial measurement of the liability. The Company is required to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 146 to
exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002.

In December 2002, the Company completed a restructuring plan in accordance with EITF 94-3 designed to reduce its
expenses to be more in line with anticipated revenue. Included in this plan were reductions in salary-related expenses, facility
closures or downsizing, and disposal of excess or unused assets. As a result of these expense reductions, the Company
accrued $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2002. The Company paid approximately $400,000 of this charge in the fourth
quarter of 2002, approximately $1 million in 2003, and approximately $500,000 in 2004. The majority of the remaining cash
disbursements related to the restructuring plan will be paid by December 31, 2005. The Company made changes to its
restructuring accrual in 2004 due to changes in estimates with respect to subleases.
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Restructuring reserve activity resulting from the 2002 fourth quarter restructuring plan for 2004 is detailed below (in

thousands):
Beginning
Reserve Restructuring Ending Reserve
Balance Charges Pavments Balance
2002 oottt et s ek s — $ 1,986 $ (400) 3 1,586
1,586 — 3 (1,050 $ 536
536 $ 218 $ %) $ 260

2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, "Revenue Recognition" ("SAB No. 104"). SAB
No. 104 consolidates guidance on revenue recognition previously contained in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, "Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements" and related interpretations. The guidance in SAB No. 104 did not have a material effect
on our results of operations or financial position.

In March 2004, the E1TF reached a final consensus on Issue 03-1, "The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments.” EITF Issue No. 03-1 requires that when the fair value of an investment security
is less than its carrying value, an impairment exists for which the determination must be made as to whether the impairment
is other-than-temporary. The EITF Issue No. 03-1 impairment model applies to all investment securities accounted for under
SFAS No. 113, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities and to investment securities accounted for
under the cost method to the extent an impairment indicator exists. Under the guidance, the determination of whether an
impairment is other-than-temporary and therefore would result in a recognized loss depends on market conditions and
management's intent and ability to hold the securities with unrealized losses. In September 2004, the FASB approved FASB
Staff Position, or FSP, EITF 03-1-1, which defers the effective date for recognition and measurement guidance contained in
EITF 03-1 until certain issues are resolved. As of December 31, 2004, these issues have not yet been resolved. We do not
expect the adoption of EITF 03-1 to have a material effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

In November 2004, SFAS No. 151, "lnventory Costs -- an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4" was issued to clarify
the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). The
provisions of this Statement must be adopted for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005.
Earlier application is permitted for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after the date this Statement is
issued. The Company plans on adopting the Statement effective January 1, 2006. The guidance in SFAS No. 151 is not
expected to have a material effect on our results of operations or financial position,

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share
Based Payment. SFAS No. 123(R) is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation",
and supercedes APB Opinion ("APB") No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", and amends SFAS No. 95,
"Statement of Cash Flows". SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee
stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. The amount of compensation cost will be
measured based on the grant date fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. Compensation cost will be
recognized over the period that an employee provides service in exchange for the award. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an
alternative. The provisions of this statement will become effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2006.

SFAS No. 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods:

. A "modified prospective” method in which the compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date
(a) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) for all share based payments granted after the effective date and (b)
based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of SFAS
No. 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date.

2. A "modified retrospective"” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method, but also
permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma
disclosures for either: (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

The Company has not determined the method it will use upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the Company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using the APB
No. 25 intrinsic value method and generally recognize no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) will have a significant impact on the Company's results of operations, although it will have no
impact on the financial position or cash flows. The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) cannot be predicted with
certainty at this time because it will depend on the share based payments granted in the future. SFAS No. 123(R) also
requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow,
rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash
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flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after the adoption. The Company has not assessed the impact of this
provision on net operating loss carryforwards.

In December 2004, SFAS Statement No. 153, "Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets an amendment of APB Opinion No.
29" was issued. This Statement amends Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial
substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change
significantly as a result of the exchange. As the Company has not entered into nonmonetary exchanges, the Statement will
not have an impact on the Company's results of operations or financial position,

In May of 2003, SFAS Statement No. 154 "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections a replacement of APB Opinion
No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3" was issued. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of
accounting changes and error corrections. It establishes, unless impracticable, retrospective application as the required
method for reporting a change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit transition requirements specific to the newly
adopted accounting principle. This Statement also provides guidance for determining whether retrospective application of a
change in accounting principle is impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective application is impracticable.
The correction of an error in previously issued financial statements is not an accounting change. However, the reporting of an
error correction involves adjustments to previously issued financial statements similar to those generally applicable to
reporting an accounting change retrospectively. Therefore, the reporting of a correction of an error by restating previously
issued financial statements is also addressed Statement. The Statement is not expected to have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations or financial position.

3. Restatement

The 2003 and 2004 consolidated financial statements and related financial information have been restated to correct for
certain accounting errors. The restated financial statements include a number of adjustments that impact previously reported
revenue, costs of sales, accounts receivable and inventory reserves. The restated financial statements also include related
adjustments to deferred revenue, sales and marketing expense and income taxes and a reallocation of the valuation allowance
on deferred income tax assets between the current and non current portions. A summary of the restatement adjustments
follows. Restated information for each of the quarters in 2003 and 2004 is presented in note 13,

Passage of Title

Sales transactions were identified for which revenue should have been recognized upon delivery rather than upon
shipment. For certain of these transactions, shipments occurred at a quarter or year-end and the deliveries did not occur until
the beginning of the next accounting period. Adjustments were made to record the revenue and related cost of sales for these
transactions in the appropriate periods.

Probability of Collection

Revenue was recognized upon shipment for sales to certain distributors that may not have been sufficiently capitalized to
pay the Company unless the Company's products were sold through to an end user. If realization of revenue is contingent
upon sell-through it is not appropriate to recognize revenue until sell-through occurs or upon receipt of cash. The Company
made adjustments to recognize revenue for sales to these distributors upon receipt of cash rather than upon shipment of
product.

Undelivered Elements

It was determined that certain customer arrangements contained obligations to provide training, support and other
deliverables that had not previously been accounted for as separate elements of the arrangement. Generally accepted
accounting principles in the U.S. require accounting for each separate element and that a portion of the arrangement fee be
allocated to each of those separable elements using an appropriately methodology. The Company made adjustments to
account for the separate elements which, for some arrangements, resulted in the deferral of a portion of the revenue from the
arrangements.

Inventory Valuation
It was discovered that the Company had reduced inventory reserves in situations in which it was determined that the
products were saleable. Generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. provide that once inventory has been written

down below cost as the close of a fiscal accounting period, it should not be written back up. As a result, the Company made
adjustments to reduce inventory balances to the appropriate amounts at December 31, 2003 and 2004.
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Summary

The following tables are a reconciliation of the statements of operations and balance sheets as previously reported to
amounts as restated for the periods indicated, in thousands:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004

Revenues, as previously reported $ 62,556 $ 101,375
Restatement adjustments:

Passage of title (84) (1,154)

Probability of collection - (4,514)

Undelivered elements - (214)

Total restatement adjustments (84) (5,882)

Revenues, as restated $ 62,472 $ 95,493

 S————— ot S ————

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004

Net income, as previously reported § 2458 $ 899
Restatement adjustments:

Passage of title (34) (459)

Probability of collection - (2,170)

Undelivered elements - (230)

Inventory valuation (912) 181

Total restatement adjustments (946) 2,678)

Net income (loss), as restated $ 1,512 $ (1,779)

[ —————————] S ———

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2003 2004
As As As As
reported restated reported restated

Statement of Operations

Revenue $ 62,556 $ 62472 $ 101,375 $ 95,493
Cost of sales 35,224 36,086 58,601 55,381
Gross profit 27,332 26,386 42,774 40,112
Sales and marketing 11,776 11,776 15,947 15,963
Total operating expenses 25,316 25,316 44,674 44,690
Income (loss) from operations 2,016 1,070 (1,900) (4,578)
Income (loss) before taxes 2,369 1,423 887 (1,791)
Net income (loss) 2,458 1,512 899 (1,779)
Comprehensive income (loss) 2,439 1,493 776 (1,902)
Per-share amounts:

Basic earnings per share 3 0.10 8 0.06 $ 003 $ (0.05)
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.09 $ 0.06 $% 0.03 §% (0.05)
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Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,
2003 2004
Total assets, as previously reported $ 107,542 $ 187,166
Restatement adjustments:
Accounts receivable (84) (5,752)
Inventory 50 3,089
Inventory valuation 912) (731)
Deferred income taxes 830 363
Total adjustments (116) (3,031
Total assets, as restated $ 107,426 $ 184,135
—— | e ————
Total liabilities, as previously reported $ 18,148 $ 15,401
Restatement adjustments:
Deferred revenue - 214
Accrued liabilities - 16
Deferred income taxes 830 363
Total adjustments 830 593
Total liabilities, as restated $ 18,978 $ 15,994
Total stockholders’ equity, as restated $ 88,448 $ 168,141
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity, as restated $ 107,426 $ 184,135
— —
2003 2004
As As As As
reported restated reported restated
Balance Sheet
Accounts receivable $ 18,333 § 18,249 § 17,700 $ 11,949
Inventory 26,135 25,273 29,652 32,009
Deferred tax assets - 830 - 363
Total current assets 85,718 85,602 160,709 157,678
Total assets 107,542 107,426 187,166 184,135
Other accrued liabilities, including deferred revenue 933 933 789 1,019
Total current liabilities 18,148 18,148 15,401 15,631
Long term liabilities — deferred income taxes - 830 - 363
Total liabilities - 18,978 - 15,994
Accumulated deficit (17,185) (18,131) (16,286) (19,910)
Total stockholders’ equity 89,394 88,448 171,765 168,141
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 107,542 107,426 187,166 184,135
2003 2004
As As As As
Statement of Cash Flows reported restated reported restated
Net income (loss) $ 2,458 % 1,512 % 899 $ (1,779

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
operating activities:

Provisions for (recoveries of) inventory obsolescence 200
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (4,765)

Inventory 1,550

Other liabilities 338
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4. Business Combinations

On November 25, 2003 Carrier Access Corporation completed its acquisition of Paragon Networks International, Inc
("Paragon"). In exchange for all outstanding shares of Paragon capital stock, Carrier issued 1,334,521 shares of Carrier
Access common stock and $411,000 in cash to Paragon stockholders. All outstanding Paragon options and warrants were
cancelled as part of the transaction. Carrier Access accounted for the transaction using the purchase method of accounting.
The results of Paragon's operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since November 25, 2003.

The aggregate purchase price was approximately $20.6 million, consisting of cash and Carrier Access common stock
issued, valued using the average closing price as of November 25, 2003 and the two days before and after, and other costs
directly related to the acquisition as follows (in thousands):

Carrier Access stock issued to seller..
Estimated acquisition related costs.... .
TOtAl CONSIAETALION ....veviiieeeeeiieieiiiteceeteste e b ittt ettetaesaebesa et euastasseeessese et easantesessestaseesseasabessentessobe s bessasasbesses s est eEesensenssssssars et e sbeserssernneas

The following table summarizes the Company's initial estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition. The price paid was greater than the net assets and liabilities due the expected increase in future

revenues and cash flows from the Paragon products and customer base.
November 25, 2003

Current assets:

Cash and Cash SQUIVAIENLS ....cccoriiiiieieciiecinirer et s e st st es bbbt ere e anaase st b st ees sratetssessbebarebeeessansanenetseecne $ 1,446
ACCOUNES FECEIVADBLE ...viiiiiice ettt ettt e e et sb ettt s e e e eeebb e eb e che et s eaness s s st e s s ansassaasseere et sonmnssssesseetaanaesssarsestansnsstseenn 1,885
IOLVEIEOTIES .....viviveeeieiiss ittt iteeeteaee st eteereescatesaasas s sssest et e e ebsase ot eeseaeaseas s ke etesseseebe s e s ek aaueenebessessatanmrasbossosessennnsssasteesansarentenns 3,751
Other current assets. 214
FIXEA BSSLS ... ivivireeiet ettt et et ettt st e teeae b eee st e s e s ese b eses s et eRene et oA e ss s e b enn b e s eee oY et et et eRe s eRese et s ete e et ens st et enenserers et et saranerens 572
RET BSSEES .euveeuireriiiriireitesstereeteereensesbeessrsssassaesneaseestestsasveers st e eseeteassersrassestsasbesEees s easeereemseassensetneabnssssensenssenseseereereennessan 42
Accounts payable and aCCIUEA EXPEIISES .....civvmmriiiiitie it e et e bt r et ee etk (1,862)
Developed product tEChNOIOZY ....iccriri it e e ene e sa e tnse ettt e e s cnenens 2,500
BACKIOZ . 1veerreitee et sttt st e e etk a R b bR R bR R e Se b ek b R et R e ber bR e et ettt etrnn 200
CUSOMET TELATIONSHIPS ..vveviiicicetete sttt et e et e e ese st e ebe bbbt nene 5,100
GOOAWIIL Lottt s ettt e st s st e be s s e et e s e e eb et st e s e s s e b eaa s e s e st et etsasesase et esaesestetene b essssetsaansetssnetarerens 6,748
TOTAL COMSIACTALION ....veiiicceeeieiies ettt e ettt s b e e e be et et et e e b e ereete et ass st s ebesras s st stseeaeaeebensesseasessesbessesessannsrsaneorsesans $_ 203596

In connection with the acquisition, the Company acquired approximately $6.9 million of net deferred tax assets,
comprised of deferred tax assets related primarily to net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and deferred tax
liabilities related to the intangible assets acquired, which have been fully reduced by a valuation allowance.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $1.0 million to the employees of Paragon. Of this, approximately $670,000
was capitalized as part of the acquisition cost as it required no future performance, while approximately $330,000 related to
retention bonuses which were expensed in 2003 as the service obligations were completed. The Company also incurred
approximately $350,000 of direct acquisition costs that were paid in 2004,

The amount allocated to developed product technology, backlog and customer relationships were determined by an
appraisal using established valuation techniques in the high-technology communications industry.

The goodwill acquired in connection with the acquisition is not subject to amortization. Instead, it will be subject to
periodic (at least annual) tests for impairment (see note 1(h)). The acquired intangible assets with definite lives are subject to
tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may exist, and are being
amortized over their useful lives as follows:

Developed product TECRNOIOZY .. c.c.oiiiiiii ittt bttt e bbb aase ek e he e b s b et et erarenrae s essbaes 5 Years
BACKIOE ...ttt ettt ea et et R R bt oA b eSS R R b e84 R k4R At ba b E et s b re st tas 3 Months
CUSLOMET REIATOMSNIPS ...t ettt bt b b b enen et 7 Years

The following unaudited pro forma financial statements have been prepared to give effect to the acquisition of Paragon
Networks International, Inc. These pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements were prepared as if the
acquisition had been completed as of January 1, 2002 and as of January 1, 2003 for purposes of the statement of operations.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

For the Twelve Months
Ended December 31,
2002 2003
(In thousands, except
per share data)
As restated As restated
............................................................................................................................................................ $ 63,231 $ 76,283

Net revenue

Cost of goods sold 40,872 43.084
GTOSS PIOTT . cotse ettt et et et b et h e bbbtk ca s e e et e e st aeamebnacnes 22,359 33,199

NEE INCOME (F0SS) 11rvverriareniereretreris et ettt ses bt s e as b saes s aa o e s bt ea e bt £ senab s bs e nar b s s st aab s en e (60,239 (81)
Income (loss) per share

BASIC vttt ettt b bR ke R bR A ekt R ek ke AR b ek et R kbbbt bar ekt nnens 3 2.31) $ 00

DHIULEA (ot h bbb et e ettt $ (2.31) Y .00

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

BAASIC oo e e R Rt 26,085 26,150
DHIIIEA ittt et 26,089 27,880

In 2004, the Company finalized its purchase price accounting related to a pre-acquisition contingency that existed at the
time of the acquisition, in accordance with SFAS No. 38, Preacquisition Contingencies. The contingency was related to
potential tax liabilities in a foreign jurisdiction. See note 12 for further discussion. Because the information was not available
as of the November 2003 purchase date or at the time the Company filed its 2003 annual report on Form 10-K, an amount
could not be estimated that could be used for purposes of the Company's initial purchase price allocation. In December 2003,
the Company began the effort to evaluate and estimate the fair value of the contingency, including gathering all relevant
information regarding the applicable tax rates and regulations in the foreign jurisdictions. The Company's determination was
completed in November 2004. In accordance with that final determination, in the fourth quarter of 2004 the Company
recorded an $840,000 liability with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill. As discussed in note 12, future adjustments to
the contingent liability will be recorded in the statement of operations in the period of the adjustment.

5. Inventory

The components of inventory as of December 31 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

2003 2004
As Restated  As Restated
RAW IBLETTIAIS .1ttt et e sttt sttt ebe et s et e st e s s et e s es b ean et aeteesese b e e r et s tamaer bt st tete et er e s e eeenna, $ 26916 $ 31,276
WV ORI PIOCESS 111ttt ettt ere st ettt e e e s bbb e e bbbt e bbb ket s ek chn s a ke b ek ek s bbbk sncnan s ens t1 16
FANISHEA OOAS ...t ieniiiiiieiiietn ettt s et ee b e aaee s ek s eeeb et s b b st bbb ab st b b aeeneraberentas 3,059 7,269
RESEIVE fOT ODSOIESCEIICE o.nviviviievitrecee ettt a e n et sttt s bt a e et et et saessneansas et esasereseassaatenes (6,713) (6.552)

$_ 25273 $ 32,009

6. Property and Equipment

On October 13, 2004, the Company purchased the building and land of its 5395 Pearl Parkway headquarters in Boulder,
Colorado for approximately $7.1 million. The value of the building is classified as "real property". Leasehold improvements
related to the property were reclassified to real property and are being depreciated over the lesser of their useful life or the
life of the building. An amount of $604,000 related to deferred rent that was recorded during the periods when the building
was leased was recorded as a reduction to the cost of the building.

Property and equipment as of December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands):

2003 2004
Machinery and software (5 and 3 years reSpeCctiVely) ... e $ 19206 § 21316
Real Property (30 YEAIS) ...ttt et e et 265 7,701
Fumniture, fIXtUres and 0ther (7 YEAIS) .. ieriricrirereeerecerraeterss et ssa st sas e eastessas s ese st ssasenssassesstnsanssnrsens 823 821
Leasehold improvements (shorter of 7 years or life 0f [€ase)........ccooiiovicciiiinincccrc e, 2,256 986
22,550 30,824
Less accumulated depreciation and amOITIZATION ......c.ccreiiirierneriecieiener oo csereeensssessesssee st see s eserens (15.538) (18.585)

3 7.012 % 12,239

7. Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142. During the third quarter of 2002, the Company's
analysis of the carrying amount of goodwill versus and fair value showed that the carrying value of goodwill exceeded its fair
value due to reduced revenue and cash flow forecasts. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of 39 million
against its goodwill. During 2004, the Company performed an analysis during the third quarter of the carrying amount of its
goodwill and noted that no impairment was necessary.

51




Amortization expense for year ended December 31, 2004 was $1,268,714. Estimated amortization expense for the next
five years is as follows:

For Years Ended December 31,

005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands)
$1,229 $1,229 $1,229 $1,187 $729
Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
2003 2004
Developed Technology (5 years) $ 2,500
Customer Relationships (7 years) 5,100

Customer Backlog (3 months)...c.ccocccrrniiicncnnninncnne 200

Trademarks & Patents (17 years) 192
7,954 7,992
Less accumulated amMOTHIZATION ......oivvvriiveiirieir st etr e reeriareereetbeetrsaseeasseseestseseassessaesasantessseasesessessesnseseens (262) (1.580)

§ 7692 § 6412

8. Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31 (in thousands) consists of the following:

U.S. Taxes 2002 2003 2004
Current .......... . et r st b s n et tn et et rsantens s rensnsrs e B (0,217) 8 (89) 8 (46)
Deferred ..o 7,319 — —
U.S. Income tax eXpense (DENETIL) .ot et sens et s § 1102 $ (89) §_(46)
Foreign Taxes 2002 2003 2004
CUITENME oottt b cae bt et b et eaes s R st R R Rt s bR bR bbb m et $ — 8§ — § 34
Deferred ..o e — — —
Foreign Income tax expense (benefit) .. . 3 — $ = $ 34

Total Income tax eXpense (DERETIL).......ccocuiiiiiiiiiereie et ettt as e e nens s et eaceenos § 1102 § (89) $_(12)

A reconciliation of expected income tax expense (benefit) calculated by applying the statutory Federal tax rate to actual
income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31 is as follows (in thousands):

2002 2003 2004
As restated As restated
Expected income tax expense (Benefit) ... oo $ (18,044) § 498 § (627)
State income taxes, net of federal taxes . (1,195) 40 (26)
Change in valuation AlIOWENCE.........ccuiirerr ettt ere s b b e e st ceen e reae b eeneanen 17,109 298 2,335
Non-deductible goodWill ... s 2,497 — —
Exercise of non-qualified stock options (24) (1,153) (2,965)
Change in estimated effective State taX TALE «.....c.cceovirrreccrer e et es — — 586
OMRET, N cveiieciee ettt errerte s b e st eaaasbs e tees b e st saanaebsarsessceseamaasReertessbannaabesssesseseeernsasarssassrsses 759 228 685
Actual income tax eXpense (DENEIIt).........cciveiieiieiiere e es st sr et ss e e $_ 1102 § (89) $ (12)

The tax effects of significant temporary differences that result in deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as
follows (in thousands):

2003 2004

Deferred tax assets: As restated  As restated
Allowance for doubtful 2cCoUNts aNd FEMIIMS ....ov..cviivevieriieirceeee e et s srer e e bassseesenesaenes $ 332§ 94
Inventory reserves . 3,865 2,547
RESITUCIUIINE TESEIVE ..oetiiceereuticriecarereamntseacsceceeteensetaeneseecacecassssetsceeseastssaesasecseusassessincecesansnseseeseneacsenesssessvececs 202 95
COMPENSATION ACCTUALS 11vvvveircvenrrecrscrsssssbs et tss e tsssses s ss s s snss s e tssn s se s s e s essssss st s anssanasnssnssbassanssnsnsar s 1,480 438
Goodwill 2,352 2,086
Net operating 1058 CAITYTOIrWEATAS .....cooviiiiii b s renae 14,187 16,549
Research and experimentation CTEHIt. ..ottt 4,306 5,129
Property and Equipment — 224
OHRET vttt st e s b ettt st b et e bbb tes s ba b s b s sS4 s eae et b ebas e84 R e R s R ea e oA e R E e e R oAb eA s st saebaber et et et ane s 595 609
UNEAIMEA IMCOME .ottt tetet bt et ee e b et a e stk s ke eae s b s et e b e b e b anteh e ek eabe s eseosaseebassesbeerereane — 795
Gross deferred tax assets 27,319 28,566
Less: ValUAtion @lOWEIICE .......oviveerieieier ettt te e s et e e s e ae s e ebesbenb e e essaeebess st e ebanbenseasasassenrensases (23.817) (26,152
Total dEErTed INCOME LAX @SSEES 1uvuvevrreriririresicsrerernsireesecsresasesesssstasesssssesessssresesssesssessssaerasaessscessssnssstesssesasens $ 3502 3 2,414

Deferred tax liabilities:




Property and eQUIPIMENT. ..ot etk en s (167) —

Paragon identifiable intangibles... (3,204) (2,296)

OthEr e _(131) (118)

Total deferred income tax liabilities $ (3502 § (2414

Net defErred INCOME TAX SSELS. ..euivivivirererieirirsveeiessreriesistessssreresssesssesestetseastsessesssseamssstesssessteenssssieenesssereessessansseerens 3 — § —
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows, in thousands:

2003 2004

As restated As restated

CUITEIE ASSELS 1.uveeevirieveaterssees it ereesetesesresessesesseesrasessassssesessesseseasasesss s et sasesbeassseetsnsasasserassasseerestesssnsssaseerersesestansan $ 830 $ 363

Current labilities .....ocoeevvevveiceeecceeeren — —

Net current deferred tax assets (HabIHEs) . oo et ese e sveesns 8 830 $ 363

INON-CUITENT ASSELS....veviviivivieereeisirieresessesetrtessesesesbaneseses bt etassesessbesasasesseses s senesesbetesenssestasssusseateseasasstenessarsssseseanss $ 2,672 $ 2,051

(3.502) (2.419)

3 (830) § _ (363)

In 2003, the Company recorded approximately $6.9 million of net deferred tax assets in connection with the acquisition
of Paragon including $9.1 million related to net operating loss carryforwards and $3.0 million of deferred tax liabilities
associated with acquired intangible assets. Due to the uncertainty regarding the realization of these net deferred tax assets at
the acquisition date, the Company recorded a valuation allowance against the entire amount. In 2004, the Company revised
the components of the net deferred tax assets acquired in the Paragon acquisition. These revisions included the identification
of approximately $0.8 million of research and experimentation credits and adjustments to the state net operating
carryforwards. As a result, in 2004 the Company recorded an additional $0.5 million of net deferred tax assets related to the
acquisition of Paragon, which has been completely reduced by an increase in the valuation allowance associated with the
acquisition.

The Company incurred a $35.5 miition net operating loss for the period ending December 31, 2002. A portion of this
operating loss was carried back to obtain a refund of prior tax paid. Accordingly, the Company received an income tax refund
of approximately $7.0 million in 2003. The Company incurred a $4.8 million net operating loss for the period ending
December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has approximately $43.5 million of remaining net operating
losses from the current and prior years for Federal tax purposes. Of this, $23.9 million is from the Paragon acquisition, and
$19.6 million is related to Carrier Access operations. With respect to the net operating loss carryforwards from Paragon, $5.1
million may be used to offset consolidated taxable income in 2005. The remaining $17.5 million is restricted to $1.4 million
per year by section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The $19.6 million of net operating loss carryforwards related to
Carrier Access operations has no limitations as to its annual usage. However, included in the $19.6 million Carrier Access
operations federal net operating loss carryforward is an $11.2 million tax benefit for the exercise of employee non-qualified
stock options in 2002, 2003, and 2004. The excess of tax benefits realized from such exercises over the amount of stock
compensation expense recorded in the Company's financial statements is generally reflected as an increase to additional paid-
in capital.

As of December 31, 2004, net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $35.1 million for state tax purposes may be
carried forward to offset future taxable income depending on state legislative restrictions. As of December 31, 2003 the state
net operating loss carryforward was $58.9 million. The $23.8 million decrease is the result of the Company reassessing the
proper state net operating loss carryforwards and removing acquired Paragon state net operating losses generated in states
where a consolidated or combined state tax return is not allowed. The Company concluded these state operating loss
carryforwards might never be utilized.

At December 31, 2003 the Company has a research and experimentation credit carryforward of approximately $4.3
million. At December 31, 2004, the Company has research and experimentation credit carryforward of approximately $5.1
million that will begin to expire in the year 2006, if not utilized. The $0.8 million increase from 2003, represents the
inclusion of the research and experimentation credit that was acquired in the Paragon acquisition.

In 2002, the Company analyzed the sources and the expected reversal periods of its deferred tax assets, and determined
that they did not meet the realization criteria under generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, the Company has
established a valuation allowance of $23.8 million and $26.2 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2004 respectively. In the
future, should management conclude that these deferred tax assets are, at least in part, realizable, the valuation allowance will
be reversed to the extent of such realization. In general the reversal of the valuation allowance, if any, would be recognized
as a deferred income tax benefit in the statement of operations. However, the valuation allowance at December 31, 2004
includes a reserve established at the time of the Paragon acquisition related to net deferred tax assets acquired of
approximately $6.9 million. Should the Company reverse the valuation allowance with respect to the acquired net deferred
tax assets, it will be reflected as a decrease in the carrying amount of acquired goodwill, Also included in the valuation
allowance is a $3.9 million reserve to offset the federal tax benefit resulting from certain exercises of employee non-qualified
stock options. This benefit is properly included as part of the net operating loss carryforward. To the extent, the valuation
allowance is reversed related to these stock based compensation benefits, it will be reflected as an increase to additional paid
in capital.
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9. Stock Options

Pursuant to the Company's 1998 stock option plan (the "Plan"), a committee appointed by the Company's Board of
Directors may grant incentive and nonqualified options to employees, consultants and directors. The Plan currently
authorizes the grant of options to purchase up to 8,092,514 shares of authorized common stock. Incentive stock options have
a ten-year term and non-qualified stock options have a five-year term. A majority of the stock options vest 25% on the first
anniversary date of the grant and 6.25% each quarter thereafter, with the remaining stock options vesting 100% four years
from the grant date. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had outstanding options to purchase 2,781,159 shares of
common stock, and had options to purchase 1,837,400 shares of common stock available to grant.

The following summarizes stock option activity under the Plan:

Weighted
Shares Average
Under Option  Exercise Price
Options outstanding at December 31, 2001 ......ccovivciiiiniiicereerer et crese s 2,996,580 $ 905
GIANTEA ©1iviivi ettt ctest et e e bt s s ettt e s teebeste s te b et eaaeebe b e ete st e aaaneebeases s ek s taeae e ess et e eaasne b asssseshanesseasssratbeanesnans 2,534,423 1.94
EXEICISEA .ottt ettt bt (30,546) 0.46
Forfeited. ... (1.911,062) 6.69
Options outstanding at December 31, 2002 ....ccccooiiiiiiici e 3,589,395 5.36
GITANTEA ..eceeeiiieriiciiet e eeee ettt e ereeesess s ee s e eesovasaaseeseebesssassasssebsesteasaasessssoesertenssseeobeotaenbestsentoestecnnesbasreses 2,028,500 4.50
Exercised ..ocooveevvveeeneninann. (482,190) 3.32
Forfeited and canceled................. e (1.336.082) 5.74
Options outstanding at December 31, 2003 ..................... 3,799,623 5.03
Granted .....coooovoonccomiinccneees e 1,254,700 10.26
Exercised ...... s (1,065,884) 3.01
Forfeited and canceled .......cooevevrcceeinenes (1.207.280) 9.34
Options outstanding at December 31, 2004 .............. 2,781,159 6.29
Options available for grant at December 31,2004 .... 1,837,400
Options exercisable at December 31,2002 ................ 1,171,654 9.21
Options exercisable at December 31, 2003 ..o 1,197,602 6.18
Options exercisable at December 31, 2004 ... ..o e res e reassass s r e vt ssanssenan 918,045 $ 559
The following summarizes information about outstanding options at December 31, 2004:
Options Qutstanding
Weighted-average Options Exercisable
Number of Remaining Number of

options contractual life Weighted-average options Weighted-average

Range of exercise prices outstanding (in vears) Exercise price exercisable Exercise price
$0.00 — 12.00 2,357,307 3.1 $ 473 791,406 $ 3.72
12.00 — 24.00 403,902 35 13.79 106,689 13.12
24.00 — 36.00 4,500 37 33.77 4,500 33.77
36.00 —48.00 12,000 1.3 37.97 12,000 37.97
$48.00 — 60.00 3.450 05 51.63 3.450 51.63
2,781,159 3.1 6.29 918,045 5.59

As discussed in Note 1, the Company applies APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for stock options issued to
employees and directors. As a result, for options issued with exercise prices below the fair value on the date of grant, the
Company recorded deferred compensation expense totaling approximately $1,227,000 for options granted during the year
ended December 31, 1997, and $1,921,000 for options granted during the year ended December 31, 1998. Such deferred
compensation expense was amortized to operations over the forty-eight month option vesting period.

Beginning August 20, 2001, the Company offered eligible employees who held stock options with a price greater than or
equal to $10.00 per share under the Plan the opportunity to exchange certain outstanding options to purchase shares of
Carrier Access common stock for new options granted on March 20, 2002. The options issued on March 20, 2002 had strike
prices equal to the fair value of the underlying stock on that date. Eligible employees who participated in the option exchange
received a number of shares subject to new options for every share subject to the options tendered which varied according to
the most recent performance rating received by the employee under the Company's performance rating system. Options to
purchase a total of 1,781,619 shares with an aggregate exercise price of $4.6 million as of September 18, 2001 were
exchanged pursuant to the offer.

In addition to options issued to employees and directors, the Company issued options to purchase 62,500 shares of
common stock to consultants for services during the year ended December 31, 2001. These options have exercise prices from
$2.80 to $6.50 per share, are exercisable at the date of grant and expire at various dates from January 2, 2006 to October 16,
2006. As of December 31, 2004 none of these options have been exercised.
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In 2003, the Company issued options to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock to consultants for services during the
year. These options had an exercise price of $0.77 per share and were immediately exercisable. The fair market value of
these options was determined to be $24,000 and was recognized in general and administrative expense. The fair value was
calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 3.0%,
contractual lives of five years; no dividend yield; and 111% volatility. These options were exercised on April 11, 2003.

10. Significant Customers, Suppliers and Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company recognized revenue from the following significant customers and end-users for the years ended December
31 (in thousands):

Company 2002 2003 2004
As restated As restated
A e e et ab st a e e st et a4 e R be bt s st Reete bR eete b eae oSt eR et e s s es e et e b ane et e b et b enesae et ereserernans $ 2934 § 10,549 § 9,578
BB ettt es et bttt b e a et et b e b et b e e te e A S Re b st et R e b e e bt et e eaneba s 6,766 7,665 6,698
C et ettt b4 e b ket e 1 b e ekt s SR b e e A€ a bbbkt e Sa b b es e ke re e b s bt e e ere b enes 8,212 6,970 6,435
977 6,925 6,253
0 1,109 19,028

Although the Company generally uses standard parts and components for its products, many key components are
purchased from sole or single source vendors for which alternative sources may not currently be available. The identification
and utilization of new suppliers for such items could adversely impact the Company's future operating results.

The Company is exposed to potential concentrations of credit risk from its accounts receivable with its various customers
and receivables are concentrated among customers in the telecommunications industry. To reduce this risk, the Company has
a policy of assessing the creditworthiness of its customers and monitors the aging of its accounts receivable for potential
uncollectible accounts. An allowance is recorded for estimated losses from writeoffs of uncollectible accounts. Bad debt
recoveries were $289,000 in 2004 and $3.1 million in 2003. In 2002, a number of our customers filed for bankruptcy and one
of our distributors was experiencing financial difficulties which caused a significant amount of accounts receivables to
become delinquent. In 2003, we were able to recover most of the delinquent receivables and part of the accounts receivable
related to the bankruptcies.

11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a defined contribution employee benefit plan (the "401(k) Plan") under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code that is available to all employees who meet the 401(k) Plan's eligibility requirements. Employees may
confribute up to the maximum limits allowed by the Internal Revenue Code. At the beginning of 2001, the Company began
matching 50% of the employee's pre-tax contributions, up to 6% of each participating employee's annual salary. Effective
January 1, 2003, this matching contribution was suspended. Contributions to the 401(k) Plan by the Company totaled
$650,000, $0 and $0, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office space under various noncancelable-operating leases that expire through 2007. Future
obligations under these leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

The Company records rent expense under noncancelable operating leases using the straight-line method after
consideration of increases in rental payments over the lease term, and records the difference between actual payments and
rent expense as deferred rent concessions.

The Company has placed noncancelable purchase orders for $11.7 million of inventory from certain of its vendors for
delivery in 2005. These orders are generally placed up to 4 months in advance based on the lead time of the inventory.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 totaled $1.9 million, and $1.6 million and $1.7
million respectively.

On December 28, 2001, SCI, Inc., a contract manufacturer, filed a breach of contract claim for $4.5 million against the
Company in Alabama Circuit Court based on an inventory-purchasing dispute. On September 18, 2002, this claim was settled
and the Company entered into a manufacturing arrangement for the Broadmore product.
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On August 16, 2002, SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Colorado ("SMTC") filed a breach of contract claim and
related claims against the Company in District Court, County of Adams, Colorado. The claim was based on an inventory-
purchasing dispute and SMTC sought damages of $13.4 million. On October 17, 2002, the Company filed a breach of
contract counterclaim and other related counterclaims in District Court, County of Adams, Colorado for $1.0 million. On
December 5, 2002, the Company amended its counterclaim to seek damages of $27.0 million. The Company settled the
SMTC lawsuit in September 2004 and as a result recorded a charge for the quarter ending September 30, 2004, in the amount
of $2.1 million to reflect the settlement amount and legal expenses associated with the settlement.

In November of 2003, the Company acquired Paragon. In connection with the acquisition, the Company assumed
liabilities for value-added taxes and employee payroll taxes that may be payable to certain foreign taxing authorities. The
estimated fair value of value-added taxes, employee payroll taxes and associated interest and penalties assumed is estimated
to be approximately $840,000. Estimated employee payroll taxes, value-added taxes, and interest and penalties on unremitted
balances incurred after the acquisition dates have been accrued and expensed. Interest and penalties accrued and expensed in
2004 related to preacquisition value-added taxes and employee payroll taxes was approximately $80,000. In addition, the
Company continued to incur value-added taxes and employee payroll taxes, and related penalties and interest during 2004
that were accrued and expensed which totaled approximately $263,000. The total amount of the contingent liability as of
December 31, 2004 was approximately $1.2 million. It is reasonably possible that the Company's estimates will differ from
the amounts ultimately paid to settle this liability. Adjustments to the Company's estimates or to what is ultimately paid to
taxing authorities in future periods will be included in earnings of the period in which the adjustment is determined.

Beginning on June 3, 2005, three purported shareholder class action lawsuits were filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Colorado against Carrier Access Corporation and certain of our officers and directors. The cases,
captioned Croker v. Carrier Access Corporation, et al., Case No. 05-cv-1011-LTB; Chisman v. Carrier Access Corporation,
et al., Case No. 05-cv-1078-REB, and Sved v. Carrier Access Corporation, et al., Case No. 05-cv-1280-EWN, have been
consolidated and are purportedly brought on behalf of those who purchased our publicly traded securities between October
21, 2003 and May 20, 2005. Plaintiffs allege that defendants made false and misleading statements, purport to assert claims
for violations of the federal securities laws, and seek unspecified compensatory damages and other relief. The complaints are
based upon allegations of wrongdoing in connection with our announcement of our intention to restate previously issued
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 and certain interim periods in each of the years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003.

Beginning on June 13, 2005, three purported shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Colorado, against various of our officers and directors and naming Carrier Access as a nominal
defendant. The cases are captioned Kenney v. Koenig, et al., Case No. 05-cv-1074-PSF, Chaitman v. Koenig, et al., Case No.
05-cv-1095-LTB and West Coast Management and Capital, LLC v. Koenig {sic}, et al. Case No. 05-cv-1134-RPM. These
actions are expected to be consolidated in August 2005. The complaints include claims for breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of
control, waste of corporate assets, mismanagement and unjust enrichment; seek compensatory damages, disgorgement, and
other relief; and are based on essentially the same allegations as the class actions described in the preceding paragraph.

Management believes that the claims in the class action are without merit. Because these lawsuits are at a very
preliminary stage, management cannot at this time determine the probability or reasonably estimate a range of loss, if any,
Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, it could have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial position and
results of operations for the period in which such outcome occurred.

13, Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

The quarterly financial information has been restated to include a number of adjustments that impact previously reported
revenue, cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expense. See note (3) for additional information.

The following information summarizes selected quarterly financial information for the two years ended December 31,
2004 (in thousands, except per share data).
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March 31, 2004 June 30, 2004 September 30,2004 December 31,2004
As As As As As As As As
reported restated reported restated reported restated reported restated
NEt IEVENUE......cvver it b $ 28546 $ 28,538 $ 30,845 $ 29,549 § 21,561 $ 21,284 § 20,423 § 16,122
Costof sales....ocrniinnene 15612 15.448 16,894 16,274 13,024 12,625 13,071 11,034
Gross profit.... 12,934 13,090 13,951 13,275 8,537 8,659 7,352 5,088
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative and
OtHET et 6,464 6,467 6,142 6,148 7,755 7,760 6,119 6,121
Research and development. 3.970 3.970 4,692 4,692 5230 5.230 4,302 4,302
Income (loss) from operations.... 2,500 2,653 3,117 2,435 (4,448) (4,331) (3,069) (5,335)
Other income, Net ... 219 219 491 491 621 621 1,456 1,456
Income (loss) before income taxes............ 2,719 2,872 3,608 2,926 (3,827) (3,710) (1,613) (3,879
Income tax expense (benefit) ..o 15 15 52 52 — — 79) a9
Net income (l0S8)....cccvrrmrirecernsirernennennn § 2704 § 2857 $ 355 § 2874 § (3,827 § (3710) £ (1.534) 3.(3.800)
Income (loss) per share:
BaSIC i $0.09 $0.10 $0.11 $0.09 $(0.11) $(0.11) $(0.04) $(0.11)
Diluted oo $0.09 $0.09 $0.10 $0.08 $(0.11) $(0.11) $(0.04) 3010
March 31, 2003 June 30, 2003 September 30, 2003 December 31, 2003
As As As As As As As As
reported restated reported restated reported restated reported restated
Net revenue $ 11,203 § 11,173 8§ 12,156 & 12,057 § 15927 § 14,685 § 23270 § 24,557
Cost of sales. . 6,154 6,448 6,687 7279 9.169 8.156 13,214 14,203
Gross profite.c e 5,049 4,725 5,469 4,778 6,758 6,529 10,056 10,354
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative and
OFRET oottt 2,497 2,497 2,895 2,895 3,608 3,608 5,315 5,315
Research and development.....c......ccccvennnce. 2,608 2,608 2,541 2.541 2.534 2.534 3318 3318
Income (loss) from operations.........cc....... (56) (380) 34 (658) 616 387 1,423 1,721
Other iNCOMe, NEt.......cciivinrcr it 84 84 88 88 86 86 95 95
Income (loss) before income taxes............ 28 (296) 122 (570) 702 473 1,517 1,816
Income tax expense (benefit) ... 89) 89 — — — — — —
Net income (1088).vvenerinineriecerneenennenn. $ 117 § Q207 § 122 8 (5700 $ 702 0§ 473 0§ 1517 § 1,816
Income (loss) per share:
BASIC cevcverrrer e e s $ 000 § (001 S 0.00 $ (0.02) S 0.03 % 002 § 006 § 0.07
DHULEd ..o $§ 000 § (001) S§ 0.00 § (0.02) $ 003 $ 002 $ 005 § 0.07
14. Valuation and qualifying accounts (in thousands)
Additions
Balance at (Reductions) Balance at
Beginning Charged to Recoveries End of
As Restated of Period Operations (Write-offs) Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns:
Year Ended:
December 31, 2002 ...ttt $ 1,332 5,557 (3.818) $ 3,071
December 31, 2003 ...t 3 3.071 (2,199) ) $ 871
December 31, 2004 ..ot $ 871 (289) (223) § 359
Inventory obsolescence reserve:
Year Ended:
December 31, 2002......coiiiiieecccre e $ 3116 3,619 5700 $_ 6,165
December 31, 2003 ... et $ 6,165 1,112 (564) §_ 6,713
December 31,2004 ... 3 6,713 1,152 (1,313 $ 6,552
Valuation Allowance for deferred tax assets:
Year Ended:
December 31, 2002 ..ottt e $ — 17,109 — $ 17,109
December 31, 2003 it 3 17,109 (726) 7434 § 23817
December 31, 2004 . ... $ 23,817 2,335 — $ 26,152

* 2002 write-offs include $10,000 that was taken directly to the expense account.

* 2003 recoveries of bad debts of $3,085 include $886 related to amounts previously written off.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None,

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K/ A, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the end
of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K/ A because of the material weaknesses in internal control
over financial reporting discussed below.

(b) Management's annual report on internal control over financial reporting. Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentation. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness, as defined under standards established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's
(PCAOB) Auditing Standard No. 2, is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that results in a more
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or
detected in a timely manner by management or by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004.
Management based its assessment on the criteria established in a report entitled Internal Contro! -- Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its assessment, management
concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, because of
the following material weaknesses:

¢  Management did not comply with our established policies and procedures requiring a review of our consolidated
statement of cash flows. This failure to comply with established policies and procedures resulted in material
misstatements in our December 31, 2004 consolidated statement of cash flows. Specifically, there were material
misstatements in cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from investing activities. These misstatements
were corrected prior to our original filing of our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

*  We did not have effective policies and procedures to evaluate customer arrangements for the appropriate application
of revenue recognition criteria as contemplated by generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. This
deficiency resulted in material misstatements to our financial statements, specifically the overstatement of revenue,
costs of sales, and accounts receivable, and the understatement of inventory in our previously filed consolidated
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for the interim periods
contained therein. Accordingly, we have restated such consolidated financial statements to reflect the correction of
these errors.

*  We did not have effective policies and procedures over accounting for our inventory reserves to prevent the write up
of inventory once it had been written down in a previous fiscal accounting period. This deficiency resulted in
material misstatements of inventory and cost of sales in our previously filed consolidated financial statements as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for the interim periods contained therein. Accordingly,
we have restated such consolidated financial statements to reflect the correction of these errors.

¢  We lacked the depth of personnel with sufficient technical accounting expertise to identify and account for complex
transactions in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. This deficiency contributed to
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the aforementioned misstatements and resulted in there being more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit report on management's assessment
of our internal control over financial reporting, which is filed below.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There was no change in our internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2004 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

(d) Remediation of weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. Subsequent to December 31, 2004, we have
implemented, or plan to implement, the specific measures described below to remediate the material weaknesses
described above.

In respect to the material weakness in the consolidated statement of cash flows discussed in Item 9A(b) above, in 2005,
we will require the Chief Financial Officer to monitor the compliance with our established policy which provides for a
review of the statement of cash flows by a technically competent individual.

We are in the process of establishing controls to remediate the material weakness in internal controls relating to
accounting for revenue recognition. A review by a technically qualified person will be performed on all customer
arrangements for the purpose of evaluating the appropriate application of the revenue recognition criteria as contemplated by
generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.

To address the material weakness in controls over accounting for inventory reserves, in 2005, we designed an additional
policy which requires a review of reserve activity by a qualified individual.

We are in the process of addressing the material weakness related to the lack of depth of personnel with sufficient
technical accounting expertise. In this regard, in 2005, we hired a new Chief Financial Officer and plan to establish a formal
process for the periodic technical training of the financial and sales personnel.

The aforementioned material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until new processes are fully implemented,
operate for a period of time and are tested and we conclude that they are operating effectively. We anticipate that we will
report in our Quarterly Report on Forms 10-Q for the first and second quarters of 2005 that material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting continue to exist and that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective
as of March 31, 2005 and June 30, 2005.

(e) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Carrier Access Corporation:

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting {Item 9A(b)), that Carrier Access Corporation {the Company) did not maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, because of the effect of the material weaknesses identified
in management's assessment, based on criteria established in Internal Control -- Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
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receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The
following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management's assessment:

¢ Management did not comply with established Company policies and procedures requiring a review of the
Company's consolidated statement of cash flows. This failure to comply with established policies and procedures
resulted in material misstatements in the Company's December 31, 2004 consolidated statement of cash flows.
Specifically, there were material misstatements in cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from
investing activities.

¢ The Company did not have effective policies and procedures to evaluate customer arrangements for the appropriate
application of revenue recognition criteria as contemplated by generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.
This deficiency resulted in material misstatements to the Company's financial statements, specifically the
overstatement of revenue, costs of sales, and accounts receivable, and the understatement of inventory in the
Company's previously filed consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2004, and for the interim periods contained therein. Accordingly, the Company has restated such consolidated
financial statements to reflect the correction of these errors.

* The Company did not have effective policies and procedures over accounting for its inventory reserves to prevent
the write up of inventory once it had been written down in a previous fiscal accounting period. This deficiency
resulted in material misstatements of inventory and cost of sales in the Company's previously filed consolidated
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for the interim periods
contained therein. Accordingly, the Company has restated such consolidated financial statements to reflect the
correction of these errors.

*  The Company lacked the depth of personnel with sufficient technical accounting expertise to identify and account
for complex transactions in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. This deficiency
contributed to the aforementioned misstatements and resulted in there being more than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2004. The material weaknesses described above were considered in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2004 consolidated financial statements, and this report
does not affect our report dated March 21, 2005, except as to notes 3 and 12, which are as of August 1, 2005, which
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control --
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in
our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the
control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on criteria established in Internal Control -- Integrated Framework issued by the Commitice of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

KPMG LLP
Boulder, Colorado
August 1, 2005
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The members of our Board of Directors as of March 14, 20035 are as follows:

Name Age Principal Occupation

Roger L. Koenig 51 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Nancy Pierce 47 Corporate Development Officer, Former Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
John W. Barmnett, Jr. 64 Director

David R. Laube 57 Director

Mark A. Floyd 49 Director

Thomas C. Lamming 51 Director

Mr. Koenig has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board since our formation in
September 1992. Prior to co-founding Carrier Access, Mr. Koenig served as President of Koenig Communications Inc., an
equipment systems integration and consulting firm in San Jose, California, from 1987 to 1992. Prior to founding Koenig
Communications, Mr. Koenig held a number of positions with IBM/ROLM Europe, a telecommunications equipment
manufacturer, including Engineering Section Manager for Europe. Mr. Koenig received a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from
Michigan State University and an M.S. in Engineering Management from Stanford University.

Ms. Pierce has served as our Corporate Development Officer since April 2000 and has been a Director and Secretary
since our incorporation in September 1992. From November 2004 to June 2005, Ms. Pierce also served as our interim Chief
Financial Officer. Ms. Pierce previously served as our Corporate Controller, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of
Finance and Administration and Treasurer from September 1992 through April of 2000. Prior to co-founding Carrier Access,
Ms. Pierce served as the Controller of Koenig Communications Inc., an equipment and systems integration and consulting
firm and held positions at IBM Corporation and ROLM Corporation. Ms. Pierce earned a B.S. degree from Colorado State
University and an M.B.A. from California State University, Chico. In addition, Ms. Pierce holds an honorary doctorate
degree in Commercial Science from St. Thomas Aquinas University.

Mr. Barnett has served as our Director since December 1998. Mr. Barnett is a telecommunications consultant and private
investor. Mr. Barnett previously served as a Senior Executive of McLeod USA from April 2000 through December 2001. Mr.
Barnett was President of the Wholesale Services division of MCI WorldCom, Inc. from February 1997 through March 2000
and was President of WorldCom International, Inc., from June 1996 through February 1997. From January 1995 until June
1996, Mr. Barnett served as Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing of Williams Communications Company. From
July 1993 until January 1995, Mr. Barnett was President of WilTel International, a division of WilTel Network Services, a
predecessor of WorldCom, Inc. Mr. Barnett has also served as a Director of the Competitive Telecommunications
Association, America's Carriers Telecommunication Association, the Multimedia Telecommunications Association, and
several privately held corporations. Mr. Barnett received a B.A. in Political Science from Tulane University.

Mr. Laube has served as our Director since January 2001. Mr. Laube is currently Executive in Residence for the
Business School at the University of Colorado at Denver. He is also active in consulting in the fields of telecommunication
and information technology. Mr. Laube served in several Senior Finance and Information Technology positions at US West
from 1983 until 2000, the latest position being Vice President and Chief Information Officer. Prior to 1983, Mr. Laube was
Vice President of Finance and Information Systems for the digital telephone division of Harris Corporation. Mr. Laube is a
director of Net.com, a maker of telecommunications equipment. Mr. Laube received a B.A. in Finance from the University of
Washington and holds an M.B.A. from the Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Laube is also
a Certified Public Accountant and was appointed by Colorado Governor Bill Owens as a commissioner for the Colorado
Commission on Science and Technology.

Mr. Floyd has served as our Director since June 2001. Mr. Floyd is currently President and Chief Executive Officer of
Entrisphere, Inc., a telecommunications company, a position he has held since August of 2002, Mr. Floyd was the President
and Chief Executive Officer of Siemens ICN, Inc. from April 2001 until January 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Floyd co-founded
Efficient Networks, Inc., a publicly held company, in June 1993 and served as President, Chief Executive Officer and a
Director of Efficient Networks, Inc. from 1993 to 2001. Siemens ICN, Inc. acquired Efficient Networks, Inc. in April 2001,
From 1991 to 1993, Mr. Floyd served as Chief Operating Officer and a Director of Networth, Inc., a provider of LAN |
products including Ethernet hubs, switches and network interface cards. Mr. Floyd previously was Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Director of Interphase Corporation, a provider of enterprise server connectivity solutions for
high-speed LAN, high capacity storage and remote access applications from 1984 to 1991. Mr. Floyd received his B.B.A. in
Finance from the University of Texas at Austin.

Mr. Lamming has served as our Director since April 2004. Mr. Lamming is currently active as a senior advisor to
universities, including the University of Colorado at Denver. Mr. Lamming worked at Accenture, a consulting firm, from
1978 to fall of 2003, concentrating the last 14 years in the communications industry. He was a partner from 1989 until his
departure in 2003. He specialized in working with Fortune 500 organizations in the planning, designing, and implementation
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of integrated business solutions, organization performance, and information technology. Mr. Lamming has held a variety of
senior leadership positions including Global Managing Partner (GMP) -- Communications Industry Practice and GMP --
Next Generation Networks Service Line. Mr. Lamming was also a member of Accenture's Global Leadership Council and a
representative to Accenture's World Economic Forum team. Mr. Lamming earned his B.S. and M.B.A. degrees at the
University of Missouri at Columbia.

There are no family relationships among the directors, except that Roger L. Koenig and Nancy Pierce are married to one
another.

The information required by this item concerning our executive officers is incorporated by reference to the information
set forth in the section entitled "Executive Officers of the Registrant” at the end of Part I of this Form 10-K/A.

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee, which was established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange
Act, currently consists of Mr. Floyd, Mr. Laube and Mr. Lamming, each of whom is "independent,” as that term is defined
for audit committee members by the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market. The Board has designated Mr. Laube
to be the "audit committee financial expert" as defined under the rules of the SEC.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy (the "Code of Ethics"), applicable to all employees,
executive officers and directors. The Code of Ethics can be found on the Investor Relations page of our website at
www.carrieraccess.com. We will also post on this section of our website any amendment to the Code of Ethics, as well as
any waivers that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the rules of the SEC or The NASDAQ Stock Market.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act ("Section 16(a)") requires our executive officers, directors and beneficial owners of
more than ten percent of any class of our equity securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act ("10%
Stockholders™) to file initial reports of ownership on Form 3 and changes in ownership on Form 4 or Form 5 with the SEC.
Such executive officers, directors and 10% Stockholders are also required by SEC rules to furnish the Company with copies
of all Section 16(a) forms that they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms received by us, we believe that, during fiscal year 2004, our
executive officers, directors and 10% Stockholders complied with all applicable Section 16(a) filing requirements, except
that Timothy R. Anderson filed one late Form 4 reporting two transactions, and the following persons each filed one late
Form 4 each reporting one transaction: John Barnett, Mark Floyd and David Laube.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The following table sets forth information concerning compensation received by the Chief Executive Officer and the

former Chief Financial Officers, who were most highly compensated executive officers during the last fiscal year (the
"Named Executive Officers"), for services rendered to us in all capacities for the three years ended December 31, 2004.

Annual Compensation

Number of Shares

Name and Principal Position Year  Salary($) Bonus(8) Underlying Options

RogerL. Koenig. ... ... .. i e 2004 277,885 140,623 —
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of 2003 170, 462 51, 658 —
Directors 2002 175,000 -— —
Nancy Pierce .. ... 2004 201,827 102,485 —
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Development Officer 2003 146, 599 47,817 —
Director, and Secretary (1) 2002 151, 560 — —
Timothy R. Anderson (2) ... i 2004 224,032 82,485 125,000
Former Chief Financial Officer 2003 170, 962 48,393 100,000
2002 158, 396 — 75,000

) Ms. Pierce served as Interim Chief Financial Officer from November 2004 to June 2005.
2) Mr. Anderson resigned as our Chief Financial Officer on November 18, 2004.
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

The following table sets forth, as to the Named Executive Officers, information concerning stock options granted during
the year ended December 31, 2004.

Individual Grants Potential Realizable Value at
Number of Assumed Annual Rates of
Securities Percent of Total Stock Price Appreciation for
Underlying Options Granted  Exercise Date of Option Term (4)
Options to Employeesin  Price Per Expiration
Name Granted (1) Fiscal Year (2) Share 3) 5% 10%
Roger L. Koenig............. — — — — 5 — 3 —
Nancy Pierce ............... — — — — § — 58 —
Timothy R. Anderson......... 125,000 (5) 10.0% $10.35 2/12/09 § — § —
€)) The options in this table are non-statutory stock options granted under the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan and have

exercise prices equal to the fair market value on the date of grant. These options have five-year terms and vest over

a period of 48 months at a rate of 25% on the first anniversary date from the date of grant and a rate of 6.25% per
quarter thereafter until fully vested.

2) We granted options to purchase 1,254,700 shares of Common Stock to employees in fiscal year 2004.

3 The options in this table may terminate before their expiration upon the termination of optionee's status as an
employee or consultant or upon the optionee's disability or death.

(4) Under rules promulgated by the SEC, the amounts in these two columns represent the hypothetical gain or "option

spread" that would exist for the options in this table based on assumed stock price appreciation from the date of
grant until the end of such options' five-year term at assumed annual rates of 5% and 10%. The 5% and 10%
assumed annual rates of  appreciation are specified in SEC rules and do not represent our estimate or projection of
future stock price growth. We do not necessarily agree that this method can properly determine the value of an
option.

(5) Mr. Anderson resigned as our Chief Financial Officer on November 18, 2004, and his unexercised stock options
were cancelled on December 8, 2004.

Option Exercises and Holdings

The following table sets forth, as to the Named Executive Officers, certain information concerning the number of shares
subject to both exercisable and unexercisable stock options as of December 31, 2004. Also reported are values for "in-the-
money" options that represent the positive spread between the respective exercise prices of outstanding stock options and the
fair market value of our Common Stock as of December 31, 2004.

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised in-the-
Underlying Unexercised Money Options at Fiscal Year
Options at Fiscal Year End End (1)
Shares
Acquired Value
Name on Exercise  Realized (8)(1)  Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Roger L. Koenig. ....... — — 8,000 — — —
Nancy Pierce .......... — — 8,000 — — —
Timothy R. Anderson (2) . — — — — — —
) Market value of underlying securities based on the closing price of our Common Stock on December 31, 2004 (the

last trading day of fiscal 2004) on the NASDAQ National Market of $10.68 per share minus the exercise price. Only
exercisable options are calculated in making the determination of the value realized.

2 Mr. Anderson resigned as our Chief Financial Officer on November 18, 2004, and his unexercised stock options
were cancelled December 8, 2004,

Director Compensation

We provide cash compensation to independent members of our Board. Members are paid $10,000 annually, $1,000 per
board meeting, and $500 per Audit Committee meeting for members of the Audit Committee.

Non-employee directors also each receive an automatic initial option grant under our 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the
"1998 Plan") to purchase 15,000 shares of Common Stock upon becoming a director (the "Initial Grant"). Each Initial Grant
is immediately exercisable but vests in four successive equal annual instaliments upon the individual's completion of each
year of service on the Board measured from the option grant date. In addition to the Initial Grant, each such director also
receives an option to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders, provided
such individual has served as a non-employee Board member for at least six months (the "Subsequent Grant"). Subsequent
Grants are immediately exercisable but vest upon the individual's completion of one year of Board service measured from the
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option grant date. Members of the Board are also eligible to receive discretionary option grants and stock issuances under the
1998 Plan. All such option grants are granted with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the
date of grant. The 1998 Plan also permits the plan administrator to activate a director fee option grant program.

In May 2004, Mr. Barnett, Mr. Floyd and Mr. Laube each received a Subsequent Grant at a strike price of $10.34 per
share. In April 2004, Mr. Lamming received an Initial Grant of 15,000 shares at a strike price of $12.39 per share. The Board
also unanimously approved an additional stock option grant of 35,000 shares for Mr. Lamming at a strike price of $12.39 per
share.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Our compensation committee is currently composed of Mr. Barnett, Mr. Floyd, Mr. Laube, and Mr. Lamming. No
interlocking relationship exists between any member of our compensation committee and any member of the compensation
committee of any other company, nor has any such interlocking relationship existed in the past. No member of the
compensation committee is or was formerly an officer or an employee of Carrier Access.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information concerning the beneficial ownership of our Common Stock as of March 14,
2005 for the following: (1) each person or entity who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the
outstanding shares of our voting securities; (2) each of the persons named in the Summary Compensation Table; (3) each of
our current directors; and (4) all directors and executive officers as a group.

Number of Shares

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Beneficially Owned (2) Percentage of Class
Roger L. KOenig (3) ..cvroecirccvvcniniecoiesiscassissssticassnsseisssiavssnnssnsnins 13,072,616 37.73%
NANCY PIEICE (3) uviiirieiiiiiceirrr et strreer et ee s e et b ot senaansnes 13,072,616 37.73%
KELD, LLC (4) coovvooroeeeeeeerereeee 9,704,500 28.01%
Timothy R. Anderson (5) - *
John W. Barnett, JE. (6) ..o ceseeie e sseae s et 86,750 *
David R. Laube (7).cieiiccniirn ittt ene 151,450 *
Mark A. Floyd (8) 99,262 *
Thomas C. Lamming (9)........cccuvreriernicrenriieesssssesessneenssesesasssesssessesesssssens 50,000 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (6 persons)(10) ..ccvoeceecreenne 13,460,078 38.85%

* Less than 1%

() The address of each person listed on the table is c/o Carrier Access Corporation, 5395 Pearl Parkway, Boulder,

Colorado 80301.
(2) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and

generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. Shares of common stock subject to options
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005 are deemed to be outstanding and to be
beneficially owned by the person holding such options for the purpose of computing the number of shares
beneficially owned and the percentage of such person or entity holding such securities but are not outstanding for
the purpose of computing the percentage of any other person or entity. Except as indicated by footnotes to the table,
and subject to the applicable community property laws, based on information provided by the persons shown in the
table, such persons have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of Common Stock shown as
beneficially owned by them. Percentage of shares beneficially owned is based on 35,648,427 shares outstanding as
of March 14, 2005.

(3) Represents 1,170,558 shares held by Mr. Koenig, 1,181,558 shares held by Ms. Pierce, 1,000,000 held jointly by
Mr. Koenig and Ms. Pierce, 9,704,500 shares held by KELD, LLC, 8,000 shares of common stock subject to options
exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005 owned by Mr. Koenig, and 8,000 shares of common stock subject to
options exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005 owned by Ms. Pierce. Mr. Koenig and Ms. Pierce are
managing members of KELD, LLC and have shared voting and investment power over the shares held by KELD,
LLC.

€y Mr. Koenig and Ms. Pierce are managing members of KELD, LLC and have shared voting and investment power
over the shares held by KELD, LLC.

) Mr. Anderson resigned as our Chief Financial Officer on November 18, 2004.

(6) Consists of 86,750 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005, 40,500
of which would be subject to our right of repurchase if exercised.

O] Consists of 101,450 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005,
30,000 of which would be subject to our right of repurchase if exercised.

® Consists of 99,262 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 20035, 35,200
of which would be subject to our right of repurchase if exercised.
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9) Consists of 50,000 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005, 50,000
all of which would be subject to our right of repurchase if exercised.

(109 Includes 353,462 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of March 14, 2005, 155,700
of which would be subject to our right of repurchase if exercised.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2004 with respect to the shares of our common stock that
may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans.

Number of securities
remaining available

Number of securities for future issuances
to be issued upen Weighted-average under equity
exercise of exercise price of compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding (excluding securities
warrants and rights options, warrants rveflected in column
Plan Category (a) and rights (b) (@) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders™ . ...........c......cc..... 2,781,159 $6.29 1,837,400
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders N/A N/A N/A
TOTAL ettt e ek 2,781,159 $6.29 1,837,400

1) The number of shares available under our 1998 Stock Incentive Plan automatically increases on the first trading day
of each calendar year by an amount equal to the lesser of 21/2% of the shares of outstanding common stock on the
last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar year or 562,500 shares. The numbers listed here are as of
January 1, 2005 and include the annual increase of 562,500 shares for 2605.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

There were no reportable relationships or transactions in fiscal 2004.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Accounting Fees

The following table shows the fees paid or accrued for the audit and other services provided by KPMG LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm, for each of the last two fiscal years.

Fiscal Year

2003 2004
Audit Fees (1) $ 186,000 $ 373,000
Audit-Related Fees (2) 13,500 90,000
Tax Fees (3) 92,360 138,142
All Other Fees - -
Total $ 291,860 $ 601,142

) Annual audit fees include fees for professional services rendered for the audit of our consolidated financial

statements, the internal controls review as required by Sarbanes Oxley Section 404, review of interim financial
statements, and other services that are normally provided by independent accountants in connection with statutory
and regulatory filings or engagements.

2 Audit-related fees include fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of
the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are not reported under "Audit Fees”. These fees for
2003 and 2004 include fees for the audits of our employee benefit plan as well as fees related to SEC registration
statements.

3) Tax fees include fees for tax preparation, compliance and related services in connection with our federal, state and
local filings each year, and related services reasonably related to such matters.

Pre-Approval of Fees by Audit Committee
The Audit Committee must approve all services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm prior to
the commencement of such services. The Audit Committee Chairperson, or when appropriate his/her designee on the Audit

Committee, may approve audit and permissible non-audit services up to $50,000, and the full Audit Committee must approve
all requests greater than $50,000.
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PART 1V

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, And FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report on Form 10-K/A:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements. The following consolidated financial statements of Carrier Access and the Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are filed as part of this Form 10-K/A:

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public ACCOUNTING FilThl ..ot s ecasesase st sestens s eresesessassesssnsessasscnsennas 37
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2003 @0d 2004 .......c...coomiiiniiiceii i stee et ss sttt et e ettt ata s e eassbaenssnettans 38
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 .......ccccomrvnvnvmnricerenceeccnmnnnens 39
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2002,

2003, A 2004 ..ottt e s e g RS8R RS A oSSRk R RSttt n Rt ket 40
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 41
Notes to Consolidated FINanCial STALEIMEIIIS .. c...ccorrrrireeiiieiecrrinre e sevreseres b abeasests e st sasesar st esasesabisasesasesanesssasesesessnsssaserssesssnsensnersns 42

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule. Schedules have been omitted as the required information is either not
required, not applicable, or otherwise included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto in Item 8 above.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the accompanying index to exhibits immediately following the signature page are filed as
part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Form 10-K/A.

(b) Exhibits. See Ttem 15(a)(3) above.

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Boulder,
State of Colorado, on this 2nd day of August 2005.

CARRIER ACCESS CORPORATION

By: /s/ GARY GATCHELL
Gary Gatchell
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the persons whose
signatures appear below, which persons have signed such Report on Form 10-K/A on this 2nd day of August 2005 in the
capacities indicated:

Signature Title
/s/ ROGER L. KOENIG President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
(Roger L. Koenig) Board of Directors (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ GARY GATCHELL Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
(Gary Gatchell) (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ NANCY PIERCE Corporate Development Officer, Director, Secretary
(Nancy Pierce)
/s/ _JOHN W. BARNETT, JR. Director

(John W. Barnett, Jr.)

/s/ DAVIDR. LAUBE Director
(David R. Laube)

/s/ MARK A. FLOYD Director
(Mark A, Floyd)

/s/ THOMAS C. LAMMING Director
{(Thomas C. Lamming)

By: /s/ NANCY PIERCE
(Nancy Pierce)
Attorney-in-Fact
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Exhibit
Number
2.1

3.1

3.2
4.1

10.1

102+

10.3%

10.4**
21.1%*
23.1%*
24.1**
31.1%

31.2%

32.1*

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Document
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 13, 2003 by and among Carrier Access Corporation a

Delaware Corporation, Ping Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware Corporation, Paragon Networks
International, Inc., a Delaware corporation and Granite Ventures L.L.C. as stockholder representative
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s 8-K filed December 5, 2003)

Registrant’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-53947 (“Registrant’s 1998 S-17)).

Registrant’s Bylaws (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s 1998 S-1).

Form of Registrant’s Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Registrant’s 1998 S-1)).

Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate (Commercial) between Registrant and Cottonwood Land and Farms Ltd.
Executed as of September 15, 2004 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
quarterly report on Form 8-K filed November 12, 2004).

Registrant’s 1995 Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s 1998
S-1).

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s
1998 S-1).

Form of Directors’ and Officers’ Indemnification Agreement.
Subsidiaries of Registrant

Consent of KPMG LLP, Indépendent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (Reference is made to the preceding Signature Page).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith.

** Previously filed.

T Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Carrier Access Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-71209, 333-44904, and 333-
65374) on Form S-8 of Carrier Access Corporation of our report dated March 21, 2005, except as to notes 3 and 12 which are
as of August 1, 2005, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Carrier Access Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive
income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004 and our report dated
August 1, 2005 with respect to management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, which reports
appear in the December 31, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K/A of Carrier Access Corporation.

Our report dated March 21, 2005, except as to notes 3 and 12 which are as of August 1, 2005, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of Carrier Access Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, refers to a restatement of the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the years ended December 2003 and 2004 to reflect adjustments related to revenue recognition and
inventory valuation allowances.

Our report dated August 1, 2005, on management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, expresses our opinion
that Carrier Access Corporation did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004
because of the effects of material weaknesses on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria and contains
explanatory paragraphs that state the following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management's
assessment:

*  Management did not comply with established Company policies and procedures requiring a review of the
Company's consolidated statement of cash flows. This failure to comply with established policies and procedures
resulted in material misstatements in the Company's December 31, 2004 consolidated statement of cash flows.
Specifically, there were material misstatements in cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from
investing activities.

* The Company did not have effective policies and procedures to evaluate customer arrangements for the appropriate
application of revenue recognition criteria as contemplated by generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.
This deficiency resulted in material misstatements to the Company's financial statements, specifically the
overstatement of revenue, costs of sales, and accounts receivable, and the understatement of inventory in the
Company's previously filed consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2004, and for the interim periods contained therein. Accordingly, the Company has restated such consolidated
financial statements to reflect the correction of these errors.

* The Company did not have effective policies and procedures over accounting for its inventory reserves to prevent
the write up of inventory once it had been written down in a previous fiscal accounting period. This deficiency
resulted in material misstatements of inventory and cost of sales in the Company's previously filed consolidated
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for the interim periods
contained therein. Accordingly, the Company has restated such consolidated financial statements to reflect the
correction of these errors,

*  The Company lacked the depth of personnel with sufficient technical accounting expertise to identify and account
for complex transactions in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. This deficiency
contributed to the aforementioned misstatements and resulted in there being more than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected.

KPMG LLP

Boulder, Colorado
August 1, 2005
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Roger L. Koenig, Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Carrier Access Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information inciluded in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

August 2, 2005

/s/ ROGER L. KOENIG
Chairman of the Board of Directors,
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gary Gatchell, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Carrier Access Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

August 2, 2005
/s/ GARY GATCHELL

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Roger L. Koenig, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Carrier Access Corporation on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K/A fairly presents in all material respects the financial
condition and results of operations of Carrier Access Corporation.

By: /s/ ROGER L. KOENIG
Name: Roger L. Koenig
Date: August 2, 2005 Title: Chief Executive Officer

I, Gary Gatchell, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Carrier Access Corporation on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that
information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K/A fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition
and results of operations of Carrier Access Corporation.

By: /s/ GARY GATCHELL
Name: Gary Gatchell
Date: August 2, 2005 Title: Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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